
UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

November 30, 2021

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported)

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 001-38312 77-0142404
 (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)  (Commission File Number) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

675 Creekside Way
Campbell, CA 95008

(Address of principal executive offices including zip code)

(408) 727-1885
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:

☐  Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

☐  Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

☐  Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

☐  Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(§240.12b-2 of this chapter).

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $.001 PER SHARE EGHT New York Stock Exchange

Emerging growth company      ☐     



If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant
to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.      ☐     

Item 1.01 - Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

On November 30, 2021, 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, Eagle Merger Sub, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and Fuze, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Fuze”), pursuant to which, subject to the terms and conditions set forth
therein, Merger Sub will merge with and into Fuze (the “Merger”), with Fuze surviving such Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Merger Consideration
Under the Merger Agreement, the Company will acquire 100% of the equity of Fuze on a cash-free, debt-free basis for approximately $250 million of aggregate consideration comprised of stock and cash, subject to
certain adjustments.
At the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Fuze (the “Fuze Common Stock”) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time (other than any cancelled shares and dissenting shares) will be converted into the right to receive, (i) in the case of an accredited holder, a number of shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of
the Company (the “Company Common Stock”), equal to the Common Stock Exchange Ratio (as defined therein) (rounded down to the nearest whole share of Company Common Stock), or (ii) in the case of a non-
accredited holder, an amount of cash equal to the Per Common Share Consideration (as defined therein) and, in each case, if applicable, cash in lieu of fractional shares, subject to any applicable withholding.
At the Effective Time, each share of Series A Prime Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Fuze (the “Fuze Preferred Stock”) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than
any cancelled shares and dissenting shares) will be converted into the right to receive a number of shares of Company Common Stock equal to the Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio (as defined in the
Merger Agreement) (rounded down to the nearest whole share of Company Common Stock), and, if applicable, cash in lieu of fractional shares, subject to any applicable withholding.
At the Effective Time, except as otherwise agreed to prior to the Effective Time by the Company and the applicable holder, (i) each Fuze option will be cancelled and extinguished without consideration, (ii) each
Fuze restricted stock unit (“Fuze RSU”) that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time will vest, if unvested, and be automatically converted into the right to receive, (a) for each share of Fuze Common
Stock subject to such Fuze RSU, (I) an amount of cash equal to the Per Common Share Consideration for RSU holders that are non-accredited holders and (II) shares of Company Common Stock equal to the
Common Stock Exchange Ratio (rounded down to the nearest whole share of Company Common Stock) for RSU holder that are accredited holders, or (b) for each share of Fuze Preferred Stock subject to such
Fuze RSU, a number of shares of Company Common Stock equal to the Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio, in each case for clauses (a) and (b), net of any withholding taxes, and (iii) (a) each Fuze
Common Warrant will be cancelled and extinguished without consideration, and (b) each Fuze Series A Prime Preferred Warrant will, upon delivery of certain executed documentation, be entitled to receive, (I) in
the case of an accredited holder, a number of shares of Company Common Stock as calculated in the Merger Agreement, or (II) in the case of a non-accredited holder, an amount of cash equal to the Per Series A
Prime Preferred Share Consideration (as defined in the Merger Agreement), net of the exercise price of such Fuze Series A Prime Preferred Warrant.
A portion of the aggregate merger consideration payable to certain Fuze holders will be held back for purposes of the post-closing purchase price adjustment, indemnification for general matters and for certain
special taxes and expenses of the Seller Agent.
Conditions to the Merger
The obligations of Fuze and the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of a number of customary conditions, including: (i) the
adoption and



approval of the Merger Agreement by Fuze’s stockholders; (ii) the absence of any law, order, legal or regulatory restraint or action by any governmental entity restricting the consummation of the Merger, (iii) receipt
of all approvals, waivers and consents (if any) necessary for the consummation of the Merger, (iv) the absence of any legal proceedings pending against any of the parties brought by a governmental entity in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, (v) the representations and warranties of Fuze and the Company being true and correct, subject to the materiality standards contained in
the Merger Agreement, and Fuze and the Company having complied in all material respects with their respective obligations under the Merger Agreement, (vi) the absence of any effects that have constituted or
resulted in a material adverse effect for Fuze that is continuing, and (vii) the receipt by Fuze and the Company of certain closing deliverables. Other closing conditions include: (i) certain key employees having
executed agreements with the Company (which will continue to be in full force and effect) and who will remain employed by Fuze as of the closing date, (ii) stockholders representing no more than 5% of
outstanding capital stock of Fuze will have exercised appraisal rights, and (iii) the sum of consideration paid to non-accredited holders of Fuze and the closing indebtedness will not exceed $128 million.
Representations and Warranties; Covenants
The Merger Agreement contains customary representations and warranties given by Fuze, the Company and Merger Sub. Fuze has also made customary covenants in the Merger Agreement, including covenants
relating to conduct of Fuze’s business prior to the closing of the Merger. The parties have generally agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Merger, including to obtain the required regulatory
approvals for the transactions. Additionally, during the period between signing and closing, the Company may, at its sole option, consummate and obtain financing, which shall not be a closing condition to the
transactions.
Termination
The Merger Agreement contains customary mutual termination rights for Fuze and the Company, including if the Merger is not completed by February 8, 2022 or such other date that the Company, Merger Sub and
Fuze may agree upon in writing, and if any order from a governmental entity preventing the consummation of the merger has become final and non-appealable. The Merger Agreement also contains customary
termination rights for the benefit of the Company, if the required stockholder approval for Fuze is not obtained, and for the benefit of each party, including if the other party breaches its representations, warranties or
covenants under the Merger Agreement in a way that would result in a failure of its condition to closing being satisfied (subject to certain procedures and cure periods).

Resale Registration

The Company expects to file a resale registration statement for shares of Company Common Stock after the Closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
Additional Information
The foregoing description of the Merger and the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to
this report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference. A copy of the Merger Agreement has been included to provide investors with information regarding its terms and is not intended to provide any
factual information about Fuze or the Company.
The Merger Agreement contains representations, warranties, covenants and agreements, which were made only for purposes of such agreement and as of specified dates. The representations and warranties in
the Merger Agreement reflect negotiations between the parties to the Merger Agreement and are not intended as statements of fact to be relied upon by stockholders, or any individual or other entity other than the
parties. In particular, the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in the Merger Agreement may be subject to limitations agreed by the parties, including having been modified or qualified by certain
confidential disclosures that were made between the parties in connection with the negotiation of the Merger Agreement, and having been made for purposes of allocating risk among the parties rather than
establishing matters of fact.
In addition, the parties may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material by investors. As such, the representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement may not
describe the



actual state of affairs at the date they were made or at any other time and you should not rely on them as statements of fact. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and
warranties may change after the date of the Merger Agreement, and unless required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update such information.
Press Release
On December 1, 2021, the Company issued a press release announcing the Merger Agreement and transactions.
A copy of the press release is filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
The press release is furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that
Section or Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The press release should be read in conjunction with the statements regarding forward-looking statements,
which are included in the text of the release.

Item 7.01 - Regulation FD Disclosure

Investor Presentation

On December 1, 2021, representatives of the Company began making presentations to investors using slides containing the information attached to this report on Form 8-K as Exhibit 99.2 (the “Investor
Presentation”) and incorporated herein by reference.
By filing this report on Form 8-K and furnishing the information contained herein, the Company makes no admission as to the materiality of any information in this report that is required to be disclosed solely by
reason of Regulation FD.
The information contained in the Investor Presentation is summary information that is intended to be considered in the context of the Company's Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings and other
public announcements that the Company may make, by press release or otherwise, from time to time. The Company undertakes no duty or obligation to publicly update or revise the information contained in this
report, although it may do so from time to time as its management believes is warranted. Any such updating may be made through the filing of other reports or documents with the SEC, through press releases or
through other public disclosure.
The Investor Presentation is furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section or Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the
Securities Act. The Investor Presentation should be read in conjunction with the statements regarding forward-looking statements, which are included in the text of the Investor Presentation.
Financial Statements of Fuze
A copy of the audited financial statements of Fuze as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 is attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
The financial statements of Fuze furnished with this report on Form 8-K have not been prepared on the same basis as the Company’s financial statements. Following closing of the planned Merger, the Company
intends to file pro forma financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 and applicable interim period to give effect to the Merger. The pro forma adjustments are likely to impact the historical financial
statements of Fuze and accordingly, such financial statements should not be viewed as a proxy for how the results of operations of Fuze would have looked as if Fuze had been combined with the Company at the
beginning of the periods presented.
As of the date of this report, the financial statements of Fuze as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 have not been finalized, but are expected to be included in a Form 8-K following closing of the
planned Merger. The basis of preparation for the interim financial statements is expected to be consistent with the audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. Total GAAP
revenue, GAAP Gross Profit,



and GAAP Operating Loss of Fuze for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 are expected to be $94 million - $95 million, $53.5 million - $54.5 million, and $17 million - $18.5 million, respectively.

The preliminary financial data included in this report has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of, Fuze's management. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has not audited, reviewed, compiled, or applied agreed-
upon procedures with respect to the preliminary financial data. Accordingly, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto.

The audited financial statements of Fuze as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this report and the preliminary financial data included in this Item 7.01 are being furnished and
shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section or Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

Item 9.01 - Financial Statements and Exhibits

(d) Exhibits.

Exhibit Description
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 30, 2021, by and among 8x8, Inc.,

Eagle Merger Sub, LLC, Fuze, Inc. and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as the
Seller Agent.

99.1 Press Release, dated December 1, 2021.

99.2 Investor Presentation, dated December 1, 2021.

99.3
Audited Financial Statements of Fuze, Inc., as of and for the year ended December 31,
2020.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File, formatted in Inline XBRL.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 1, 2021

8x8, Inc.

 By: /s/ SAMUEL WILSON
 Samuel Wilson
 Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial, Accounting and Duly Authorized Officer)
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of November 30, 2021 (the “Agreement Date”), by and among 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Parent”), Eagle Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a direct wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), Fuze, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company solely in its capacity, as the representative, agent and attorney-in-fact of the Indemnifying Parties (the “Seller
Agent”). Certain other capitalized terms used herein are defined in Exhibit A.

RECITALS

A. Parent desires to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of Capital Stock pursuant to the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company, with the Company as the
surviving corporation (the “Merger”), in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended (the “DGCL”) and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement.

B. The board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) has carefully considered the terms of this Agreement and has unanimously (1) determined that the terms and
conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which the Company is (or will be) a party, including the Merger (collectively, the “Transactions”),
are advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of the Company and the Stockholders, (2) approved this Agreement, such Transaction Documents and the Transactions, including the Merger, and (3)
recommended the adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger by the Stockholders, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Board Resolutions”).

C. The holders of Preferred Stock have delivered to the Company duly executed written consents to waive, among other things, the conditions in Section 4.3.4 of the Certificate of
Incorporation (collectively, the “Preferred Waiver Written Consent”).

D. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, and as a condition and inducement to Parent’s and Merger Sub’s willingness to enter into this Agreement, each Key Employee
has executed (1) Parent’s customary form of employment offer letter, together with a confidential information and assignment agreement (together, an “Offer Letter”), (2) a non-competition and
non-solicitation agreement (a “Non-Competition Agreement” and together with an Offer Letter, the “Key Employee Agreements”)” and (3) if applicable, a Waiver (as defined herein), in each case,
to become effective upon the Closing.

E. At the Closing, Parent and each Accredited Holder who desires to become a party thereto shall enter into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”)
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D, which shall become effective upon the Closing.

F. The parties intend that the Merger will constitute a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

G. The Company, Parent and Merger Sub desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements in connection with the Merger as set forth herein.



Now, Therefore, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and obligations contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Article 1
THE MERGER

1.1 The Merger.  Upon the terms of and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall be merged with
and into the Company, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation of the Merger (the “Surviving Corporation”) and a
wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent.

1.2 The Closing; Effective Time.

(a) Closing. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the closing of the Transactions, including the consummation of the Merger (the “Closing”), shall take
place at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher and Flom, LLP, 525 University Avenue, Palo Alto, California 94301-1908, or at such other location as Parent and the Company agree, at
(i) 10:00 a.m. local time on a date to be agreed by Parent and the Company, which date shall be no later than the fifth (5 ) Business Day after all of the conditions set forth in Article 6 have been
satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that, by their terms, are intended to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions); provided, that if such
Business Day would otherwise occur anytime during the final fifteen (15) days of the end of a fiscal quarter of Parent, then Parent may, in its discretion, delay the Closing until the first (1 )
Business Day of the next succeeding fiscal quarter of Parent, in which case the Closing shall be held on such first (1 ) Business Day (so long as all of the conditions set forth in Article 6 (other
than those conditions that, by their terms, are intended to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions) shall continue to be satisfied or waived in
accordance with this Agreement on such first (1 ) Business Day), or (ii) such other time as Parent, Merger Sub and the Company agree. The date on which the Closing occurs is sometimes
referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

(b) Effective Time. On the Closing Date, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall cause the Merger to be consummated by (i) filing a certificate of merger in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit E (the “Certificate of Merger”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL, and (ii) making all other
filings and recordings required under the DGCL. The term “Effective Time” shall mean the date and time of the filing of the Certificate of Merger, or, if different, the date and time of
effectiveness thereof that is specified therein.

1.3 Closing Deliveries.

(a) Parent Deliveries. Parent shall deliver to the Company (or such other Person as specified below), at or prior to the Closing, each of the following:

(i) a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed on behalf of Parent by a duly authorized officer of Parent to the effect that each of the conditions set forth in
Section 6.2(a) has been satisfied;

(ii) a duly executed certification that complies with the requirements of Section 1445(b)(3) of the Code and Treasury Regulations thereunder which states that Parent is
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not, and has not been at any time during the five (5)-year period ending on the Closing Date, a “United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the
Code;

(iii)the Registration Rights Agreement, duly executed by Parent; and

(iv)an Exchange Agent Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by Parent and the Exchange Agent.

(b) Company Deliveries. The Company shall deliver to Parent, at or prior to the Closing:

(i) a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and executed on behalf of the Company by its Chief Executive Officer, to the effect that each of the conditions set forth in
clauses (a), (c) and (d) of Section 6.3 has been satisfied;

(ii) the Closing Financial Certificate, which certificate shall be accompanied by such supporting documentation, information and calculations as are necessary and
reasonably requested by Parent to verify and determine the amounts set forth therein;

(iii)the Spreadsheet, together with a certificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying on behalf of the
Company that the Spreadsheet, including each component of the Aggregate Consideration, is true, correct and complete (the “Spreadsheet Certificate”);

(iv)the Exchange Agent Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by the Seller Agent;

(v) the Key Employee Agreements and Waivers (if applicable), each effective as of the Closing, executed by at least three of the four Key Employees;

(vi)evidence of the resignation of each of the directors and each of the officers of the Company in office immediately prior to the Effective Time as directors and/or
officers (in their capacity as such and not as employees) of the Company effective as of the Closing in accordance with a director and officer resignation letter in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit G;

(vii) a parachute payment waiver, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (the “Parachute Payment Waiver”), executed by each Person required to
execute such a waiver pursuant to Section 5.18;

(viii) evidence reasonably satisfactory to Parent of the consents, waivers, approvals, notices, terminations, modifications or amendments, as applicable, with respect
to each of the Contracts listed on Schedule 1.3(b)(viii);

(ix)Payoff Letters, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by each holder of Closing Indebtedness (or an agent or trustee on behalf of such holders) pursuant to
Section 5.15;

(x) UCC-3 termination statements (and any other applicable termination statement or release) executed (if applicable) by each Person holding a security interest in any
assets of the Company as of the Closing Date (other than Permitted
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Encumbrances) terminating or evidencing the termination of any and all such security interests and evidence reasonably satisfactory to Parent that all Encumbrances on assets of the Company
(other than Permitted Encumbrances) shall have been released prior to, or shall be released simultaneously with, the Closing;

(xi)an officer’s certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company, certifying the Company’s (A) Organizational
Documents, (B) the Stockholder Written Consent and (C) the Board Resolutions;

(xii) certificates from the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and each other State or other jurisdiction in which the Company is qualified to do business as
a foreign corporation dated within five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date certifying that the Company is in good standing and that all applicable franchise Taxes and fees of the Company
through and including the date of such certificate have been paid;

(xiii) unless otherwise requested by Parent in writing no less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, a true, correct and complete copy of resolutions
adopted by the Board of Directors, certified by the Secretary of the Company, authorizing the termination, or, if requested by Parent in writing no less than three (3) Business Days prior to the
Closing Date, the partial termination, of each or all of the Designated Employee Plans, with such termination to be effective as of the date immediately preceding the Closing Date and contingent
upon the Closing;

(xiv) a duly executed certification in the form provided for in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.1445-2(c)(3) and 1.897-2(h), certifying that the Capital Stock does
not constitute a “United States real property interest” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(1) of the Code and the regulations thereunder, together with an accompanying notice to the Internal
Revenue Service; and

(xv) executed confirmatory assignments of Intellectual Property from any current Employees or Contractors set forth on Schedule 1.3(b)(xv), in each case in a
form that is reasonably acceptable to Parent.

(c) Receipt by Parent of any of the agreements, instruments, certificates or documents delivered pursuant to this Section 1.3 shall not be deemed to be an agreement by Parent
that the information or statements contained therein are true, correct or complete, and shall not diminish Parent’s remedies hereunder if any of the foregoing agreements, instruments, certificates
or documents are not true, correct or complete.

1.4 Effect of the Merger.  At and after the Effective Time, the Merger shall have the effects as set forth in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, except as otherwise agreed to pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of each of
the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions, disabilities and duties of each of the Company and Merger Sub shall
become the debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions, disabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

1.5 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.

(a) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, as of the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be
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amended and restated to read the same as the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time until thereafter further amended in accordance with
the DGCL and as provided in such amended and restated certificate of incorporation, except that Article I of the restated certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows: “The name of this corporation is Fuze, Inc.”

(b) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, as of the Effective Time, the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated to read
the same as the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time until thereafter amended in accordance with the DGCL and as provided in the restated certificate of
incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and such bylaws, except that all references to Merger Sub in the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be deemed to be changed to references to
“Fuze, Inc.”

1.6 Directors and Officers.

(a) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the
Surviving Corporation immediately after the Effective Time, each to hold office in accordance with the provisions of the DGCL and the amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until their successors are duly elected and qualified.

(b) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the
Surviving Corporation immediately after the Effective Time, each to hold office in accordance with the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until their successors are duly appointed and
qualified.

1.7 Effect of Merger on the Capital Stock of the Company and Merger Sub.

(a) Effect on Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company:

(i) each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (excluding any Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall be
cancelled and extinguished and shall be converted into the right to receive (without interest and subject to Sections 1.10, 1.14, 1.15 and 1.16), (a) in the case of an Accredited Holder, a number of
shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the Common Stock Exchange Ratio (such product rounded down for each applicable holder to the nearest whole share of Parent Common Stock), or (b) in
the case of a Non-Accredited Holder, an amount of cash equal to the Per Common Share Consideration;

(ii) each share of Series A Prime Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (excluding any Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares)
shall be cancelled and extinguished and shall be converted into the right to receive (without interest and subject to Sections 1.10, 1.14, 1.15 and 1.16) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock
equal to the Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio (such product rounded down for each applicable holder to the nearest whole share of Parent Common Stock); and
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(iii)each share of Capital Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (“Cancelled Shares”)
shall be cancelled and extinguished without any consideration paid therefor.

(b) Effect on Capital Stock of Merger Sub. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, each share
of common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and exchanged for one (1) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable
share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation. Each stock certificate of Merger Sub evidencing ownership of any shares of common stock shall continue to evidence ownership of such
share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation.

1.8 Effect of Merger on Other Securities of Company.

(a) Treatment of Company Equity Awards.

(i)    Options. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, each Option shall be
automatically cancelled and extinguished without consideration therefor and the holder thereof shall have no further rights with respect thereto.

(ii)    Company RSUs. Except as otherwise agreed to in writing prior to the Effective Time by Parent and the applicable holder of Company RSUs, with respect to each
Company RSU award that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time, each such Company RSU shall vest, if unvested, and be converted into the right to receive
(without interest and subject to Sections 1.14, 1.15 and 1.16) in sole consideration of such cancellation, (a) for each share of Common Stock subject to such Company RSU, (I) an amount of cash
for RSU Holders that are Non-Accredited Holders or (II) Parent Common Stock equal to the Common Stock Exchange Ratio (such product rounded down for each applicable holder to the nearest
whole share of Parent Common Stock) for RSU Holders that are Accredited Holders equal to the Per Common Share Consideration, or (b) for each share of Preferred Stock subject to such
Company RSU, a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio (such product rounded down for each applicable holder to the nearest whole
share of Parent Common Stock), in each case of (a) or (b), which consideration shall be paid or issued to the holders of Company RSUs as promptly as practicable following the Effective Time
and, in any event, no later than fifteen (15) Business Days following the Effective Time; provided, that to the extent payment of consideration hereunder would trigger a Tax or penalty under
Section 409A of the Code, such payments shall be made on the earliest date that payment would not trigger such Tax or penalty; provided, further, that any such withholding Taxes required to be
paid by or collected on behalf of such RSU Holders that are Accredited Holders shall be satisfied by retaining a number of shares of Parent Common Stock having a fair market value (determined
by reference to the closing price of a share of Parent Common Stock on the date such withholding Taxes are required to be withheld) equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be
withheld.

(b) Warrants. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, (I) each Common Warrant shall be
cancelled and extinguished without any present or future right to receive any consideration therefor, and (II) each Series A Prime Preferred Warrant shall be cancelled and extinguished, and the
holder thereof shall be entitled to receive (without interest and subject to Sections 1.10, 1.14, 1.15 and 1.16) in consideration of such cancellation and upon delivery of a Warrantholder Letter of
Transmittal (as defined below) and a duly executed and completed waiver by each
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holder of Series A Prime Preferred Warrants, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F (the “Warrant Waiver”), (a) in the case of an Accredited Holder, a number of shares of Parent Common
Stock equal to the quotient of (i) the Per Series A Prime Preferred Share Consideration, net of the exercise price per share of such Series A Prime Preferred Warrant, divided by (ii) the Parent
Stock Price; provided, however, that if the number of shares of Parent Common Stock is less than one hundred (100), an amount of cash equal to the Per Series A Prime Preferred Share
Consideration, net of the exercise price per share of such Series A Prime Preferred Warrant; or (b) in the case of a Non-Accredited Holder, an amount of cash equal to the Per Series A Prime
Preferred Share Consideration, net of the exercise price per share of such Series A Prime Preferred Warrant.

1.9 Necessary Actions. Prior to the Effective Time, and subject to the review and approval of Parent, the Company shall take all actions reasonably necessary to effect the transactions
contemplated by Section 1.8 under the Company Equity Plans, all Contracts relating to shares of Capital Stock, Company Equity Awards, Warrants and any other plan or arrangement of the
Company (whether written or oral, formal or informal), including delivering all required notices and obtaining any required consents from holders of Capital Stock, Options, Company RSUs and
Warrants, such that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, (i) the Company shall not have any outstanding Equity Interests or equity-related interests other than shares of Capital Stock, Options,
Company RSUs and Warrants, (ii) holders of shares of Capital Stock (excluding Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall be entitled in respect of such Capital Stock only to the rights set
forth in Section 1.7(a), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (iii) holders of Company Equity Awards shall be entitled in respect of such Company Equity Awards only to the
rights set forth in Section 1.8(a), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and (iv) holders of Warrants shall be entitled in respect of such Warrants only to the rights set forth in
Section 1.8(b), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

1.10 Indemnity Holdback and Contribution to the Adjustment Holdback Fund and the Seller Agent Expense Fund. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action
on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, (i) each Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Indemnity Holdback shall be withheld from the consideration otherwise payable to such
Indemnifying Party pursuant to Section 1.7 or Section 1.8, and Parent shall be deemed to have contributed such consideration to the Indemnity Holdback, on behalf of each Indemnifying Party, (ii)
an amount equal to each Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Adjustment Holdback Amount shall be withheld from the consideration otherwise payable to such Indemnifying Party
pursuant to Section 1.7 or Section 1.8, and Parent shall be deemed to have contributed such consideration to the Adjustment Holdback Fund, on behalf of each Indemnifying Party, and (iii) an
amount equal to each Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Seller Agent Expense Amount shall be withheld from the consideration otherwise payable to such Indemnifying Party pursuant to
Section 1.7 or Section 1.8, and Parent shall be deemed to have contributed such consideration to the Seller Agent Expense Fund, on behalf of each Indemnifying Party. Each Indemnifying Party
shall have the right to receive his, her or its Pro Rata Share of any disbursements required to be made from (a) the Indemnity Holdback, at the time and in accordance with the terms of Article 8,
(b) the Adjustment Holdback Fund, at the time and in accordance with the terms of Article 8 and (c) the Seller Agent Expense Fund, at the time and in accordance with the terms of Article 8.

1.11 Dissenting Shares.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all shares of Capital Stock that are outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that
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are held by a Stockholder who has validly exercised and perfected appraisal rights for such shares in accordance with the DGCL (collectively, the “Dissenting Shares”) shall not be converted
into or represent a right to receive the applicable consideration for Capital Stock set forth in Section 1.7(a), but such Stockholder shall only be entitled to such rights as are provided by the
DGCL.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1.11(a), all Dissenting Shares held by Stockholders who have effectively withdrawn or lost (through failure to perfect or
otherwise) such Stockholder’s appraisal rights pursuant to the DGCL shall, as of the later of the Effective Time and the occurrence of such event, be deemed to have been converted into and
represent only the right to receive the applicable consideration for Capital Stock set forth in Section 1.7(a) (and subject to any deduction, withholding or indemnification contemplated by this
Agreement) without interest thereon, upon surrender of the certificate representing such shares.

(c) The Company shall give Parent  prompt notice (within one (1) calendar day of receipt) of any demands for appraisal and, if applicable, dissenters’ rights received by the
Company, withdrawals of such demands, and any other related notices or instruments served pursuant to the DGCL or otherwise received by the Company with respect to appraisal and, if
applicable, dissenters’ rights. The Company shall not, except with the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld conditioned or delayed), make any payment
with respect to any demands for appraisal and, if applicable, dissenters’ rights or offer to settle or settle any such demands. Any communication to be made by the Company to any Stockholder
with respect to such demands shall be submitted to Parent in advance and shall not be presented to any Stockholder prior to the Company receiving Parent’s written consent (such consent not to
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

1.12 Surrender of Certificates; Payments.

(a) Parent, or any financial institution(s) selected by Parent in its sole discretion, may serve as (i) the exchange agent (the “Exchange Agent”) and (ii) the paying agent (the
“Paying Agent”), each in connection with the Transactions. On or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit with the Exchange Agent and the Paying Agent, respectively and in the
aggregate, an amount in Parent Common Stock and cash sufficient to pay the consideration payable pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8 (excluding the Adjustment Holdback Amount and the
Indemnity Holdback, which shall be held back by Parent pending issuance, as applicable, in accordance with Section 8.1). The aggregate amount so deposited with the Exchange Agent and the
Paying Agent is referred to as the “Payment Fund”.

(b) Promptly following the Effective Time, Parent shall:

(i) on behalf of the Company or its applicable Subsidiary, pay, or cause to be paid, the Closing Indebtedness pursuant to Section 1.3(b)(xi) to the accounts of the
applicable lenders or other parties as set forth in the Payoff Letters;

(ii) with respect to each Stockholder that is an Accredited Holder, (A) allot to such Stockholder the applicable whole number of shares of Parent Common Stock
determined in accordance with this Article 1 and set forth in the Spreadsheet, (B) update Parent’s stock register to record that allotment and (C) issue a holding statement to each such Stockholder
in respect of each such Stockholder’s applicable proportion of the shares of Parent Common
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Stock; provided, that in no event shall Parent or any of its Affiliates have any liability for any errors set forth in the Spreadsheet;

(iii)with respect to each Stockholder that is a Non-Accredited Holder, make, or cause to be made by the Paying Agent or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, to
such Stockholder an amount of cash equal to the applicable proportion of the Aggregate Non-Accredited Holder Consideration determined in accordance with this Article 1 and set forth in the
Spreadsheet plus the employer portion of any Taxes applicable thereto; provided, that in no event shall Parent or any of its Affiliates have any liability for any errors set forth in the Spreadsheet;

(iv)pay or cause to be paid to the account of each Person to whom any Transaction Expenses are owed, an amount of cash equal to the unpaid Transaction Expenses as
set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate; and

(v) pay to the Seller Agent an amount of cash equal to the Seller Agent Expense Amount.

(c) Exchange Procedures. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, as soon as commercially practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall
cause the Exchange Agent to mail or otherwise deliver (A) to each Stockholder that is an Accredited Holder, to the address set forth opposite such Stockholder’s name on the Spreadsheet, a
stockholder letter of transmittal in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit I (the “Stockholder Letter of Transmittal”), and (B) to each holder of Series A Prime Preferred Warrants, to
the address set forth opposite such holder’s name on the Spreadsheet, a letter of transmittal in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit J (the “Warrantholder Letter of Transmittal” and
together with the Stockholder Letter of Transmittal, the “Letter of Transmittal”). Upon receipt by the Exchange Agent of the certificates (if any) representing his, her or its shares of Capital
Stock (the “Stock Certificates”), together with a duly completed Letter of Transmittal, such holder of shares of Capital Stock shall be entitled to receive from the Exchange Agent the portion of
the Closing Stock Consideration to which such Stockholder is entitled pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8. If applicable, the Stock Certificates so surrendered shall be cancelled. Until so
surrendered, after the Effective Time, subject to appraisal rights under the DGCL, each Stock Certificate will be deemed, for all corporate purposes thereafter, to evidence only the right to
receive the consideration provided for in Section 1.7(a). No portion of the Closing Stock Consideration shall be paid to any Stockholder unless and until the holder of record of such Stock
Certificate shall have surrendered such Stock Certificate (if any) (or deliver an affidavit of loss in respect of such certificate in accordance with Section 1.12(h)) and delivered to the Exchange
Agent a duly completed Letter of Transmittal.

(d) Any certificates or book-entry notations evidencing shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Article 1 shall include the following legends to the extent
applicable (along with any other legends that may be required under United States federal and state securities laws or any other applicable Law):

“THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
LAWS AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN EXEMPTION THEREFROM UNDER THE ACT AND THE
RULES AND
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REGULATIONS THEREUNDER AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.”

(e) Transfer of Ownership. If any shares of Parent Common Stock or any cash amount payable pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8 are to be issued or paid, as applicable, to
a Person other than the Person to which the Stock Certificate surrendered in exchange therefor is registered, it shall be a condition of the payment thereof that such Stock Certificate and, if
applicable, the Letter of Transmittal shall be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the Person requesting such exchange shall have paid to Parent, the Paying
Agent, the Exchange Agent or any agent designated by any of them any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock or the payment of cash in
any name other than that of the registered holder of such Stock Certificate, or established to the satisfaction of Parent, the Paying Agent, the Exchange Agent or any agent designated by Parent,
the Paying Agent or the Exchange Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not payable.

(f) Return of Unclaimed Consideration. Any portion of the Payment Fund that remains unclaimed by Stockholders for twelve (12) months after the Effective Time, and the
applicable portion of any such unclaimed amounts in the Indemnity Holdback, the Adjustment Holdback Fund and the Seller Agent Expense Fund to which such Stockholder is entitled that
remains unclaimed by Stockholder for two (2) years after the Transaction Indemnity Holdback Release Date (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback Release Date, as applicable), shall be delivered to
Parent. Any such Stockholder that has not complied with Section 1.12(c) prior to the end of such twelve (12)-month period (or applicable period) shall thereafter look only to Parent (subject to
abandoned property, escheat or other similar Applicable Laws) but only as a general creditor thereof for payment of its claim for its portion of the Payment Fund. Any portion of the Payment
Fund that remains unclaimed immediately prior to the date on which it would otherwise become subject to any abandoned property, escheat or similar Applicable Law shall, to the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, become the property of Parent, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto. No interest shall be payable for the shares of Parent
Common Stock or the cash amounts delivered to Parent pursuant to this Section 1.12(f) that are subsequently delivered to Stockholders.

(g) No Further Rights. The applicable portion of the Aggregate Consideration paid or payable in respect of the surrender for exchange of shares of Capital Stock, Company
RSUs or Warrants in accordance with the terms hereof shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such shares of Capital Stock, Company RSUs or Warrants,
and there shall be no further registration of transfer on the records of the Surviving Corporation of shares of Capital Stock, Company RSUs or Warrants that were outstanding immediately prior
to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Stock Certificates or documents evidencing Company RSUs or Warrants are presented to Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange
Agent for any reason, they shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Article 1 (subject, in the case of Stock Certificates, to the exercise of appraisal rights under the DGCL).

(h) Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. If any Stock Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming
such Stock Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Exchange Agent, the posting by such Person of a bond, in such reasonable amount as the Exchange Agent may direct,
as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Stock Certificate, the Exchange Agent or Parent, as applicable, shall issue in exchange for such
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lost, stolen or destroyed Stock Certificate the applicable consideration to which such Person is entitled pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8.

(i) No Liability. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.12, none of Parent, the Paying Agent, the Exchange Agent, the Surviving Corporation or any other
party hereto shall be liable to any Securityholder for any amount properly paid to a public official pursuant to any abandoned property, escheat or similar Applicable Law.

(j) Rights Not Transferable. The rights of the Securityholders under this Agreement as of immediately prior to the Effective Time are personal to each such Securityholder and
shall not be transferable for any reason other than by operation of law, will or the laws of descent and distribution. Any attempted transfer of such right by any holder thereof (other than as
permitted by the immediately preceding sentence) shall be null and void.

1.13 Adjustments.  In the event of any share split, reverse share split, share dividend (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into capital shares), reorganization,
reclassification, combination, recapitalization or other like change with respect to the shares of Capital Stock occurring after execution of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, all references in
this Agreement to specified numbers of shares of any class or series affected thereby, and all calculations provided for that are based upon numbers of shares of any class or series (or trading prices
therefor) affected thereby, shall be equitably adjusted to the extent necessary to provide the parties the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such share split, reverse
share split, share dividend, reorganization, reclassification, combination, recapitalization or other like change.

1.14 Withholding.  Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Paying Agent, the Exchange Agent, the Company and the Surviving Corporation (each, a “Payor”) shall be entitled to deduct and
withhold from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement such amounts of Tax as Payor reasonably determines may be required to be
deducted or withheld therefrom or in connection therewith under Applicable Law. Amounts so deducted or withheld shall be (a) treated for all purposes under this Agreement as having been paid
to the Person to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid and (b) timely remitted by the applicable Payor to the applicable Tax Authority.

1.15 Fractional Shares.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in the Merger (including as part of the
Indemnity Holdback or any payments under Section 1.18 or Section 8.1). Any fractional share of Parent Common Stock resulting from the exchange in Section 1.7 and Section 1.8, the Indemnity
Holdback or any payments under Section 1.18 or Section 8.1 shall solely represent the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the product of (a) such fraction multiplied by (b) the Parent Stock
Price.

1.16 Loan Repayment Amounts.  In the event that any Securityholder as a borrower has outstanding loans from the Company as of the Effective Time, any consideration payable to such
Securityholder pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8 shall be reduced by an amount equal to the outstanding principal plus accrued interest, if any, of such Securityholder’s loans as of the
Effective Time, plus any other amounts owed by such Securityholder to the Company (collectively, such Securityholder’s “Loan Repayment Amount”). Such loans shall be satisfied as to the
amount by which the consideration is reduced pursuant to this Section 1.16. To the extent the consideration payable to such Securityholder is so reduced, such amount shall be treated for all
purposes under this Agreement as having been paid to such Securityholder.
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1.17 Taking of Necessary Action; Further Action.  Prior to Closing, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company, as applicable, shall sign and deliver any documents and instruments and take
any further action that is reasonably necessary to effect the Closing and to carry out the purposes of this Agreement. If, at any time after the Closing, any further action is necessary or desirable to
carry out the purposes of this Agreement and to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, title and interest in, to and under, and/or possession of, all assets, property, rights, privileges, powers
and franchises of the Company, then the officers and directors of Parent and the Surviving Corporation are fully authorized, in the name and on behalf of the Company or otherwise, to take all
lawful action necessary or desirable to accomplish such purpose or acts, so long as such action is not inconsistent with this Agreement.

1.18 Consideration Adjustment. 

(a) Within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Parent shall prepare and deliver to the Seller Agent a statement setting forth in reasonable detail Parent’s good faith
calculation of the Working Capital Adjustment and the amount, if any, by which the long-term deferred revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue, including in support
of the calculation of the Working Capital Adjustment and the long-term deferred revenue amount, the balance sheet of the Company as of immediately prior to the Closing prepared in
accordance with GAAP in accordance with the Company’s historical practices and methodologies, and for the Working Capital Adjustment in a manner consistent with the Working Capital
Adjustment Illustration (the “Final Working Capital Adjustment”), the aggregate amount of Closing Cash (the “Final Closing Cash”), the amount of Closing Indebtedness (if any) (the “Final
Closing Indebtedness”) and the amount of unpaid Transaction Expenses (the “Final Unpaid Transaction Expenses”), in each case as of the Closing (the “Adjustment Statement”). If Parent fails
to deliver the Adjustment Statement to the Seller Agent within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, the Closing Financial Certificate shall be deemed to be the Adjustment Statement (without
modification) and the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment, the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Long-Term Deferred Revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred
Revenue, Estimated Closing Cash, Estimated Closing Indebtedness and Estimated Unpaid Transaction Expenses shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes hereunder.

(b) During the thirty (30)-day period following the Seller Agent’s receipt of the Adjustment Statement, upon reasonable notice to Parent, Parent shall permit the Seller Agent
and its Representatives to have reasonable access to the books, records and other documents of the Company used to prepare the Adjustment Statement and shall provide the Seller Agent with
copies thereof (subject to compliance with the accountants’ customary procedures for release of work papers and subject to any limitations that are required to preserve any applicable attorney-
client privilege). The Adjustment Statement shall become final and binding upon the parties hereto on the thirtieth (30 ) day following delivery thereof, unless the Seller Agent gives written
notice of its good faith disagreement with the Adjustment Statement (a “Notice of Disagreement”) to Parent prior to such date. Any Notice of Disagreement shall specify in reasonable detail the
specific items and matters in dispute (the “Disputed Matters”), including (to the extent determinable by the Seller Agent) what the Seller Agent believes to be the correct amounts with respect to
any Disputed Matters. If a Notice of Disagreement is received by Parent in a timely manner, then the Adjustment Statement (as revised in accordance with this paragraph) shall become final and
binding upon the Seller Agent and Parent on the earlier of (i) the date the Seller Agent and Parent resolve in writing the Disputed Matters or (ii) the date any Disputed Matters are finally resolved
in writing by an independent international accounting firm mutually agreed upon by the Seller Agent and Parent (the “Accounting Firm”) in accordance with this Section 1.18(b). During the
twenty (20)-day

th
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period following the delivery of a Notice of Disagreement (the “Resolution Period”), the Seller Agent and Parent shall seek in good faith to resolve in writing the Disputed Matters. Within ten
(10) days following the expiration of the Resolution Period, the Seller Agent and Parent shall submit in writing to the Accounting Firm for review any remaining Disputed Matters. The Seller
Agent and Parent shall jointly request that the Accounting Firm render its reasoned, written decision with respect to such remaining Disputed Matters within the thirty (30)-day period following
submission of such Disputed Matters to the Accounting Firm. The Accounting Firm will consider only those items and amounts set forth in the Adjustment Statement and in the Notice of
Disagreement which Parent and the Seller Agent are unable to resolve during the Resolution Period; provided, that each of Parent and the Seller Agent shall be entitled to make a presentation to
the Accounting Firm regarding the items and amounts that they are unable to resolve. The Accounting Firm will make its determination as an expert and not an arbitrator, based solely on such
presentations and not on the basis of an independent review. In making its determination, the Accounting Firm shall (i) be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the
definitions of Working Capital Adjustment, Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue, Closing Date Indebtedness, Transaction Expenses, and the terms of this Section 1.18(b), and (ii) not assign
any value with respect to a disputed amount that is greater than the highest value for such amount claimed by either the Seller Agent or Parent or that is less than the lowest value for such
amount claimed by either the Seller Agent or Parent. Absent fraud or manifest error, the determination of the Accounting Firm will be conclusive and binding upon the Indemnifying Parties, the
Seller Agent and Parent. The costs and fees related to such determination by the Accounting Firm, including the costs relating to any negotiations with the Accounting Firm with respect to the
terms and conditions of such Accounting Firm’s engagement, will be paid by the Seller Agent (on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties) and Parent on an inversely proportional basis, based upon
the relative portions of the Disputed Matters that have been submitted to the Accounting Firm for resolution that ultimately are awarded in favor of the Indemnifying Parties and Parent, as the
case may be, (e.g., if $100,000 is in dispute, and of that amount the Accounting Firm awards $75,000 in favor of Parent and $25,000 in favor of the Indemnifying Parties, then Parent will be
responsible for 25%, and the Indemnifying Parties for 75%, of the costs and fees of the Accounting Firm).

(c) If (i) (A) the Final Working Capital Adjustment plus the Final Closing Cash minus the Final Closing Indebtedness minus the Final Unpaid Transaction Expenses minus the
amount, if any, by which the long-term deferred revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue (in each case, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.18(b) above) is
greater than the aggregate amount of (B) the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment plus the Estimated Closing Cash minus the Estimated Closing Indebtedness minus the Estimated Unpaid
Transaction Expenses minus the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Long-Term Deferred Revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue (in each case, as set forth in the
Closing Financial Certificate) (such amount, the “Underpayment Amount”), and (ii) the Underpayment Amount is equal to or greater than $500,000, then Parent shall disburse or cause to be
disbursed to each Indemnifying Party such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Adjustment Holdback Amount, and Parent shall promptly (but in any event within five (5) Business Days
after such final determination) pay or cause to be paid to each Indemnifying Party such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Underpayment Amount.

(d) If (i) (A) the Final Working Capital Adjustment plus the Final Closing Cash minus the Final Closing Indebtedness minus the Final Unpaid Transaction Expenses minus the
amount, if any, by which the final long-term deferred revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue (in each case, as finally determined pursuant to
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Section 1.18(b) above) is less than the aggregate amount of (B) the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment plus the Estimated Closing Cash minus the Estimated Closing Indebtedness minus the
Estimated Unpaid Transaction Expenses minus the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Long-Term Deferred Revenue is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue (in each
case, as set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate) (the amount of such excess, the “Overpayment Amount”) and the Overpayment Amount is less than or equal to the Adjustment Holdback
Fund, and (ii) the Overpayment Amount is equal to or greater than $500,000, then Parent shall be entitled to permanently retain the Overpayment Amount. Any amounts remaining in the
Adjustment Holdback Fund after giving effect to the prior sentence shall promptly (but in any event within five (5) Business Days after such final determination) be released to the Paying Agent
or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, for distribution to each Indemnifying Party in respect of such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of such remaining amount. If the Overpayment
Amount is greater than the Adjustment Holdback Fund, then Parent shall be entitled to permanently retain the Adjustment Holdback Fund, and Parent shall be entitled to permanently retain and
not issue, as applicable, from the Indemnity Holdback in respect of such remaining portion of the Overpayment Amount, a number of Indemnity Holdback Shares equal to such remaining
portion of the Overpayment Amount, divided by the Parent Stock Price.

(e) Once the Overpayment Amount or the Underpayment Amount, as the case may be, (if any) is determined in accordance with this Section 1.18, such determination shall be
final and binding upon the parties, absent fraud or manifest error.

Article 2
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Subject to the disclosures set forth in the disclosure letter of the Company delivered to Parent and Merger Sub concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure
Letter”), the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing (except to the extent such representations and warranties refer to a
specific date and then as of such date only), as follows:

2.1 Organization, Standing, Power and Subsidiaries. 

(a) The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company’s Subsidiaries are corporate
entities duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of their jurisdiction of incorporation. The Company and its Subsidiaries have the corporate power and authority to
own, operate, use, distribute and lease their properties, rights and assets and to conduct the Business. The Company and its Subsidiaries are duly licensed or qualified to do business and are in
good standing in each jurisdiction in which they conduct business, except any jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing, individually or in the aggregate, would not
have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or the applicable Subsidiary. The Company has made available true, correct and complete copies of its Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws,
as amended to date, each in full force and effect on the date hereof (collectively, the “Organizational Documents”), and the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other equivalent organizational
documents, as applicable, of each of its Subsidiaries, as amended to date, each in full force and effect on the date hereof. No amendment to any of the Organizational Documents or certificate of
incorporation, bylaws or other equivalent organizational documents, as applicable, of any of the Company’s Subsidiaries has been approved that has not been made available. The Company and
its
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Subsidiaries are not in violation of any of the provisions of their Organizational Documents, certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents, as applicable.

(b) Schedule 2.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Subsidiary of the Company and the jurisdiction of incorporation of each
such Subsidiary. The Company is the sole owner of all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries.

(c) Except for the Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 2.1(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the Company does not own or control and has never owned or controlled, directly or
indirectly, any Equity Interests in, or have any commitment or obligation to invest in, purchase any securities or obligations of, fund, guarantee, contribute or maintain the capital of or otherwise
financially support any, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other business association or entity.

(d) Schedule 2.1(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the Agreement Date, a true, correct and complete list of: (i) the names of the members of the Board of
Directors and the board of directors (or similar persons) of each of its Subsidiaries; and (ii) the names and titles of the officers of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries.

(e) The Company has not conducted any business under or otherwise used, for any purpose or in any jurisdiction, any fictitious name, assumed name, business name or other
name, other than its corporate name as set forth in this Agreement.

2.2 Capital Structure. 

(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists solely of (i) 155,587,386 shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock and (ii) 1,964,919,785 shares of Common Stock. A
total of (i) 147,735,654 shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock and (ii) 1,592,640,443 shares of Common Stock are issued and outstanding as of the Agreement Date. There are no shares of
Capital Stock owned by the Company, held by the Company in the Company’s treasury or held by any of the Company’s Subsidiaries. Schedule 2.2(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter
accurately sets forth, as of the Agreement Date, a true, correct and complete list of (i) the Stockholders that are the record and beneficial owners of the issued and outstanding shares of Capital
Stock and the number and type of such shares so owned by such Stockholder and the respective certificate number(s) representing such Shares, or a notation that such Shares are not certificated,
and (ii) the number of shares of Capital Stock that are not vested under the terms of any Contract with the Company (including any stock option agreement, stock option or warrant exercise
agreement) as of the Agreement Date (the “Unvested Shares”), including as applicable the number and type of Unvested Shares, the per share purchase price paid for such Unvested Shares, the
vesting schedule in effect for such Unvested Shares (and the terms of any acceleration thereof) and the per share repurchase price payable for such Unvested Shares. Each share of Preferred
Stock is convertible into Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. The Company has never declared or paid any dividends on any shares of Capital Stock. There is no Liability for dividends
accrued or declared and unpaid by the Company. All issued and outstanding shares of Capital Stock and all Equity Interests of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and are free of any Encumbrances, outstanding subscriptions, preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or “put” or “call” rights created by statute, or
any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets is bound. The Company is not under
any obligation to register under the Securities Act any shares of Capital Stock, any Equity Interests
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or any other securities of the Company, whether currently outstanding or that may subsequently be issued. All shares of Capital Stock, all Company Equity Awards and all Warrants of the
Company and each of its Subsidiaries were issued in compliance with all Applicable Law and all requirements set forth in the Organizational Documents, certificate of incorporation, bylaws or
other equivalent organizational documents, as applicable, of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, and any applicable Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or
by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets is bound.

(b) As of the Agreement Date, the Company has reserved, but not issued, 223,655,611 shares of Common Stock and 3,119,540 shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock for
issuance to Employees, non-Employee directors and Contractors pursuant to the Company Equity Plans, of which, as of the Agreement Date: (i) 48,219,576 shares of Common Stock are subject
to outstanding and unexercised Options, 135,038,437 shares of Common Stock are subject to outstanding Company Common RSUs and 40,397,598 shares of Common Stock remain available
for issuance thereunder, and (ii) 3,119,540 shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock are subject to outstanding Company Series A Prime Preferred RSUs and zero shares of Series A Prime
Preferred Stock remain available for issuance thereunder, respectively. Schedule 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the Agreement Date, a true, correct and complete list of
all holders of outstanding Company Equity Awards, the Company Equity Plan under which the grant was made, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to each Company Equity Award,
the type of Company Equity Award, the number of such shares that are vested or unvested, the date of grant, the vesting commencement date, the vesting schedule (and the terms of any
acceleration thereof), the exercise price per share, the Tax status of Options under Section 422 of the Code (or any other applicable non-U.S. Tax law) and the term of each Option. In addition,
Schedule 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter indicates, as of the Agreement Date, which holders of outstanding Company Equity Awards are not Employees (including non-Employee
directors, Contractors, vendors, service providers or other similar Persons), including a description of the relationship between each such Person and the Company. True, correct and complete
copies of each Company Equity Plan, and forms of all agreements and instruments relating to or issued under each Company Equity Plan (including executed copies of all Contracts relating to
each Company Equity Award and the shares of Common Stock purchased under any such Option) have been made available to Parent, and such Company Equity Plans and Contracts have not
been amended, modified or supplemented since being made available to Parent, and there are no agreements to amend, modify or supplement such Company Equity Plans or Contracts in any
case from those made available to Parent. All Company Equity Awards granted by the Company were granted in all material respects in compliance with all Applicable Law and all requirements
set forth in the Organizational Documents and the Company Equity Plans. The terms of the Company Equity Plans permit the treatment of the Company Equity Awards as provided in this
Agreement, without the consent or approval of the holders of such securities, the Stockholders or otherwise (other than the resolution of the Board of Directors). There are no options to acquire
shares of Common Stock or any other equity or equity-related awards with respect to shares of Common Stock outstanding other than those granted and outstanding under the Company Equity
Plans.

(c) As of immediately prior to entering into this Agreement, there are 3,619,906 shares of Common Stock and 4,732,189 shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock that are
subject to outstanding Warrants. Schedule 2.2(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the Agreement Date, a true, correct and complete list of all holders of outstanding Warrants,
including the number of shares of Capital Stock subject to each Warrant, the date of issuance, the exercise price per share and the term of each Warrant. No notice to holders of
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Warrants is required to effect the Transactions. True, correct and complete copies of each Warrant (including executed copies of all Contracts relating to each Warrant and the Common Stock
purchased under such Warrant) have been made available to Parent, and such Warrant and Contracts have not been amended, modified or supplemented since being made available to Parent, and
there are no agreements to amend, modify or supplement such Warrants or Contracts in any case from those made available to Parent. All Warrants granted by the Company were granted in all
material respects in compliance with all Applicable Law and all requirements set forth in the Organizational Documents.

(d) There are no authorized, issued or outstanding Convertible Securities.

(e) Other than (i) the shares of Capital Stock set forth on Schedule 2.2(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, (ii) the Company Equity Awards set forth on Schedule 2.2(b) of the
Company Disclosure Letter, (iii) the Equity Interests in each Subsidiary of the Company (all of which are wholly owned by the Company) and (iv) the Warrants set forth on Schedule 2.2(c) of
the Company Disclosure Letter, there are no authorized, issued or outstanding Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Contract of any character to which the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries or to the knowledge of the Company, a Securityholder is a party or by which the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ assets is bound, (A) obligating the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, such Securityholder, to issue, deliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold, repurchased or redeemed,
any Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (B) obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to grant, extend, accelerate the vesting and/or repurchase rights of,
change the price of, or otherwise amend or enter into any Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Schedule 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete
and correct list of each Person with an offer letter or other Contract that contemplates a grant of Company Equity Awards or other Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or
who has otherwise been promised Company Equity Awards or other Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, which Company Equity Awards have not been granted, or other
Equity Interests have not been issued, as of the Agreement Date.

(f) The Company has never repurchased, redeemed or otherwise reacquired any shares of Capital Stock, Company Equity Awards, Warrants or Equity Interests (provided, that
forfeiture of unvested Company Equity Awards or Warrants upon termination of employment or service for no consideration pursuant to the terms of the Contracts governing such Company
Equity Awards or Warrants shall not be deemed a repurchase or redemption of such Company Equity Awards or Warrants). All shares of Capital Stock ever repurchased or redeemed by the
Company were repurchased or redeemed in all material respects in compliance with: (i) all Applicable Laws; and (ii) all requirements set forth in all applicable Organizational Documents and
Contracts. There are no Contracts relating to voting, purchase, sale or transfer of any shares of Capital Stock (A) between or among the Company and any Securityholder, other than written
Contracts granting the Company the right to purchase unvested shares upon termination of employment or service, and (B) to the knowledge of the Company, between or among any of the
Securityholders, and true, correct and complete copies of all such Contracts listed or required to be listed on Schedule 2.2(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter have been made available to
Parent, and such Contracts have not been amended, modified or supplemented since being made available to Parent, and there are no agreements to amend, modify or supplement such Contracts
in any case from those made available to Parent. Other than as detailed under Schedule 2.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company Equity Plans nor any Contract of any
character to which the Company is a party to or by which the Company or any of its assets is bound relating to any
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Company Equity Awards, Warrants or Unvested Shares requires or otherwise provides for any accelerated vesting of any Company Equity Awards, Warrants or Unvested Shares or the
acceleration of any other benefits thereunder, in each case in connection with the Transactions, either alone or together with any other event, including a termination of employment or service
with the Company, Parent or the Merger Sub, or any other event, whether before, upon or following the Closing or otherwise. The Company has never issued to or for the benefit of any Person
subject to U.S. Tax laws any shares of Capital Stock that were (1) subject to substantial risk for forfeiture, within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code, at the time of transfer of such shares of
Capital Stock to any such Person or (2) otherwise Taxable under Section 83(a) of the Code following (and not as of) the transfer of such shares of Capital Stock to any such Person.

(g) Schedule 2.2(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all loans made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any
Securityholder outstanding, together with the total amount of (i) outstanding principal and (ii) accrued interest, each as of the date hereof.

2.3 Authority; Noncontravention; Consents and Filings; Anti-Takeover Laws. 

(a) Authority. The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be) a
party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to
which it is (or will be) a party, the performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action
on the part of the Company, other than the adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger by Stockholders constituting the Required Stockholder Approval. This Agreement and the
Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be) a party have been (or will be) duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by
the other parties hereto, constitute (or will constitute) the valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with their respective terms subject only to
the effect, if any, of (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Applicable Law affecting the rights of creditors generally and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance,
injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. The Board of Directors, by resolutions duly adopted (and not thereafter modified or rescinded) by the unanimous vote of the Board of Directors,
has (A) approved this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which the Company is (or will be) a party and approved the Merger and the other Transactions and determined that this
Agreement, such Transaction Documents and the Transactions, including the Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, is advisable, fair to and in the best interests of
the Company and the Securityholders, (B) approved this Agreement and such Transaction Documents in accordance with the provisions of Applicable Law and the Organizational Documents
and (C) directed that the adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger be submitted to the Stockholders for consideration and unanimously recommended that all of the Stockholders
adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger. Other than the Required Stockholder Approval, no vote of the Stockholders is required under the Organizational Documents, Applicable Law or
otherwise in connection with the execution or delivery by the Company of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be) a party, the performance of its obligations
hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of the Merger and the other Transactions.

(b) Noncontravention. Assuming the making of all filings and notifications as may be required or advisable in connection with the transactions described herein under the
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Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 as amended (the “HSR Act”) and any non-U.S. antitrust, merger control or competition laws (collectively with HSR Act, the “Antitrust
Laws”) and the receipt of all clearances, approvals, authorizations, consents and waiting period expirations or terminations as may be required or advisable in connection with the transactions
described herein under the Antitrust Laws, the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be a party) does not (and will
not), and the performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions will not, (i) result in the creation of any Encumbrance, other than Permitted
Encumbrances, on any of the properties, rights or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including the Facilities) or any of the shares of Capital Stock, (ii) contravene, conflict with, or
result in any violation of or default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give any Governmental Entity the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify,
or require any consent, approval or waiver from or notice to any Person pursuant to, or give rise to a right of termination, modification, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss
(including any incremental loss) of any benefit or right under, (A) any provision of the Organizational Documents, (B) any Material Contract of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any
Lease, (C) any Applicable Law, or (D) any Authorization except with respect to clauses (B), (C) and (D) only, any such contravention, conflict, violation or breach that would not have a Material
Adverse Effect, or (iii) give any Governmental Entity or other Person the right to challenge any of the Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Applicable Law or
any Order to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of the assets, rights or properties owned or used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, is subject. Following the Closing,
the Company will be permitted to exercise all of its rights under the Material Contracts without the payment of any additional amounts or consideration other than ongoing fees, royalties or
payments which the Company or such Subsidiary would otherwise have been required to pay pursuant to the terms of such Material Contracts had the Merger or other Transactions not occurred.

(c) Consents and Filings. Other than as disclosed in Schedule 2.3(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, no consent, approval, Order or authorization of, or registration,
declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Entity or any other Person is required by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and
delivery by the Company of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be) a party, the performance of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or the
consummation of the Transactions.

2.4 Financial Statements; Absence of Changes.

(a) The Company has delivered to Parent its (i) audited financial balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 and related statements of income/loss and cash
flows for the fiscal year then ended and (ii) its unaudited financial balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 (the “Balance Sheet,” and such date, the “Balance Sheet Date”) and related statements
of income/loss for the nine (9)-month period ended September 30, 2021 (collectively, the “Financial Statements”), which are included as Schedule 2.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter. The
Financial Statements (i) are derived from and in accordance with the books and records of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) fairly and accurately present in all material respects the
financial condition of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at the dates therein indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the periods
therein specified (subject, in the case of unaudited interim period financial statements, to normal recurring year-end audit adjustments, none of which individually or in the aggregate are
expected to be material in amount), (iv) are
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true, correct and complete in all material respects, (v) were prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for the absence of footnotes in the unaudited Financial Statements, applied on a consistent
basis throughout the periods involved, (vi) except as set forth on Schedule 2.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, when delivered by the Company for inclusion in the Form 8-K for filing with
the SEC following the date of this Agreement, will comply in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Exchange Act
and the Securities Act applicable to a registrant, in effect as of the respective dates thereof, and (vii) have been kept accurately in the ordinary course of business consistent in all material
respects with Applicable Law.

(b) The Company and its Subsidiaries have no Liabilities of a type that would be required to be shown on the Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP, other than
(i) those set forth in the Balance Sheet, (ii) those incurred in the conduct of the Company’s business since the Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course, consistent with past practice (none of
which result from any breach of Contract, warranty, Infringement, tort or violation of Applicable Law), (iii) Liabilities disclosed on Schedule 2.4(b) or (iv) payment obligations incurred in
connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement, or other agreements contemplated hereby, or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. Except for
Liabilities reflected in the Balance Sheet, the Company and its Subsidiaries have no material off balance sheet Liability of any nature to, or any financial interest in, any third party or entities, the
purpose or effect of which is to defer, postpone, reduce or otherwise avoid or adjust the recording of expenses incurred by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. All reserves that are set forth in
or reflected in the Balance Sheet have been established in accordance with GAAP consistently applied.

(c) Schedule 2.4(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. All Indebtedness
of the Company and its Subsidiaries may be prepaid at the Closing without penalty under the terms of the Contracts governing such Indebtedness. The Company and its Subsidiaries have never
guaranteed any debt or other obligation of any other Person.

(d) Schedule 2.4(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the names and locations of all banks and other financial institutions at which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries maintains an account (whether checking, savings or otherwise), lock box or safe deposit box, the account numbers thereof and the names of all Persons authorized to make
withdrawals therefrom. There are no outstanding powers of attorney executed by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to such accounts, lock boxes or safe deposit
boxes.

(e) The Company has established and maintains a system of internal accounting controls effective in providing reasonable assurances (i) that transactions, receipts and
expenditures of the Company and its Subsidiaries are being executed and made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations of management and the Board of Directors, (ii) that
transactions are recorded as necessary (A) to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP and (B) to maintain accountability for assets, (iii) regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (iv) that the amount recorded for assets on the books and records of the
Company and its Subsidiaries is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. None of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s independent auditors or any Employee, Contractor or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has identified or
been made aware of any fraud in the preparation of financial statements or the
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internal accounting controls, whether or not material, that involves management or other Employees, Contractors, directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who have a role in the
preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing. None of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, any Representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has received any written material complaint, allegation,
assertion or claim regarding deficient accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or its internal accounting controls or any
material inaccuracy in the financial statements of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. To the Company’s knowledge, no attorney representing the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether
or not employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has reported to the Board of Directors or any committee thereof or to any director or officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
evidence of a material violation of securities laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives. To the
Company’s knowledge, there are no significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of the Company’s internal controls that would reasonably be expected to materially
adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data. There has been no material change in the Company’s accounting policies since the Company’s
inception, except as described in the Financial Statements.

(f) Since the Balance Sheet Date, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted the Business in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (ii) there has
not occurred a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, and (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has suffered any material loss, damage,
destruction or other casualty affecting any of its material properties or assets, whether or not covered by insurance, and (iv) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has done, caused or
permitted any of the actions described in Section 4.2.

2.5 Litigation. There is no Legal Proceeding pending (or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened) against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets
or any of their respective directors, officers, Employees or Contractors (in their respective capacities as such or relating to their employment or services with the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries), nor, to the knowledge of the Company, is there any reasonable basis therefor. There is no Order binding on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective
properties, rights or assets or any of their respective directors, officers, Employees or Contractors (in their respective capacities as such or relating to their employment or services with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries). Neither the Company nor or any of its Subsidiaries has any Legal Proceedings pending against any other Person, nor has the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries threatened to bring a Legal Proceeding against any other Person. To the knowledge of the Company, there is no Legal Proceeding pending or threatened against any Person who has a
contractual right or a right pursuant to Applicable Law to indemnification or contribution from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries related to facts and circumstances existing prior to the
Closing, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, is there any reasonable basis therefor.

2.6 Restrictions on Business Activities.  There is no Contract or Order binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that restricts or prohibits, purports to restrict or prohibit, has
or would reasonably be expected to have, whether before or immediately after and giving effect to the Merger, the effect of prohibiting, restricting or impairing any current business practice of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any acquisition of property by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the conduct or operation of the Business materially restricting the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries to (a) engage or participate, or compete with any other
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Person, in any line of business, market or geographic area or (b) sell, distribute or manufacture any products or services or to purchase or otherwise obtain any Software, components, parts or
services.

2.7 Compliance with Laws; Governmental Permits.

(a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is in material compliance and in the past three (3) years prior to the date of this Agreement, has complied with and, except as
would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, is not and has not been in violation of, and has not received any written notice or, to
the Company’s knowledge, other communication regarding any actual or possible violation of Applicable Law.

(b) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has obtained each material consent, license, permit, grant, or other authorization of a Governmental Entity (i) pursuant to which
the Company or such Subsidiary currently operates or holds any interest in any of its assets or properties or (ii) that is required for the conduct of the Business or the holding of any such interest
(all of the foregoing consents, licenses, permits, grants, and other authorizations, collectively, the “Authorizations”), and all of the Authorizations are in full force and effect. Schedule 2.7(b) of
the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Authorization, if any. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the
Company’s knowledge, other communication regarding (i) any violation of any Authorization or (ii) any revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of any
Authorization, and to the knowledge of the Company, no such notice or other communication is forthcoming. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with all of the terms
of the Authorizations. The execution and delivery of this Agreement does not, and the performance of obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions will not
contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental Entity the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any
Authorization.

2.8 Title to, Condition and Sufficiency of Assets. 

(a) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns any real property or has ever owned any real property, nor is either party to any Contract to purchase or sell any real
property. The Company and its Subsidiaries have good title to, or valid leasehold interest in, all of the properties, and interests in properties and assets, real and personal, reflected on the Balance
Sheet or acquired after the Balance Sheet Date (except properties and assets, or interests in properties and assets, sold or otherwise disposed of since the Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice), or, with respect to leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in such properties and assets that afford the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries valid leasehold possession of the properties and assets that are the subject of such leases, in each case, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances.

(b) Schedule 2.8(b)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of each parcel of real property currently leased, subleased or licensed by or
from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries otherwise used or occupied by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (such real property, together with the buildings, structures and improvements
thereon, the “Facilities”), the name of the lessor, licensor, sublessor, master lessor and/or lessee, the date and term of the lease, license, sublease or other occupancy right and each amendment,
supplement, renewals and extension thereto, the amount of any deferred
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rent and the aggregate annual rental payable thereunder. The Company has made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of all leases, subleases and other agreements under which
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries uses or occupies or has the right to use or occupy or grants any other party the right to use or occupy, now or in the future, any real property or facility,
including all modifications, amendments, supplements, renewals and extension thereto and guarantees thereof (“Leases”). Except as set forth on Schedule 2.8(b)(ii), the Company or its
Subsidiaries currently occupy all of the Facilities for the operation of its business, and there are no leases, subleases, licenses, occupancy agreements, options, rights, concessions, Contracts or
other written agreements or arrangements granting to any other person the right to purchase, use, or occupy any Facilities or any real property or any portion thereof or interest in any such
Facility or real property. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received or provided any written notice of any default or event that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would
constitute a default by a member of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or any other party thereto under any Lease that remains uncured. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have not
received any written notice that any portion of a security deposit with respect to any Lease has been applied as a result of a breach or default under any Lease that has not been redeposited in full.
The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have performed all of its obligations under any termination agreements pursuant to which it has terminated any leases of real property that are no
longer in effect and has no continuing liability with respect to such terminated real property leases. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to any agreement or subject to any
claim that may require the payment of any real estate brokerage commissions, and no such commission is owed with respect to any of the Facilities.

(c) The assets and properties owned or leased by the Company and its Subsidiaries: (i) constitute all of the assets, rights and properties that are necessary for the Company and
its Subsidiaries to conduct, operate and continue the conduct of the Business as presently conducted and to sell and otherwise enjoy full rights to exploitation of its assets, rights, properties and
all products and services that are provided in connection with its assets, rights and properties, and (ii) constitute all of the assets, rights and properties that are used or held for use in the conduct
of the Business as presently conducted, without the breach or violation of any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which its properties, rights or assets are
bound.

(d) All assets, rights and properties (including the Facilities) owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries have been at all times maintained in all respects in accordance
with generally accepted industry practice, are in all material respects in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and are adequate and suitable for the conduct of the
Business as presently conducted. The operations of the Company on the Facilities do not violate any Applicable Law relating to such property or operations thereon.

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received or provided any written notice that it is in violation of any zoning, use, occupancy, building, wetlands, or
environmental regulation, ordinance or other Law relating to the Facilities. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of, and, to the Company’s knowledge,
there is no pending, threatened or contemplated condemnation proceeding affecting any of the Facilities or of any sale or other disposition of any of the Facilities in lieu of condemnation.

2.9 Intellectual Property.

(a) Ownership. The Company and its Subsidiaries exclusively own all rights, title and interest in and to all Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights, free and clear of
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any Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has transferred full or partial ownership of, agreed to transfer ownership of, granted
any exclusive licenses to, or agreed to grant any exclusive licenses to any Intellectual Property Rights that are, or at any time in the past were, Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights or
Company Owned Data to any third party.

(b) Company Registered Intellectual Property. Schedule 2.9(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Company Registered
Intellectual Property, and the jurisdictions in which it has been issued or registered or in which any application for such issuance and registration has been filed, or in which any other filing or
recordation has been made; and all actions that are required to be taken by the Company within 120 days of the Agreement Date vis-à-vis the applicable authorities with which such Company
Registered Intellectual Property was registered or filed. Each item of Company Registered Intellectual Property is valid and subsisting (or in the case of applications, applied for), and to the
knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, there is no reasonable basis for a claim that any Company Registered Intellectual Property is invalid or unenforceable. All registration,
maintenance, renewal and other fees currently due in connection with such Company Registered Intellectual Property or any pending applications therefor have been paid and all documents,
recordations and certificates in connection with such Company Registered Intellectual Property currently required to be filed have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or
other authorities in the United States and foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of prosecuting, maintaining and perfecting such Company Registered Intellectual Property and
recording the ownership interests of the Company and its Subsidiaries therein. No item of Company Registered Intellectual Property has been registered with “small entity” or “micro entity”
status.

(c) Governmental Entities.

(i) Schedule 2.9(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Governmental Grants which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries have either applied for or received. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with the terms, conditions, requirements and criteria of application, filing and receipt
of any Governmental Grants for which the Company or its Subsidiaries have applied, including all reporting requirements as per Applicable Law.

(ii) The Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained all authorizations, consents and approvals necessary to ensure that the Transactions: (A) will not adversely affect the
ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to obtain the full benefit (without any additional restriction or limitation beyond those in effect prior to the Transactions) of any Governmental
Grant for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have applied for the remaining duration thereof or require any recapture of any previously claimed incentive and (B) will not result in (x)
the failure of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to comply with any of the terms, conditions, requirements and criteria of any applicable Governmental Grant, or any Applicable Laws related
thereto or (y) any claim by any Governmental Entity or other Person that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is required to return or refund, or that any Governmental Entity is entitled to
recapture, any benefit provided under any Governmental Grant.

(iii)No funding, facilities or personnel of any Governmental Entity or any university, college, other educational institution or research center were used in the
development of any Company Owned Intellectual Property.
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(iv)No Governmental Entity, nor any university, college, or other educational institution or research center, has any ownership interest or other claim or right in or to any
Company Owned Intellectual Property.

(d) Company Products. Schedule 2.9(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Company Products (by version) currently being
produced, marketed, licensed, supported, sold, distributed or otherwise provided by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and any Company Product currently under development and
scheduled for commercial release within ninety (90) days of the Agreement Date.

(e) Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement. The Company and its Subsidiaries have secured from all (i) Employees, (ii) Contractors and (iii) any other Persons or
third parties who contributed to the creation of any Company Owned Intellectual Property (each Person, an “Author”), unencumbered and unrestricted exclusive ownership of, all of the Authors’
rights, title and interest in and to such Intellectual Property arising in connection with the service performed by such Authors for or on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries and, to the
fullest extent permitted under Applicable Law, have obtained the waivers of all non-assignable rights, including moral rights with respect thereto. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company
and its Subsidiaries have obtained written and, to the knowledge of the Company, enforceable proprietary information and invention disclosure and Intellectual Property assignments and moral
rights waivers from all current and former Authors and, in the case of Patents, such assignments have been recorded with the relevant authorities in the applicable jurisdictions. The Company has
made available to Parent copies of all such forms currently and historically used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and each proprietary information and invention disclosure and
Intellectual Property assignment and moral rights waiver executed by each Author is substantially similar to the forms the Company has made available to Parent.

(f) No Violation. To the knowledge of the Company, no Employee or Contractor is: (i) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract with a third party restricting such
Employee or Contractor from performing his/her duties for the Company or its Subsidiaries or (ii) in breach of any Contract with any former employer or other Person concerning Intellectual
Property Rights or confidentiality due to his/her activities as an Employee or Contractor.

(g) Confidential Information. The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable steps to protect and preserve the confidentiality of all information of the Company and its
Subsidiaries that is or was confidential or non-public (including all Trade Secrets), as well as confidential or non-public information provided by any third party to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries under a written obligation of confidentiality (“Company Confidential Information”). All Employees and Contractors who had access to Company Confidential Information and any
third party having access to Company Confidential Information, in each case such access provided by, or on behalf of, the Company, have executed and delivered to the Company a written
legally binding agreement regarding the protection of such Company Confidential Information.

(h) Non-Infringement. The operation of the Business, including (i) the design, development, manufacturing, reproduction, marketing, licensing, sale, offer for sale, importation,
distribution, provision and/or use of any Company Product and (ii) the use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any product, device, process or service used in the Business as previously
conducted by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has not in the past six (6) years Infringed, and as currently conducted does not Infringe, any Intellectual Property
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Rights, or any rights of publicity, privacy or other rights to use the name, likeness, image, photograph, voice, identity or Personal Data, of a third party in any material respect.

(i) Legal Proceedings. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, to the knowledge of the Company, has been sued in any Legal Proceeding or received any written notice
(including cease and desist letters and invitations to take a patent license) alleging that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has Infringed or, by conducting the Business, would Infringe any
Intellectual Property Rights or any rights of publicity, privacy or other rights to use the name, likeness, image, photograph, voice, identity or Personal Data of any other Person. In the past six (6)
years, no Infringement or similar Legal Proceeding is pending or has been threatened in writing (or, to the knowledge of the Company, by any non-written means of communication) against any
Person who may be entitled to be indemnified, defended, held harmless or reimbursed by the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to such Legal Proceeding.

(j) Third Party Infringement. To the knowledge of the Company, there is no, and there has not in the past six (6) years been any Infringement of any Company Owned
Intellectual Property Rights. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has brought or threatened any Legal Proceeding against a third party for Infringement of any Intellectual Property
Rights.

(k) Licenses; Agreements.

(i) Schedule 2.9(k)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Contracts pursuant to which Intellectual Property is being
licensed or otherwise conveyed or provided, or is or has been sold, or assigned to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including any Company Data Agreements (other than with respect to (A)
generally commercially available Software or software-as-a-service that is licensed to or procured by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for an annual fee of less than $25,000, (B) Open
Source Materials, (C) information or material that is provided to the Company by customers pursuant to the Standard Terms, (D) permitted use right to confidential information in a nondisclosure
agreement, (E) Intellectual Property Rights licensed pursuant to an Incidental License, and (F) Intellectual Property Rights that have been assigned or licensed to the Company pursuant to the
Company’s standard form of Author agreements, in each case entered in the ordinary course of business) (“Inbound Licenses”).

(ii) Schedule 2.9(k)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of each Contract pursuant to which Intellectual Property (including
any Company Owned Intellectual Property) is being licensed or otherwise conveyed or provided, or is or has been sold or assigned, by the Company or its Subsidiaries to any Person (other than
(A) permitted use rights to confidential information in nondisclosure agreements, (B) Incidental Licenses, and (C) Standard Terms in each case entered in the ordinary course of business)
(“Outbound Licenses”). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is bound by, and no Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights are subject to, any Contract containing any covenant or
other provision that in any way limits or restricts the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to use, exploit, assert, or enforce any Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights anywhere
in the world.

(l) Intellectual Property and Data Agreements.

(i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is (nor will be as a result of the execution and delivery or effectiveness of this Agreement or any of the Transaction
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Documents or the performance of obligations hereunder or thereunder), in breach of any Company Intellectual Property Agreement or Company Data Agreement, and the consummation of the
Transactions will not result in the modification, cancellation, termination, suspension of, or acceleration of any payments, rights, obligations, or remedies with respect to any Company Intellectual
Property Agreements or Company Data Agreements, or give any party to any Company Intellectual Property Agreement or Company Data Agreement the right to do any of the foregoing.

(ii) At and after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation (as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent) will be permitted to exercise all of the rights of the Company and its
Subsidiaries under the Company Intellectual Property Agreements and the Company Data Agreements to the same extent the Company and its Subsidiaries would have been able to had the
Transactions not occurred and without the payment of any additional amounts or consideration other than ongoing fees, royalties or payments that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries would
otherwise be required to pay.

(iii)There are no disputes or Legal Proceedings (pending or threatened) regarding the scope of any Company Intellectual Property Agreements or Company Data
Agreements, or performance under any such agreements including with respect to any payments to be made or received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries thereunder.

(iv)The Company and its Subsidiaries either own or have obtained written licenses (sufficient for the conduct of the Business) to all Intellectual Property that is
incorporated into, integrated or bundled by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any of the Company Products.

(m) Effects of the Transactions. None of the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, the performance of obligations hereunder or
thereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any assignment to Parent that is deemed to occur as a result of or following the consummation of the Transactions, by operation of law or
otherwise, of any Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of its or their assets are bound, will result in: (i) other than the making of all filings and
notifications as may be required or advisable in connection with the transactions described herein under the Antitrust Laws and the receipt of all clearances, approvals, authorizations, consents,
and waiting period expirations or terminations as may be required or advisable in connection with the transactions described herein under the Antitrust Laws, requiring any consent, approval or
waiver from or notice to any Person pursuant to, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation, incremental loss or acceleration of any obligation or loss of any benefit under any Intellectual
Property or Company Data, (ii) Parent or any of its Affiliates granting to any third party any right to or with respect to any Intellectual Property Rights or data owned by, or licensed to Parent or
any of its Affiliates, (iii) Parent or any of its Affiliates (other than the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries), being bound by or subject to, any exclusivity obligations, non-compete or other
restriction on the operation or scope of their respective businesses, (iv) the Surviving Corporation or Parent being obligated to pay any royalties or other material amounts to any third party in
excess of those payable by any of them, respectively, in the absence of this Agreement or the Transactions, or (v) any loss of rights with respect to, or other material adverse impact to, any
Intellectual Property or Company Data.

(n) Company Source Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has disclosed, delivered or licensed to any Person or agreed or obligated itself to disclose, deliver or
license to any Person, or permitted the disclosure or delivery to any escrow agent or
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other Person of, any Company Source Code, other than (i) disclosures to Employees and Contractors involved in the development of Company Owned Intellectual Property under standard
confidentiality obligations and (ii) to the company performing due diligence on the Company Source Code on behalf of Parent. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists,
that (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) will, or would reasonably be expected to, result in the disclosure, delivery or license by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any
Company Source Code, other than disclosures to Employees and Contractors involved in the development of Company Owned intellectual Property. Without limiting the foregoing, neither the
execution nor performance of this Agreement nor the consummation of any of the Transactions will result in a release from escrow or other delivery to a third party of any Company Source
Code.

(o) Open Source Software.

(i) Schedule 2.9(o)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Open Source Materials combined with, distributed with, or used
in any Company Products.

(ii) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (A) incorporated Open Source Materials into, or combined or linked Open Source Materials with, the Company
Owned Intellectual Property or Company Products, (B) distributed Open Source Materials in conjunction with any Company Owned Intellectual Property or Company Products or (C) used any
Open Source Materials, in such a way that, with respect to clauses (A), (B) or (C), grants or creates an obligation for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to grant, to any third party, any rights
or immunities under any Company Owned Intellectual Property (including any Open Source Materials that require, as a condition of use, modification and/or distribution of such Open Source
Materials that other Software or other Technology incorporated into, derived from or distributed with such Open Source Materials be (x) disclosed or distributed in source code form, (y) be
licensed for the purpose of making derivative works, or (z) be redistributable at no charge).

(p) Company Software. None of the computer systems, programs or Software that is owned or purported to be owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company Software”): (A) contains any bug, defect or error (including any bug, defect or error relating to or resulting from the display, manipulation, processing, storage, transmission or use of
data) that materially and adversely affects the use, functionality or performance of such Company Software or any product or system containing or used in conjunction with such Company
Software or (B)  contains or has contained any “back door,” “drop dead device,” “time bomb,” “Trojan horse,” “virus” or “worm” (as such terms are commonly understood in the software
industry) or any other similar code designed or intended to have, or capable of, disrupting, disabling, harming or otherwise impeding in any manner the operation of, or providing unauthorized
access to, a computer system or network or other device on which such code is stored or installed, or damaging or destroying any data or file without the user’s consent (collectively,
“Contaminants”).

(q) Information Technology.

(i) Status. The arrangements relating to the information and communications technology infrastructure and systems (including Software, hardware, networks and
websites that support the same) that is used in the Business (collectively, the “ICT Infrastructure”) will not be adversely affected by the Transactions, and the ICT Infrastructure will continue to be
available for use by the Company and its Subsidiaries immediately following
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the consummation of the Transactions on substantially the same terms and conditions as prevailed immediately before the Closing, without further action or payment by Parent. There has not been
any material failure in the past three (3) years with respect to any of the ICT Infrastructure. The ICT Infrastructure that is currently used in the Business constitutes all the information and
communications technology and other systems infrastructure reasonably necessary to carry on the Business as currently conducted, including having sufficient capacity and maintenance and
support requirements to satisfy the requirements of the Business as currently conducted with regard to information and communications technology, data Processing and communications. The ICT
Infrastructure is: (A) in good working order and functions in accordance with all applicable documentation and specifications, (B) maintained and supported in accordance with industry practice
and is covered by reasonable maintenance and warranty provisions and (C) protected by reasonable and appropriate security, business continuity, and disaster recovery plans and arrangements that
are tested on a periodic basis, including taking and storing back-up copies (both on- and off-site) of the Software and any data in the ICT Infrastructure and following procedures consistent with
generally accepted industry standards for preventing the introduction of Contaminants to, and unauthorized access of, the ICT Infrastructure.

(ii) ICT Agreements. All Contracts relating to the ICT Infrastructure are valid and binding and no Contract (including any Inbound License) that relates to the ICT
Infrastructure has been the subject of any breach by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or to the knowledge of the Company, any other Person, and neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries (A) has waived any breach thereof by any other Person, (B) has received any notice of termination of any such Contract and (C) knows of any circumstances that would give rise to a
breach, suspension, variation, revocation or termination of any such Contract without the consent of the Company or its Subsidiaries (other than termination on notice in accordance with the terms
of such Contract).

2.10 Privacy and Company Data.

(a) The data, privacy and security practices of the Company and its Subsidiaries conform and in the past three (3) years have conformed, in all material respects, to all of the
Privacy Commitments, applicable Privacy Laws, and Company Data Agreements. Where required by applicable Privacy Laws, the Company and its Subsidiaries have in the past three (3) years:
(i) complied with all applicable general principles regarding the Processing of Private Data in accordance with applicable Privacy Laws, including the principles of lawfulness, fairness and
transparency of the Processing, and ensured that any Processing of Private Data is justified on a valid legal basis, (ii) provided adequate information and notice to and obtained any necessary
consents from data subjects required for the Processing of Private Data as conducted by or for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (iii) abided by any privacy choices (including opt-out
preferences) and requests to exercise rights of access, rectification, erasure or any other applicable rights under Privacy Laws of data subjects relating to Private Data (such obligations, together
with those contained in Privacy Policies, collectively, “Privacy Commitments”). The Company and its Subsidiaries have introduced and applied appropriate data protection policies and
procedures concerning the collection, use, storage, retention and security of Personal Data and for the purpose of implementing data protection by design and by default, and implemented regular
use testing, audits or other documented mechanisms designed to comply with such policies and procedures. Where required by Privacy Laws, the Company and its Subsidiaries have carried out
and maintained complete, accurate and up to date records of data processing activities and data protection impact assessments in respect of all relevant Processing. The Company and its
Subsidiaries have adopted commercially reasonable measures to mitigate the material risks identified in
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such assessments. Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents nor the performance of obligations hereunder or thereunder nor the taking over by
Parent of any of the databases, Company Data and other information relating to the customers of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries will cause, constitute, or result in a breach or violation of
any Privacy Laws, Privacy Commitments, any Company Data Agreements, or Standard Terms. True and accurate copies of all current and prior Privacy Policies have been made available to
Parent.

(b) The Company and its Subsidiaries have established and maintained appropriate technical, physical, and organizational measures, and security systems and technologies, in
material compliance with all applicable data security requirements under Privacy Laws, Company Data Agreements and Privacy Commitments that are designed to protect Company Data and
other Company Confidential Information, including Personal Data, maintained by or for the Company and its Subsidiaries against accidental or unlawful access or Processing in a manner
appropriate to the risks represented by the access or Processing of such data by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and its data processors, as monitored through regular penetration tests and
vulnerability assessments (including by remediating any and all material identified vulnerabilities). The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable steps to train
Employees on all applicable aspects of Privacy Laws, Privacy Commitments and, to the extent applicable, the Company Data Agreements, and have bound all Employees and Contractors with
access to such data to appropriate written obligations of confidentiality.

(c) In the past three (3) years, no material breach, security incident, or violation of any Privacy Laws or Privacy Commitments (including any Personal Data Breach) in relation
to Company Data (including Private Data) maintained by or for the Company or its Subsidiaries has occurred or is threatened, and there has been no unauthorized or illegal Processing of any
such Company Data. To the knowledge of the Company, no circumstance has arisen in which any Company Data Agreement or Privacy Commitment would require the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries to notify any Governmental Entity (including any supervisory authority) or any other Person of an actual or suspected Personal Data Breach, data security breach or security
incident.

(d) In the past three (3) years and, to the knowledge of the Company prior to that period, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of or
experienced, and does not have knowledge of, any circumstance that would reasonably be expected to give rise to, any Legal Proceeding, notice, communication, court order, warrant, complaint,
demand, regulatory opinion, audit result, investigation, sanction or allegation, from a Governmental Entity (including any supervisory authority) or any other Person: (i) alleging or confirming
material non-compliance with a requirement of Privacy Laws or Privacy Commitments, (ii) requiring or requesting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to cease Processing or take any action
regarding Company Data or any other Personal Data in the possession, control, or custody of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) permitting or mandating relevant Governmental Entities
(including any supervisory authority) to investigate, audit, requisition information from, or enter the premises of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iv) claiming compensation from the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been involved in any Legal Proceedings involving a breach or alleged breach of Privacy Laws or
Privacy Commitments.

(e) Schedule 2.10(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each notification and registration made by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries under Privacy Laws with relevant Governmental Entities (including any
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supervisory authority) in connection with the Processing of Private Data. To the knowledge of the Company, all such notifications and registrations are valid, accurate, complete, and fully paid
up, and the consummation of the Transactions will not invalidate such notification or registration or require such notification or registration to be amended. Other than the notifications and
registrations set forth on Schedule 2.10(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter, no other registrations or notifications are required in connection with the Processing of Private Data by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(f) Where the Company or any of its Subsidiaries uses a data processor to Process Private Data on its or their behalf, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have introduced
measures to undertake due diligence on data processors and have selected data processors providing sufficient guarantees to implement appropriate technical and organizational measures in such
a manner that Processing will meet the requirements of applicable Privacy Laws and are designed to protect the rights of the data subject, (ii) the data processor has provided guarantees,
warranties or covenants in relation to Processing of Private Data and (iii) there is in existence a written Contract between the Company or its Subsidiary, on the one hand, and each such data
processor, on the other hand, which complies with the requirements of all Privacy Laws and Privacy Commitments and any applicable Company Data Agreements. To the knowledge of the
Company, no data processors have materially breached any Company Data Agreements. Where the Company or its Subsidiaries transfer or have transferred Personal Data outside the European
Economic Area or United Kingdom to third countries, the Company and its Subsidiaries have implemented measures designed to have such transfer performed in accordance with the
requirements of all Privacy Laws, Privacy Commitments and Company Data Agreements and that, where required, appropriate safeguards are in place for the transfer by way of a valid data
transfer mechanism. The Company has made available to Parent true, correct, and complete copies of all such appropriate safeguards.

(g) The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain appropriate documentation in order to be able to demonstrate that they conform and have conformed, in all material respects,
with their obligations under Privacy Laws.

(h) The Company and its Subsidiaries have valid and subsisting contractual rights to Process or to have Processed all third-party-owned data obtained or collected by or for the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (“Licensed Data”) in the manner that it is Processed by or for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The Company and its Subsidiaries have all necessary
rights, permissions, and authorizations required under Privacy Laws and relevant Contracts to retain, produce copies, prepare derivative works, disclose, combine with other data, and grant third
parties rights, as the case may be, to each of the Licensed Data as necessary for the operation of the Business. The Company and its Subsidiaries have been and are in compliance, in all material
respects, with all Contracts pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries Processes or has Processed Licensed Data, and the consummation of the Transactions will not conflict with,
or result in any violation or breach of, or default under, any such Contract.

2.11 Taxes. 

(a) All income and other material Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing Date have been properly completed and
timely filed. All such Tax Returns are true and complete in all material respects. Any material amount of Taxes (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) required to be paid by or in respect of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been timely paid in full
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when due. There are no Encumbrances for Taxes against any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than statutory liens in respect of Taxes not yet due and payable.

(b) The Company has delivered to Parent true, correct and complete copies of (i) all Tax Returns filed on or after December 31, 2017, examination reports, and statements of
deficiencies, adjustments, and proposed deficiencies and adjustments in respect of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any audit report issued by a Governmental Entity relating to any
Taxes due from or with respect to the Company, (iii) any closing or settlement agreements entered into by or with respect to the Company with any Governmental Entity, (iv) all material written
communications to, or received by the Company from, any Governmental Entity with respect to Taxes, including Tax rulings and Tax decisions and (v) all Tax opinions and memoranda prepared
by external tax advisors regarding Taxes and similar documents prepared by or for the Company.

(c) The Balance Sheet reflects all Liabilities for unpaid Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for periods (or portions of periods) ending on or before the Balance
Sheet Date in accordance with GAAP. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any Liability for unpaid Taxes accruing after the Balance Sheet Date except for Taxes arising in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date or that are attributable to the transactions referred to in this Agreement.

(d) There is (i) no current or pending audit or other controversy in respect of Taxes or any Tax Return of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) no other procedure,
proceeding or contest of any refund or deficiency in respect of Taxes pending or on appeal with any Governmental Entity, (iii) no extension or waiver of any statute of limitations on the
assessment of any Taxes granted by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries currently in effect and (iv) no agreement to any extension of time for filing any Tax Return that has not been filed. No
adjustment relating to any Tax Return filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been proposed by any Tax Authority to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any representative
thereof. No claim has ever been made by any Governmental Entity in a jurisdiction where the Company and its Subsidiaries do not file Tax Returns that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is
or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction. No power of attorney has been granted with respect to any matter related to Taxes of the Company.

(e) [Reserved.]

(f) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any Tax Sharing Agreement.

(g) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated in, and is not currently participating in, a “reportable transaction” within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)
of the Code or Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b), or any transaction requiring disclosure under a corresponding or similar provision of state, local, or non-U.S. law.

(h) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) ever been a member of a consolidated, combined, unitary or aggregate group (other than a group, the common parent
of which is the Company or one of its Subsidiaries), (ii) any liability for the Taxes of any person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S.
law, including any arrangement for group or consortium relief or similar arrangement), as a transferee or successor, by contract, by operation of law or otherwise (other than pursuant to contracts
entered into in the ordinary course of business the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes) or (iii) ever been a party to any joint venture,
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partnership or other agreement that was treated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a partnership for Tax purposes.

(i) Neither the Company or any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, Taxable income for any Post-
Closing Tax Period as a result of (i) any change in method of accounting for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (ii) any “closing agreement” described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding
or similar provision of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) any intercompany transactions or any excess loss account described in Treasury
Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax law) with respect to a transaction occurring on or prior to the Closing
Date, (iv) any installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date or (v) any prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date (other than any prepaid
amount in the ordinary course of business). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has deferred the payment or remittance of any Taxes with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period to a
Post-Closing Tax Period pursuant to an election under Section 965(h) of the Code, the deferral of payroll Taxes under any COVID-19 Law or any corresponding or similar provision of state,
local, or non-U.S. Tax law.

(j) The Company’s Subsidiaries have never made an election pursuant to Section 897(i) of the Code to be treated as a domestic corporation.

(k) The Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) to the extent deferred, properly complied in all material respects with all Applicable Law in order to defer the amount of the
employer’s share of any “applicable employment taxes” under Section 2302 of the CARES Act or any similar provision under state, local or non-U.S. law, (ii) to the extent applicable, eligible,
and claimed, or intended to be claimed, properly complied in all material respects with all legal requirements and duly accounted for any available Tax credits under Sections 7001 through 7004
of the Families First Coronavirus Response Act and Section 2301 of the CARES Act or any similar provisions under state, local, or non-U.S. law, (iii) not deferred any payroll Tax obligations
(including those imposed by Sections 3101(a) and 3201 of the Code) (for example, by a failure to timely withhold, deposit or remit such amounts in accordance with Applicable Law) pursuant to
or in connection with the CARES Act or any similar provision under state, local or non-U.S. law, and (iv) not sought (nor has any Affiliate or any other Person that would be aggregated with the
Company and treated as one employer for purposes of Section 2301 of the CARES Act sought) a covered loan under paragraph (36) of Section 7(a) of the Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. §
636(a)), as added by Section 1102 of the CARES Act or any similar provision under state, local or non-U.S. law.

(l) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is and always has been a resident for Tax purposes solely in its country of incorporation, and is not subject to Tax in any
jurisdiction other than its country of incorporation, by virtue of having Employees, a permanent establishment or any other place of business in such jurisdiction or by virtue of exercising
management and control in such jurisdiction.

(m) The Company and its Subsidiaries have made available to Parent all documentation relating to any applicable Tax holidays or incentives. Schedule 2.11(m) of the Company
Disclosure Letter lists each Tax incentive to which the Company and any of its Subsidiaries are entitled, the period for which such Tax incentive applies, and the nature of such Tax incentive.
The Company is in compliance with the requirements for any applicable Tax holidays or incentives.
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(n) All transactions or arrangements between the Company, any of its Subsidiaries and/or any other companies or persons affiliated to the Company are and were effected at
arm’s length terms and have been made in full compliance with applicable transfer pricing law and regulations of each Applicable Law (including the Treasury Regulations promulgated under
Section 482 of the Code). The Company has at all times been in timely compliance in all material respects with any documentation and recordkeeping requirements under applicable transfer
pricing Laws.

(o) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has constituted either a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a distribution of stock intended to qualify
for Tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code (or similar tax-free spin-off or demerger transaction under non-U.S. Tax law).

(p) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has (i) complied in all material respects with all Applicable Law relating to the payment, reporting or withholding of Taxes in
respect of payments to other Persons, (ii) withheld (within the time and in the manner prescribed by Applicable Law) from employee wages or consulting compensation and paid over to the
proper governmental authorities (or is properly holding for such timely payment) all amounts required to be so withheld and paid over under all Applicable Law and (iii) properly maintained any
documentation required for information reporting purposes, in each case for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods.

(q) No closing agreements, private letter rulings, Tax decisions or similar agreements, arrangements or rulings relating to Taxes have been entered into or issued by any
Governmental Entity with or in respect of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has requested or received a ruling from any Tax Authority.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to an arrangement or agreement with any Tax Authority that requires it to take any action or to refrain from taking any action relating to
Taxes or that would be terminated as a result of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.

(r) Schedule 2.11(r) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, (i) the U.S. federal income tax classification of each entity,
(ii) the taxable year end of such entity, and (iii) whether an election under Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3 has ever been made with respect to such entity, and the effective date of any
such election.

(s) Schedule 2.11(s) to the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all “nonqualified deferred compensation plans” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party. Each such nonqualified deferred compensation plan has a plan document that satisfies the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code and has been operated in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the terms of such plan document, in each case such that no Tax is or has
been due or payable under Section 409A of the Code. No event has occurred that would be treated by Section 409A(b) as a transfer of property for purposes of Section 83 of the Code.

(t) The exercise price of all Options granted to persons who are, or at a time while a holder of such Options were, subject to U.S. Tax laws is at least equal to the fair market
value of a share of Common Stock on the date such Options were granted, as determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code, as well as Section 422 of the Code if applicable, and
neither the Company nor Parent or any of their Affiliates has incurred or will
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incur any Liability or obligation to withhold Taxes under Section 409A of the Code upon the vesting of any Options. All Options have been granted in accordance with the terms of the
applicable Company Equity Plan and each Option is intended to be exempt from Section 409A of the Code.

(u) There is no agreement, plan, arrangement or other Contract covering any Employee or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or is a party or by
which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets is bound that, considered individually or considered collectively with any other such agreements, plans,
arrangements or other Contracts, will, or would reasonably be expected to, as a result of the Transactions (whether alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events), give rise
directly or indirectly to the payment of any amount that would reasonably be expected to be characterized as an “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code
(without regard to the exceptions set forth in Section 280G(b)(4) and Section 280G(b)(5) of the Code) or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax law.
Schedule 2.11(u) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Person (whether U.S. or foreign) who the Company reasonably believes is, with respect to
the Company, a “disqualified individual” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder), as determined as of the Agreement Date. No securities
of the Company are readily tradable on an established securities market or otherwise (within the meaning of Section 280G and the regulations promulgated thereunder) such that the Company is
ineligible to seek Stockholder approval in a manner that complies with Section 280G(b)(5) of the Code.

(v) The Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) materially complied with their obligations under any law relating to all sales, use, value added, goods and services and similar
Taxes (“VAT”), (ii) collected all material VAT required to be collected and (iii) timely remitted such Taxes to the appropriate Governmental Entity in accordance with Applicable Laws.

(w) The representations made in this Section 2.11 are equally made with respect to any predecessors of the Company and, if applicable, any of its Subsidiaries.

(x) The representations in this Section 2.11 and Section 2.12 constitute the sole representations with respect to Tax matters made by the Company. No representation is made as
to the use or availability of any net operating loss, tax credit, tax basis or other Tax asset of the Company in any taxable period or portion thereof beginning after the Closing Date. The
representations in this Section 2.11 are not intended to serve as representations for Taxes attributable to any Tax periods (or portions thereof) beginning after the Closing Date (except with
respect to the representations set forth in Section 2.11(f), Section 2.11(i), Section 2.11(k) and Section2.11(q)).

2.12 Employee Benefit Plans and Employee Matters.

(a) Employee List. Schedule 2.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all current Employees, and correctly reflects the following
information for each current Employee, subject to and in accordance with Applicable Laws: (i) employee ID and date of hire; (ii) job position, primary work location, immigration or visa status
(e.g., type of visa and expiration date), active or inactive status (and if on leave, type of leave and expected date or return), full-time or part-time status, each U.S. Employee’s classification as
either exempt or non-exempt from the hours of work and overtime pay requirements under any Applicable Law, and bargaining unit (if applicable); (iii) annual base
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salary or hourly wage rate, as applicable; and (iv) bonus entitlements, deferred compensation or commission arrangements, severance entitlements, accrued and unused vacation or paid time off,
any other material compensation or employee benefits.

(b) Schedule 2.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all the current Contractors as of the Agreement Date and, for each, such
individual’s primary work location, nature of services provided to the Company, compensation, the initial date of such individual’s engagement, the term of the engagement, prior notice
entitlement and whether such engagement has been terminated by written notice by either party thereto. All Contractors are, and during the past four (4) years, have been, properly classified as
contractors. To the knowledge of the Company, the Company does not have, and during the past four (4) years, has not had, any material Liability with respect to any misclassification of any
Person (including the Contractors) as a contractor.

(c) Schedule 2.12(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all Employee Plans and separately identifies each Employee Plan providing
for (i) a Change in Control Payment, (ii) a potential Post-Signing Severance Obligation, and (iii) any retention payment or obligation that is not a Change in Control Payment, and for clauses (i)
through (iii), each of the individuals entitled to such payments and/or obligations and the amounts associated thereto. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12(c), there are no contractual rights to
receive severance or Change in Control Payments.

(d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries sponsors or maintains any self-funded Employee Plan, including any plan to which a stop-loss policy applies. The Company
has made available to Parent a true, correct and complete copy of each of the Employee Plans and related plan documents (including trust documents, administrative service agreements,
insurance policies or Contracts, employee booklets, summary plan descriptions and other authorizing documents, and any material employee communications relating thereto) and has, with
respect to each Employee Plan that is subject to ERISA reporting requirements, made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of the Form 5500 reports filed for the last three (3)
plan years and all schedules attached thereto and any similar reports required to be filed with any non-U.S. governmental agency. With respect to each Employee Plan, the Company has made
available to Parent accurate and complete copies, to the extent applicable, of the following: (i) the most recent financial statements and actuarial or other valuation reports prepared with respect
thereto; (ii) the most recent Internal Revenue Service determination, opinion or advisory letter and any pending request for such a letter; (iii) the three (3) most recent nondiscrimination tests
performed under the Code; and (iv) all material correspondence within the past three (3) years to or from any Governmental Entity relating to any Employee Plan. Any Employee Plan intended
to be qualified under the Tax laws or similar Applicable Laws in other jurisdictions fulfills all applicable requirements for such qualification and to the knowledge of the Company, no facts or
circumstances exist that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Employee Plan. Each Employee Plan intended to be “qualified” within the meaning of
Section 401(a) of the Code and has received a favorable determination, opinion or advisory letter from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to each such Employee Plan as to its qualified
status under the Code.

(e) None of the Employee Plans promises or provides medical or other welfare benefits to any person following retirement or other termination of employment other than as
required under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”), or similar Applicable Law for which the covered individual pays the full cost of
coverage, and each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has complied with the requirements of COBRA and any such similar Applicable Law, as applicable. There has been
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no “prohibited transaction” (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, whether or not subject to ERISA, and not exempt under Section 408 of ERISA and
regulatory guidance thereunder) with respect to any Employee Plan that could reasonably be expected to result in liability to the Company. Each Employee Plan has been administered in
accordance with its terms and in compliance with the requirements prescribed by any and all statutes, rules and regulations (including ERISA and the Code), and each of the Company and its
ERISA Affiliates has performed all obligations required to be performed by it under, is not in default under or in violation of, and has no knowledge of any default or violation by any other party
to, any of the Employee Plans in each case, in all material respects. All contributions required to be made by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to any Employee Plan have been made on or
before their due dates and a reasonable amount has been accrued for contributions to each Employee Plan for the current plan years (and no further contributions will be due or will have accrued
thereunder as of the Closing Date, other than contributions accrued in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice after the Balance Sheet Date as a result of the operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries after the Balance Sheet Date). No Employee Plan is or has ever been covered by, and neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred or could incur any
Liability under Part 3 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 or 430 of the Code. Each Employee Plan can be amended, terminated, replaced or otherwise
discontinued after the Closing without Liability to Parent or Merger Sub (other than ordinary administrative expenses typically incurred in a termination event), all subject to Applicable Law.
With respect to each Employee Plan subject to ERISA as either an employee pension benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA or an employee welfare benefit plan within the
meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA, each of the Company and its ERISA Affiliates has prepared in good faith and timely filed all requisite governmental reports (which were true, correct and
complete as of the date filed), including any required audit reports, and has properly and timely filed and distributed or posted all notices and reports to Employees required to be filed,
distributed or posted with respect to each such Employee Plan. No suit, administrative proceeding, action, litigation or claim has been brought, or to the knowledge of the Company, is
threatened, against or with respect to any such Employee Plan, including any audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service or United States Department of Labor.

(f) Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is a party to, or has made any contribution to or otherwise incurred any obligation under, any “multiemployer plan” as such
term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA or any “multiple employer plan” as such term is defined in Section 413(c) of the Code or any “multiple employer welfare arrangement,” within the
meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA.

(g) Neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates has (i) ever been an employer in relation to, participated in or had any liability (whether prospective, contingent or otherwise)
to or in respect of a Non-U.S. Plan constituting a defined benefit pension program or scheme or (ii) otherwise entered into any contractual arrangements, or given any promises or commitments,
relating to providing defined benefit pension benefits to employees or officers (or former employees or officers) pursuant to any plan, program, agreement or arrangement that would constitute a
Non-U.S. Plan. If required under Applicable Law to be funded and/or book-reserved, such Non-U.S. Plan is funded and/or book-reserved, as appropriate, to the extent so required by Applicable
Law.

(h) The Company and its Subsidiaries, for the past three (3) years, have been and are in material compliance with all Applicable Law and Contracts respecting employment,
termination of employment, enforcement of labor laws, discrimination in employment, equal opportunity, pay equity, labor standards, collective bargaining, human rights, accessibility,
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sexual harassment and other forms of harassment, terms and conditions of employment, notice to Employees regarding employment terms, employee benefits, worker classification (including
the proper classification of workers as contractors), engagement of Contractors, wages, withholding of Taxes, pay slips, hours of work, overtime hours, meal and rest periods, misclassification,
working during rest days, employee leave laws, occupational safety and health and employment practices, COVID-19, workers’ compensation, immigration, including the Immigration Reform
and Control Act and, with respect to each Employee Plan, (i) the applicable health care continuation and notice provisions of COBRA and the regulations (including proposed regulations)
thereunder; (ii) the applicable requirements of the Family Medical and Leave Act of 1993 and the regulations (including proposed regulations) thereunder; (iii) the applicable requirements of the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the regulations (including proposed regulations) thereunder; (iv) the applicable requirements of the Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990, as amended and the regulations thereunder; (v) the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended; (vi) the applicable requirements of the Women’s Health and
Cancer Rights Act of 1998 and the regulations (including proposed regulations) thereunder; (vii) the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and (viii) the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, or any amendment to each such act, or any similar provisions of state law, in each case of clauses (i) through (viii), including similar Applicable Laws for Employees
located outside of the United States. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any Liability with respect to any misclassification of: (i) any Employee leased from another employer,
(ii) any Employee currently or formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages or (iii) any Contractor. To the knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is
engaging in, and during the past three (3) years, has engaged in, any unfair labor practice. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable for any material arrears of wages,
compensation, Taxes, or any penalties or other sums for failure to comply with any Applicable Law. There are no controversies pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened,
between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and any of their respective Employees or Contractors, which controversies have or would reasonably be expected to result in a Legal Proceeding.
The Company and its Subsidiaries have satisfied any pre-signing legal or contractual requirement to provide notice to, or to enter into any consultation procedure with, any Labor Organization in
connection with the execution of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(i) To the knowledge of the Company, in the last three (3) years, (i) no allegations of illegal discrimination, violence, sexual harassment or misconduct or other harassment have
been made against any Employee at the level of manager or above, and (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries have not entered into any settlement agreements with a current or former officer,
employee or independent contractor of the Company or its Subsidiaries related to allegations of illegal discrimination, violence, sexual harassment or misconduct, or other harassment by an
Employee at the level of manager or above.

(j) The Company has made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of each of the following: (i) all forms of offer letters (and any individual offer letters that
materially deviate from them); (ii) all forms of employment agreements, notice of employment terms, if relevant, termination and severance agreements (and any individual agreements that
materially deviate from such forms); (iii) all forms of agreements with Contractors; (iv) all forms (and any individual agreements that materially deviate from such forms) of confidentiality, non-
competition, non-solicitation, or inventions agreements between, on one hand, Employees or Contractors and, on the other hand, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (and a true, correct and
complete list of Employees, Contractors and/or others not subject thereto); and (v) any collective bargaining agreement, or any other Contract with any
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labor or trade union, works council, employee representative body, labor organization or other representative of employees (collectively, “Labor Organization”).

(k) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement or Contract with any Labor Organization (collectively, “CBA”).
No CBA is being negotiated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any duty to bargain with any Labor Organization. There are no
Labor Organizations representing, and to the knowledge of the Company, there is no such group purporting to represent, or seeking to represent, any Employees. To the knowledge of the
Company, there are no activities or proceedings of any Labor Organization to organize Employees. There is no current or pending, and for the past three (3) years, has not been, any labor
dispute, strike or work stoppage against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Company has one been threatened. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries
nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any of their respective Representatives has committed any illegal or unfair labor practice in connection with the conduct of the Business, and there is no
charge or complaint pending against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by the National Labor Relations Board or any comparable Governmental Entity pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened.

(l) To the knowledge of the Company, no Employee is in violation of any material term of any employment agreement, non-competition agreement or any restrictive covenant
to a former employer relating to the right of any such Employee to be employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. No Contractor is in violation of any term of any non-competition
agreement or any restrictive covenant to a former employer or client relating to the right of any such Contractor to be providing services to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. No Employee
has given written notice to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of an intent to terminate his or her employment and, to the knowledge of the Company, no Employee intends to terminate his
or her employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The employment of each of the Employees is “at will” (except for non-U.S. Employees located in a jurisdiction that does not
recognize the “at will” employment concept) and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any obligation to provide more than thirty (30) days’ written notice prior to terminating the
employment of any of their respective Employees (except for non-U.S. Employees located in a jurisdiction with different termination requirements).

(m) In the past three (3) years, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any acts that would trigger obligations under the Worker Adjustment Retraining
Notification Act of 1988, as amended (the “WARN Act”), and any similar state or local law or similar Applicable Law outside of the United States. Neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries has caused any of the Employees to suffer an “employment loss” (as defined in the WARN Act or other similar Applicable Law) during the ninety (90)-day period immediately
preceding the Agreement Date.

(n) None of the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, the performance of obligations hereunder or thereunder, the consummation of the
Transactions, any termination of employment or service and any other event in connection therewith or subsequent thereto will, individually or together or with the occurrence of some other
event (whether contingent or otherwise), (i) result in any payment or benefit (including severance, unemployment compensation, golden parachute, bonus or otherwise) becoming due or payable,
or required to be provided, to any current or former director, Employee or Contractor (other than payment of the applicable portion of the Aggregate Consideration to any such director,
Employee or Contractor with respect to shares
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of Capital Stock, Company RSUs and Warrants of the Company held by them as of the Closing); (ii) increase the amount or value of any benefit or compensation otherwise payable or required
to be provided to any current or former director, Employee or Contractor; (iii) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, vesting or funding of any such benefit or compensation; (iv) result
in the forgiveness in whole or in part of any outstanding loans made by the Company to any current or former director, Employee or Contractor; (v) result in the triggering or imposition of any
restrictions or limitations on the rights of the Company to amend or terminate any Employee Plan or (vi) entitle the recipient of any payment or benefit to receive a “gross up” payment for any
income or other Taxes that might be owed with respect to such payment or benefit (including pursuant to Section 4999 or Section 409A of the Code).

(o) There are no controversies pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, between the Company and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any Employee or
Contractor, on the other; and no investigation, inspection, review, complaint or Legal Proceeding by any Governmental Entity or Employee with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries in
relation to the employment of any individual is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor has the Company or any of its Subsidiaries received any written notice from any
Governmental Entity indicating an intention to conduct the same.

(p) Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has a formal plan, commitment or proposal, whether legally binding or not, and neither the Company nor any of its
ERISA Affiliates has made any commitment to Employees, to create any additional Employee Plan or modify or change any existing Employee Plan that would affect any Employee, or director
or consultant, of the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates. No events have occurred or are expected to occur with respect to any Employee Plan that would cause a material change in the cost
of providing the benefits under such plan or would cause a material change in the cost of providing for other liabilities of such plan.

2.13 Interested Party Transactions.  To the knowledge of the Company, none of the officers and directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the Key Employees, the Executing
Stockholders the other Employees, the other Securityholders and the immediate family members of any of the foregoing, (a) has any direct or indirect ownership, participation, royalty or other
interest in, or is an officer, director, employee of or consultant or contractor for any firm, partnership, entity or corporation that competes with, or does business with, or has any contractual
arrangement with, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (except with respect to any interest in less than 5% of the stock of any corporation whose stock is publicly traded) or (b) is a party to, or
otherwise directly or indirectly interested in, any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its assets is bound, except for normal
compensation for services as an officer, director or employee thereof and for Contracts relating to the grant of Company Equity Awards or issuance of shares of Capital Stock to such Persons.

2.14 Insurance.  The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain the policies of insurance and bonds set forth in Schedule 2.14 of the Company Disclosure Letter. Schedule 2.14 of the
Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the name of the insurer under each such policy and bond, the type of policy or bond, the coverage amount and any applicable deductible as of the Agreement
Date as well as all material claims made under such policies and bonds since inception. The Company has made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of all such policies of
insurance and bonds issued at the request or for the benefit of the Company. There is no material claim pending under any of such policies or bonds as to which coverage has been questioned,
denied or disputed by the underwriters of such policies or bonds. All premiums due and payable under all such policies and bonds have been timely paid and the Company and
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its Subsidiaries are otherwise in material compliance with the terms of such policies and bonds. All such policies and bonds remain in full force and effect, and the Company has no knowledge of
any threatened termination of, or material premium increase with respect to, any of such policies.

2.15 Books and Records.  The Company has made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of (a) all documents identified on the Company Disclosure Letter, (b) the
Organizational Documents, (c) the minute books containing written records of all proceedings, consents, actions and meetings of the Board of Directors, committees of the Board of Directors and
Stockholders, (d) the Stockholders register, journal and other records reflecting all share issuances and transfers and all stock options and warrant grants and agreements of the Company and (e) all
Authorizations. There has not been any material violation of any of the provisions of the Organizational Documents, including all amendments thereto, and  the Company has not taken any action
that is inconsistent in any material respect with any resolution adopted by the Stockholders or the Board of Directors. The books, records and accounts of the Company and its Subsidiaries (a) are
true, correct and complete in all material respects, (b) have been maintained in accordance with reasonable business practices on a basis consistent with prior years and (c) accurately and fairly
reflect in all material respects all of the transactions and dispositions of the assets and properties of the Company.

2.16 Material Contracts.

(a) As used herein, the term “Material Contract” means any of the following Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of their
respective assets is bound:

(i) any Contract (other than an Employee Plan) providing for payments in excess of $400,000 since January 1, 2020, by or to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or
under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has made or received such payments);

(ii) each Contract with a top fifty (50) customer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by monthly recurring revenue for the nine (9)-month period ended September
30, 2021 that remains in effect as of the Agreement Date (each, a “Significant Customer”);

(iii)each Contract with a top twenty-five (25) vendor or supplier of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by spend for the nine (9)-month period ended September 30,
2021 that remains in effect as of the Agreement Date (each, a “Significant Supplier”);

(iv)any Contract in excess of $400,000 since January 1, 2020, with any dealer, distributor or similar arrangement providing for the grant of rights to reproduce, license,
market, advertise or sell Company Products;

(v) (A) any joint venture Contract, (B) any Contract that involves a sharing of revenues, profits, cash flows, expenses or losses with other Persons and (C) any Contract
that involves the payment of royalties to any other Person;

(vi)any Contract (A) with any of its officers, directors, Employees or Contractors (including any employment, individual consulting, severance, termination, retention,
change in control, bonus or other similar Contract) or stockholders or any Person known by the Company to be a member of their immediate families, other than employee offer letters or
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consulting agreements which are terminable at will without Liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, employee invention assignment and confidentiality agreements substantially on the
Company’s standard form and Option, Company RSU and Warrant grant and exercise agreements on the Company’s standard form or (B) with any Person with whom the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries does not deal at arm’s length;

(vii) any Contract pursuant to which any other party is granted exclusive rights or “most favored party” rights of any type or scope with respect to any of the
Company Products, Company Owned Intellectual Property or Company Owned Data;

(viii) any Contract that prohibits, restricts or impairs, or would be reasonably expected to do any of the foregoing immediately after and giving effect to the Merger,
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective successors or assigns or their respective Affiliates from (A) engaging or participating, or competing with any other Person, in any
line of business, market or geographic area with respect to the Company Products or the Company Owned Intellectual Property, or to make use of any Company Owned Intellectual Property,
Company Owned Data or Private Data including any grants by the Company of exclusive rights or licenses or (B) selling, distributing or manufacturing any products or services or to purchase or
otherwise obtain any Software, components, parts or services;

(ix)any standstill or similar agreement containing provisions prohibiting a third party from purchasing Equity Interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or assets
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise seeking to influence or exercise control over the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(x) any Inbound Licenses;

(xi)any Outbound Licenses;

(xii) any Company Data Agreement (other than Inbound Licenses and Outbound Licenses);

(xiii) any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to a covenant not to sue or enjoin, a covenant to sue or enjoin last, or
pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries agrees to transfer or sell ownership rights in or with respect to any Company Owned Intellectual Property, Company Owned Data or
Private Data;

(xiv) any Contracts relating to the membership of, or participation by, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in, or the affiliation of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries with, any standards settings body, research consortium or other industry standards group or association;

(xv) any development agreement that pertains to offshored or outsourced development by or for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or pursuant to which
Intellectual Property is jointly developed;

(xvi) any confidentiality, secrecy or non-disclosure Contract, other than any such Contract entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice;
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(xvii) any Contract containing any indemnification, warranty, support, maintenance or service obligation on the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other
than any such Contact entered in the ordinary course of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(xviii) any settlement or coexistence agreement;

(xix) any Contract pursuant to which rights of any third party are triggered or become exercisable, or under which any other consequence, result or effect arises, in
connection with or as a result of the execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger or the other Transactions, either alone or in combination with any other event;

(xx) any Contract or plan (including any stock option, merger and/or share bonus plan) relating to the sale, issuance, grant, exercise, award, purchase, repurchase
or redemption of any shares of Capital Stock or any other securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or otherwise acquire any such
shares, other securities or options, warrants or other rights therefor, except for the repurchase rights disclosed on Schedule 2.16(a)(xxi) of the Company Disclosure Letter;

(xxi) any Contract with any Labor Organization or any collective bargaining agreement or similar Contract with its Employees;

(xxii) any trust indenture, mortgage, promissory note, loan agreement or other Contract for the borrowing of money, any currency exchange, commodities or other
hedging arrangement or any leasing transaction of the type required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP;

(xxiii) any Contract of guarantee, surety, assumption or endorsement of, or any similar commitment with respect to, the Liabilities or indebtedness of any other
Person;

(xxiv) any Contract for capital expenditures in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate;

(xxv) any Contract pursuant to which the Company is a lessor or lessee of any machinery, equipment, motor vehicles, office furniture, fixtures or other personal
property;

(xxvi) any Leases;

(xxvii) any Contract to acquire any fee interest in real property;

(xxviii) any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has acquired a business or entity, or assets of a business or entity, whether by way of
merger, consolidation, purchase of stock, purchase of assets, license or otherwise, or any Contract pursuant to which it has any material ownership interest in any other Person;

(xxix) any Contract with any Governmental Entity, any Authorization, or any Contract with a government prime contractor, or higher-tier government subcontractor,
including any indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contract, firm-fixed-price contract, schedule contract, blanket purchase agreement, or task or delivery order (each, a “Government Contract”);
and
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(xxx) each other Contract of the Company or its Subsidiaries not entered into in the ordinary course of business or that is material to the business, financial
condition results of operations of the Company taken as a whole.

(b) Schedules 2.16(a)(i) through 2.16(a)(xxx) of the Company Disclosure Letter set forth a true, correct and complete list of each Material Contract in effect on the Agreement
Date. True, correct and complete copies of all Material Contracts have been made available to Parent. All Material Contracts are in written form. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries and,
to the knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto has performed all of the material obligations required to be performed by it and is entitled to all benefits under, and is not alleged to be
in default in respect of, any Material Contract. Each of the Material Contracts is in full force and effect and constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the Company or a Subsidiary
thereof, as applicable, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto, subject only to the effect, if any, of applicable bankruptcy and other similar Applicable Laws affecting the
rights of creditors generally and rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. There exists no breach, default or event of default or event,
occurrence, condition or act, with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, with respect to any other parties thereto, that, with the giving of notice,
the lapse of time or the happening of any other event or condition, would reasonably be expected to (i) become a breach or default or event of default under any Material Contract or (ii) give any
third party (A) the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under any Material Contract, (B) the right to a rebate, chargeback, refund, credit, penalty or change in delivery schedule under
any Material Contract, (C) the right to accelerate the maturity or performance of any obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any Material Contract or (D) the right to cancel,
terminate or modify any Material Contract. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the Company’s knowledge, other communication regarding any
actual or possible violation or breach of, default under, or intention to cancel or modify any Material Contract. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any Liability for renegotiation
of Government Contracts.

2.17 Transaction Fees.  Except as set forth in Schedule 2.17 of the Company Disclosure Letter, no broker, finder, financial advisor, investment banker or similar Person is entitled to any
brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the origin, negotiation or execution of this Agreement or in connection with the Transactions.

2.18 Environmental, Health and Safety Matters. 

(a) To the Company’s knowledge, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has been and is in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental, Health and Safety
Requirements in connection with the ownership, use, maintenance or operation of its business or assets or properties. Except in compliance with Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements
or in a manner that would not reasonably be expected to result in material Liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, to the Company’s knowledge, no Hazardous Materials are present
in, on, or under any Facilities. There are no pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened written allegations by any Person that the properties or assets of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries are not, or that its business has not been conducted, in compliance with all Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements. To the Company’s knowledge, neither the Company nor
any of its Subsidiaries has retained or assumed any Liability of any other Person in connection with any Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements. To the Company’s knowledge, there are
no past or present facts, circumstances of conditions that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any material

    -44-



Liability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements.

(b) The Company has made available to Parent a copy of all studies, audits, assessments or investigations containing material information concerning compliance with, or
Liability or obligations under, Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets that are in the
possession or control of the Company, each of which is identified in Schedule 2.18 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

2.19 Anti-Corruption Law.

(a) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or their respective officers, directors, Employees, or to the knowledge of the Company, any Representative or any other Person
while acting for or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any distributor agent, sales intermediary or other third party) has, during the past five (5) years, (i) violated any
Anti-Corruption Law or (ii) unlawfully offered, given, promised to give or authorized the giving of money or anything of value, to any Government Official or to any other Person, or taken any
action in furtherance thereof: (A) for the purpose of (I) corruptly or improperly influencing any act or decision of any Government Official in their official capacity, (II) inducing any
Government Official to do or omit to do any act in violation of their lawful duties, (III) securing any improper advantage or (IV) inducing any Government Official to use his or her respective
influence with a Governmental Entity to affect any act or decision of such Governmental Entity in order to, in each case of clauses (I) through (IV), assist the Company in obtaining or retaining
business for or with, or directing business to, any Person or (B) in a manner that would constitute or have the purpose or effect of public or commercial bribery, acceptance of, or acquiescence in,
extortion, kickbacks or other unlawful or improper means of obtaining business or any advantage.

(b) None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of their respective directors or Employees (acting in their capacities as such) have,
during the past five (5) years, (i) had knowledge of any allegation, whistleblower complaint, or internal investigation involving the Company or its Subsidiaries related to potential or actual
noncompliance with any fraud, money laundering, or Anti-Corruption Law, (ii) been charged or been convicted of violating any Anti-Corruption Law or (iii) been subjected to any investigation
or proceeding by a Governmental Entity for potential corruption, fraud, money laundering, or violation of any Anti-Corruption Law.

(c) The Company and its Subsidiaries have established internal controls and procedures reasonably designed to promote and achieve compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, during the past five (5) years, conducted or initiated an internal investigation, made a voluntary or other disclosure to a Governmental Entity,
or been the subject of any legal proceedings or governmental investigation or inquiries or received any notice or citation from any Governmental Entity related to alleged violations of applicable
criminal law including anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. No governmental official and no close relative or family member of a
governmental official (i) holds or will hold an ownership or other economic interest, direct or indirect in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) serves as a Representative of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) will receive any economic benefit from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of the Merger or any of the other Transactions.
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2.20 Export Control Laws.  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has, for the past five (5) years, conducted its export transactions in accordance in all respects with applicable
provisions of U.S. export and re-export controls, including the Export Administration Act and Regulations, the Foreign Assets Control Regulations, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations
and other controls administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce and/or the U.S. Department of State and all other applicable import/export controls in other countries in which the Company
and its Subsidiaries conduct business (collectively, “Export Control Laws”). Without limiting the foregoing, for the past five (5) years: (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained all
export and import licenses, license exceptions and other consents, notices, waivers, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings with any Governmental Entity required
under the Export Control Laws for (A) the export, import and re-export of products, services, Software and Technologies and (B) releases of technologies and software to foreign nationals located
in the United States and abroad (collectively, “Export Approvals”), (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries have been and are in compliance with the terms of all applicable Export Approvals,
(iii) there are no pending Legal Proceedings or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened claims against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to such Export Approvals,
(iv) there are no actions, conditions or circumstances pertaining to the export transactions of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any future
claims and (v) no Export Approvals for the transfer of export licenses to Parent or the Company are required, except for such Export Approvals that can be obtained without material cost. The
Company has made available to Parent all correspondence with any Governmental Entity with respect to the export control classification of any product. The Company has not, during the past five
(5) years, exported or re-exported, directly or knowingly indirectly, in violation of any Export Control Law either to: (A) any countries that are subject to U.S. export restrictions or export
restrictions under any other applicable Export Control Law; and (B) any end-user who the Company knows or has reason to know will utilize any product or technology in the design,
development, or production of nuclear, chemical or biological weapons.

2.21 Customers and Suppliers.

(i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any outstanding material disputes concerning its products and/or services with any Significant Customer, and to
the knowledge of the Company, there is no present, material dissatisfaction on the part of any Significant Customer. Each Significant Customer is listed on Schedule 2.21(i) of the Company
Disclosure Letter. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.21(i), as of the date of this Agreement, none of the Significant Customers have terminated any existing Contracts with the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries, other than in the ordinary course of business. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the Company’s knowledge, other
communication from any Significant Customer that such Significant Customer has changed, modified, amended, reduced or terminated, or intends to change, modify, amend, reduce or terminate,
its relationship as currently conducted with the Company or such Subsidiary in a manner that is, or is reasonably likely to be, materially adverse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether
after the Closing or otherwise.

(b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any outstanding material disputes concerning its products and/or services with any Significant Supplier, and to the
knowledge of the Company, there is no present, material dissatisfaction on the part of any Significant Supplier. Each Significant Supplier is listed on Schedule 2.21(b) of the Company
Disclosure Letter. To the knowledge of the Company, none of the existing Contracts with any Significant Supplier will be terminated as a result of the Transactions, such that all current
customers party to such existing Contracts may continue the use of such Significant Supplier
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through such customer’s current contractual term at the current (or improved) terms and conditions. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the
Company’s knowledge, other communication from any Significant Supplier that such Significant Supplier has changed, modified, amended or reduced, or intends to change, modify, amend or
reduce, its relationship as currently conducted with the Company or such Subsidiary (or the Surviving Corporation or Parent) in a manner that is, or is reasonably likely to be, adverse to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or the Surviving Corporation or Parent), whether after the Closing or otherwise.

2.22 Scope of Representations and Warranties.  The Company expressly agrees and acknowledges, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, that except as expressly set forth in Article 3,
none of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Affiliates has made or makes any representation or warranty, expressed or implied, whatsoever in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction
Documents or the Transaction. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in no event shall the foregoing acknowledgements and disclaimers be deemed to exclude Liability for
Fraud in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the Transaction.

Article 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Subject to the disclosures set forth in the disclosure letter of Parent delivered to the Company concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the “Parent Disclosure Letter”, and
together with the Company Disclosure Letter, the “Disclosure Letters”), Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing
(except to the extent such representations and warranties refer to a specific date and then as of such date only), as follows:

3.1 Organization and Standing.  Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Merger Sub is a limited liability
company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware.

3.2 Capital Structure.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists solely of (i) 5,000,000 shares of Parent Preferred Stock and (ii) 200,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock. A total of (i)
zero shares of Parent Preferred Stock and (ii) 114,287,814 shares of Parent Common Stock are issued and outstanding as of November 26, 2021. There are no shares of Parent Capital Stock
owned by Parent, held by Parent in Parent’s treasury or held by any of Parent’s Subsidiaries. The Company has never declared or paid any dividends on any shares of Parent Capital Stock. There
is no Liability for dividends accrued or declared and unpaid by Parent Capital Stock. All issued and outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock and all Equity Interests of Parent and each of its
Subsidiaries are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and are free of any Encumbrances and preemptive rights. All shares of Parent Common Stock and Parent Equity
Awards and each of its Subsidiaries were issued in compliance with all Applicable Law and all requirements set forth in the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other equivalent organizational
documents, as applicable, of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries.

(b) As of November 26, 2021, Parent has reserved 91,261,134 shares of Parent Common Stock for issuance to employees, non-employee directors and contractors of
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Parent pursuant to the Parent Equity Plans, of which 1,099,399 shares of Parent Common Stock are subject to outstanding and unexercised Parent Options, 7,694,401 shares of Parent Common
Stock are subject to outstanding Parent RSUs, 1,211,526 shares of Parent Common Stock are subject to outstanding Parent PSUs and 11,119,279 shares of Parent Common Stock remain
available for issuance thereunder. All equity awards granted by Parent were granted in compliance with all Applicable Law and all requirements set forth in the Parent Equity Plans and
organizational documents of Parent. As of the Agreement Date, except for the Parent Convertible Senior Notes which are convertible into 14,116,044 shares of Parent Common Stock, there are
no authorized, issued or outstanding Convertible Securities.

(c) Other than 10,275,326 shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to the terms of the outstanding awards under the Parent Equity Plans and the Parent Convertible
Senior Notes as of November 26, 2021, there are no authorized, issued or outstanding Equity Interests of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (A) obligating Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the
knowledge of Parent, such Securityholder, to issue, deliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold, repurchased or redeemed, any Equity Interests of Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries, or (B) obligating Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to grant, extend, accelerate the vesting and/or repurchase rights of, change the price of, or otherwise amend or enter into any
Equity Interests of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

(d) All shares of Parent Common Stock ever repurchased or redeemed by Parent were repurchased or redeemed in compliance with: (i) all Applicable Laws; and (ii) all
requirements set forth in all applicable organizational documents of Parent.

3.3 Authority; Noncontravention. 

(a) Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate or company (as applicable) power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents to which it is (or will be a party), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transactions, including, in the case of Merger Sub, the Merger, and in
the case of Parent, the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock. The execution and delivery by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it
is (or will be) a party, the performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions, including, in the case of Merger Sub, the Merger, and in the case of
Parent, the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub. This Agreement and the Transaction
Documents to which it is (or will be) a party have been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub, and constitute (or will constitute) the valid and binding obligation of Parent and
Merger Sub, enforceable against Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject only to the effect, if any, of (i) applicable bankruptcy and other similar Applicable Laws affecting
the rights of creditors generally and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. Merger Sub is classified as a disregarded entity for U.S.
federal income tax purposes.

(b) The execution and delivery by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be a party) does not, and the
performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions, including, in the case of Merger Sub, the Merger, and in the case of Parent, the issuance of
shares of Parent Common Stock, will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, or default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give rise to a right of
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termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss of a benefit under, or require any consent, approval or waiver from or notice to any Person pursuant to, (i) any provision of the
articles or certificate of incorporation, as applicable, or bylaws or other equivalent organizational or governing documents of Parent and Merger Sub, in each case as amended to date, or
(ii) Applicable Law, except where such conflict, violation, default, termination, cancellation or acceleration, individually or in the aggregate, would not be material to Parent’s and Merger Sub’s
ability to consummate the Merger or to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement.

(c) Except for the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of the State of Delaware or as required by applicable United States federal and state securities laws or the
Antitrust Laws, no consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Entity or any other Person is required by or with respect to Parent
and Merger Sub in connection with the execution and delivery by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents to which it is (or will be) a party, the
performance of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of the Transactions, including, in the case of Merger Sub, the Merger, and in the case of Parent, the issuance of
shares of Parent Common Stock, that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger or any of the other Transactions.

3.4 Valid Issuance of Shares.  The shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the Transactions, when issued by Parent in accordance with this Agreement, will be duly
authorized and issued, fully paid and non-assessable and, assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties made in the Accredited Investor Questionnaires, issued in compliance with
all applicable United States federal and state securities laws.

3.5 SEC Reports and Financial Statements. 

(a) Since January 1, 2019, Parent has timely filed with or furnished to the SEC all forms, reports, schedules, statements and other documents required to be filed or furnished
under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including (i) its Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021, respectively, (ii) its
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended June 30, September 30 and December 31 for each of 2019 and 2020, and the quarterly periods ended June 30, 2021 and
September 30, 2021, (iii) all proxy statements relating to meetings of stockholders of Parent since January 1, 2019 (in the form mailed to stockholders) and (iv) all other forms, reports and
registration statements required to be filed by Parent with the SEC since January 1, 2019 (collectively, the documents described in clauses (i)-(iv) above, as amended (whether filed before, on or
after the date of this Agreement), the “Parent SEC Documents”). As of their respective dates, the Parent SEC Documents, including the financial statements and schedules provided therein or
incorporated by reference therein, (x) did not at the time they were filed, or, if amended, as of the date of such amendment, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (y) complied in all
material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, the Securities Act and SOX, as the case may be.

(b) The March 31, 2021 consolidated balance sheets of Parent (the “Parent Balance Sheet”) and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss)
and changes in equity and cash flows (including, in each case, the related notes, where applicable), as reported in Parent’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
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March 31, 2021 filed with the SEC under the Exchange Act, and the unaudited consolidated balance sheets of Parent and its Subsidiaries (including the related notes, where applicable) as of
September 30, 2021 and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss) and changes in equity and cash flows for the six (6)-month period then ended
(in each case including the related notes, where applicable), as reported in Parent’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2021 filed with the SEC under the
Exchange Act, fairly present, and the financial statements to be filed by Parent with the SEC after the date of this Agreement will fairly present (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements,
to recurring audit adjustments normal in nature and amount), in all material respects in accordance with GAAP, the consolidated financial position and the results of the consolidated operations,
cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity of Parent and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates or for the respective fiscal periods therein set forth; each of such statements (including the
related notes, where applicable) complies, and the financial statements to be filed by Parent with the SEC after the date of this Agreement will comply, with applicable accounting requirements
and with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto; and each of such statements (including the related notes, where applicable) has been, and the financial statements to
be filed by Parent with the SEC after the date of this Agreement will be, prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied during the periods involved, except as indicated in the notes
thereto or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q. The books and records of Parent and its Subsidiaries have been, and are being, maintained in accordance with GAAP
and any other applicable legal and accounting requirements and reflect only actual transactions. Moss Adams LLP is an independent public accounting firm with respect to Parent and has not
resigned or been dismissed as independent public accountants of Parent as a result of or in connection with any disagreements with Parent on a matter of accounting principles or practices,
financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure.

(c) There are no outstanding comments from, or unresolved issues raised by, the SEC with respect to Parent SEC Documents, and no enforcement action has been initiated
against Parent relating to disclosures contained in any Parent SEC Documents.

(d) Since January 1, 2019, (i) neither Parent nor any director, officer, employee, auditor, accountant or representative of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has received or
otherwise had or obtained knowledge of any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies
or methods of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting controls, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that either of Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices and (ii) no attorney representing Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, whether or not employed thereby, has reported
evidence of a material violation of United States federal and state securities laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation by Parent, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their officers, directors,
employees or agents, to the board of directors of Parent or any committee thereof or to any director or officer of Parent.

(e) Except as disclosed in the audited financial statements (or notes thereto) included in Parent’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2021 (the “Parent
Balance Sheet Date”), and in the financial statements (or notes thereto) included in subsequent Parent SEC Documents filed by Parent prior to the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its
consolidated Subsidiaries had at the Parent Balance Sheet Date, or has incurred since that date, any liabilities or obligations (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) of any nature,
except liabilities, obligations or contingencies that (i) are accrued or reserved against in the financial statements of Parent included in the Parent SEC Documents filed prior
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to the date hereof, or reflected in the notes thereto, (ii) were incurred since Parent Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices and that, individually
or in the aggregate, have not had and would not be reasonably likely to have or result in a Material Adverse Effect on Parent or (iii) relate to this Agreement or the Transactions contemplated
hereby.

3.6 Sufficient Funds.  Parent has, and will have at the Closing, sufficient funds to permit Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
including the payment in full of the shares of Parent Common Stock or cash amounts payable to the Stockholders in accordance with Article 1 and all other costs and expenses required to be paid
at the Closing.

3.7 Reliance.

(a) Parent and Merger Sub have conducted their own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, results of operations, prospects, condition (financial or
otherwise) or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and acknowledge that they have been provided adequate access to the personnel, properties, assets, premises, books and records, and
other documents and data of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such purpose. Parent and Merger Sub acknowledge and agree that: (i) in making their decision to enter into this Agreement and
to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Parent and Merger Sub have relied solely upon their own investigation and the express representations and warranties of the Company and
its Subsidiaries set forth in Article 2 (including the related portions of the Disclosure Schedule) and disclaim reliance on any other representations and warranties of any kind or nature express or
implied (including, but not limited to, any relating to the future or historical financial condition, results of operations, assets or liabilities or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries).

(b) In connection with the due diligence investigation of the Company and its Subsidiaries by Parent, Merger Sub and their Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers,
employees, agents, representatives or advisors, Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives and advisors have received
and may continue to receive after the date hereof from the Company and its Subsidiaries and their Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives and
advisors certain estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information, as well as certain business plan information, regarding the Company and its Subsidiaries and their
business and operations. Parent and Merger Sub hereby acknowledge that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking
statements, as well as in such business plans, and that Parent and Merger Sub will have no claim against the Company and its Subsidiaries, or any of their Affiliates, stockholders, directors,
officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors, or any other Person, with respect thereto, including as to the accuracy or completeness of any information provided.
Accordingly, Parent and Merger Sub hereby acknowledge and agree that, except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in Article 2, none of the Company, its Subsidiaries or
any of their Affiliates, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, representatives or advisors has made or is making any express or implied representation or warranty with
respect to such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking statements or business plans.

3.8 Scope of Representations and Warranties.  Parent and Merger Sub expressly agree and acknowledge, on behalf of themselves and their Affiliates, that (a) except as expressly set
forth in Article 2, the Company has not made any representation or warranty, expressed or
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implied, whatsoever in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the Transaction and (b) neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates shall have, or be subject to, any
Liability to Parent or Merger Sub resulting from the distribution to Parent or Merger Sub, or Parent’s or Merger Sub’s use of, any information, documents or material made available to Parent or
Merger Sub in any “data rooms,” management presentations or in any other form in expectation of or negotiation of this Agreement, the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated
hereby. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in no event shall the foregoing acknowledgements and disclaimers be deemed to exclude Liability for Fraud.

Article 4
CONDUCT PRIOR TO THE CLOSING

4.1 Conduct of the Business of the Company.  During the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with
Article 7 and the Closing, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to:

(a) conduct the Business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice except or as required under Applicable Law or to the extent expressly provided otherwise herein or
as consented to in writing by Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) (any requirement under Section 4.1, 4.2 or 4.3 for a consent in writing by Parent may
be satisfied also by consent in e-mail by a duly authorized representative of Parent (the “Parent Contact Person”) and in compliance with Applicable Law);

(b) (i) pay and perform all of its debts and other obligations (including Taxes) when due (giving effect to any applicable extensions), (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts
consistent with past practice and policies to collect accounts receivable when due and not extend credit outside of the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iii) sell the
products and services of the Company and its Subsidiaries consistent with past practice as to discounting, license, service and maintenance terms, incentive programs, revenue recognition and
other terms and (iv) use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with past practice and policies to preserve intact its present business organizations, keep available the services of its present
officers and Employees and preserve its relationships with customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors, licensees, and others having business dealings with it;

(c) promptly following gaining knowledge of the same, notify Parent of any change, occurrence or event that, individually or in the aggregate with any other changes,
occurrences and events, would reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries cause any of the conditions to the Closing set forth in Article 6 not to be
satisfied;

(d) ensure that each of its Contracts (other than with Parent) entered into, subject to Section 4.2(d) below, after the Agreement Date will not require the procurement of any
consent, waiver or novation or provide for any material change in the obligations of any party thereto in connection with, or automatically terminate as a result of the consummation of, the
Transactions, and shall give reasonable advance notice to Parent prior to allowing any Material Contract or material right thereunder to lapse or terminate by its terms; and

(e) maintain each of the Facilities in a manner consistent with past practices.

Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent or Merger Sub, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the
operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the
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Merger. Prior to the Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, control and supervision over its business operations.

4.2 Restrictions on Conduct of the Business of the Company.  Without limiting the generality or effect of the provisions of Section 4.1, except as expressly set forth on Schedule 4.2,
during the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, do,
cause or permit any of the following (except to the extent expressly provided otherwise herein or as consented to in writing by Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed) or as required by Applicable Law):

(a) Organizational Documents. Cause, propose or permit any amendments to the Organizational Documents or equivalent organizational or governing documents.

(b) Merger; Reorganization. Merge or consolidate itself with any other Person or adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, consolidation, restructuring,
recapitalization or other reorganization.

(c) Dividends; Changes in Capital Stock. Declare or pay any dividends on or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or other property) in respect of any of its
Equity Interests, except by the Company’s Subsidiaries to make such payments or distributions required by and in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, or split, combine or
reclassify any of its Equity Interests or issue or authorize the issuance of any Equity Interests or other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for its Equity Interests, or repurchase or
otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of its Equity Interests except from former Employees, non-Employee directors and Contractors in accordance with agreements providing for the
repurchase of shares in connection with any termination of service.

(d) Material Contracts. (i) Enter into, amend or modify any (A) vendor or supplier Contract that would (if entered into, amended or modified prior to the Agreement Date)
constitute a Material Contract or (B) Contract requiring a novation or consent in connection with the Merger or the other Transactions, (ii) violate, terminate, amend or modify (including by
entering into a new Contract with such party or otherwise) or waive any of the material terms of any of its Material Contracts or (iii) enter into, amend, modify or terminate any Contract or
waive, release or assign any rights or claims thereunder, which if so entered into, modified, amended, terminated, waived, released or assigned would be reasonably likely to (A) materially
adversely affect the Company (or any of its Affiliates) in any material respect, (B) impair the ability of the Company or the Seller Agent to perform their respective obligations under this
Agreement or the Transaction Documents or (C) prevent or materially delay or impair the consummation of the Merger or any of the other Transactions; provided, that this Section 4.2(d) shall be
subject to the provisions of Section 5.5.

(e) Issuance of Equity Interests. Issue, deliver or sell or authorize or propose the issuance, delivery or sale of, or purchase or propose the purchase of, any Equity Interests, or
enter into or authorize or propose to enter into any Contracts of any character obligating it to issue any Equity Interests, other than: (i) the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the
conversion of shares of Preferred Stock that are outstanding as of the Agreement Date, (ii) the issuance of shares of Capital Stock pursuant to the exercise of Options and settlement of Company
RSUs that are outstanding as of the Agreement Date, in accordance with the applicable Company Equity Plan and Company Equity Award’s terms as in effect on the date of this Agreement, (iii)
the issuance of shares of Capital Stock pursuant to the exercise of the Warrants that are outstanding as of the Agreement Date and (iv) the repurchase of any shares
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of Capital Stock from former Employees, non-Employee directors and Contractors in accordance with Contracts providing for the repurchase of shares in connection with any termination of
service.

(f) Employees; Contractors. (i) Hire or engage any additional officers, employees or any independent contractors, except for any hiring or engagement of an individual with an
annual compensation not in excess of $125,000 (provided, that no such newly hired or engaged Persons shall have any binding right to severance), (ii) other than for cause, terminate the
employment or engagement of any Employee or any Contractor whose annual compensation is in excess of $125,000, or induce or encourage any such Employee or Contractor to resign from the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) change the title, office or position, or materially change the responsibilities of any Employee or any Contractor (provided, that no such modification shall
result in any increase in the level of severance available to such individual pursuant to the Company’s severance policies), (iv) enter into, materially amend, materially modify or extend the term
of any employment or engagement agreement with any officer, Employee or Contractor, (v) subject to Section 4.2(q), modify any terms of compensation or benefits for, or increase the
compensation or benefits of, any officer, Employee or Contractor (including, but not limited to, any broad-based or annual increases in compensation and equity awards), except that such
modifications (excluding any broad-based or annual increases in compensation and equity awards) may be permitted for any officer, Employee or Contractor whose annual compensation is less
than $125,000 (provided, that no such modification shall result in any increase in the level of severance available to such individual pursuant to the Company’s severance policies), (vi) waive the
restrictive covenant obligations of any Employees or Contractors, (vii) enter into or negotiate any CBA, except as required by Law, or (viii) add any new members to the Board of Directors.

(g) Loans and Investments. Make any loans or advances (other than routine expense advances to officers and Employees consistent with past practice) to, or any investments in
or capital contributions to, any Person, or forgive or discharge in whole or in part any outstanding loans or advances, or prepay any indebtedness for borrowed money.

(h) Intellectual Property. (i) Transfer or license, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, from any Person any rights to any Intellectual
Property or data, or (ii) transfer or license to any Person any rights to any Company Owned Intellectual Property or Company Data, other than nonexclusive licenses to Company Products
entered in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iii) publish or make available any Company Owned Intellectual Property as Open Source Materials, unless so required by
a Contract entered into prior to the Agreement Date that has been disclosed on Schedule 2.9(o)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter or (iv) transfer or provide a copy of any Company Source
Code to any Person (including any Employee or Contractor or any employee or contractor of any commercial partner of the Company), other than providing access to Company Source Code to
Employees and Contractors involved in the development of Company Owned Intellectual Property on a need to know basis in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

(i) Registered Intellectual Property. Abandon, cancel or commit any action or omission regarding the relinquishment of rights to any Company Registered Intellectual Property.

(j) Divestitures; Dispositions. Sell, lease, license, divest or otherwise dispose or permit to lapse of any of its material businesses, product lines or tangible or intangible assets, or
enter into any Contract with respect to the foregoing, other than sales and
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nonexclusive licenses of Company Products in the ordinary course of business consistent with its past practice.

(k) Data Protection. Publish any new Privacy Policy or amend any Privacy Policy, or enter into any new Privacy Commitment or Company Data Agreement, except (i) to
comply with Privacy Laws or (ii) as otherwise directed or required by a Governmental Entity.

(l) Indebtedness. Incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness.

(m) Payment of Obligations. (i) Pay, discharge or satisfy (A) any Liability to any Person who is an officer, director or Stockholder of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(other than compensation due for services as an officer or director in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice) or (B) any claim or Liability arising other than in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice, other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction of Liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Financial Statements and Transaction Expenses,
(ii) defer payment of any accounts payable other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or (iii) give any discount, accommodation or other concession other than in
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, in order to accelerate or induce the collection of any receivable.

(n) Capital Expenditures. Make any capital expenditures, capital additions or capital improvements that are individually in excess of $10,000 or in the aggregate in excess of
$100,000.

(o) Insurance. Materially change the amount of, or terminate, any insurance coverage, other than policy renewals in the ordinary course of business.

(p) Termination or Waiver. Cancel, release or waive any claims or rights held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(q) Employee Plans; Pay Increases. Except as required by the terms of an Employee Plan in effect as of the date hereof, (i) establish, adopt, amend or terminate any Employee
Plan or any plan, agreement, program, policy or other arrangement that would be an Employee Plan if it were in existence as of the date of this Agreement (other than renewals of such plans that
are health and welfare plans in the ordinary course of business where such renewals do not materially increase the cost to the Company of providing such plans or benefits thereunder), or amend
any compensation, benefit, entitlement, grant or award provided or made under any Employee Plan, (ii) pay any bonus or special remuneration to any Employee or non-Employee director or
Contractor, (iii) declare, pay, commit to, approve, or undertake any obligation of any other kind for the payment by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of a bonus, commission or additional
salary, compensation or employee benefits to any such Person (including under any profit sharing, management by objective, incentive, gainsharing, competency or performance plan), (iv)
change the salaries, wage rates, fees or other compensation (of any type of form) of any officer, Employee or Contractor (including, but not limited to, any broad-based or annual increases in
compensation and equity awards), except that such changes (excluding any broad-based or annual increases in compensation and equity awards) may be permitted for any officer, Employee or
Contractor whose annual compensation is less than $125,000 (provided, that no such modification shall result in any increase in the level of severance available to such individual pursuant to the
Company’s severance policies), (v) accelerate, or permit the acceleration of, the vesting or exercisability of any equity awards or other Equity Interests of any Person, (vi) make any discretionary
cash payments to
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Employees including any severance payments not required pursuant to a pre-existing Contract, (vii) issue any equity compensation awards, (viii) implement any salary increase or bonus plan,
(ix) create any retention-related pools of cash, stock or other payments, or (x) agree or promise to do any of the foregoing.

(r) Retention and Severance Arrangements. Grant or enter into (or make any commitment to enter into) any Contract providing for the granting of any severance, retention or
termination pay to any Person.

(s) Lawsuits; Settlements. (i) Commence a lawsuit other than (A) for the routine collection of bills, (B) in such cases where the Company in good faith determines that failure to
commence suit would result in the material impairment of a valuable aspect of its business (provided, that the Company consults with Parent prior to the filing of such a suit) or (C) for a breach
of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or (ii) settle or agree to settle any pending or threatened lawsuit or other dispute.

(t) Acquisitions. Acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial portion of the assets of, or by any other manner, any business or
any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof, or otherwise acquire or agree to acquire any assets that are material, individually or in the aggregate,
to the Company or the Business, or enter into any Contract with respect to a joint venture, strategic alliance or partnership.

(u) Taxes. Make or change any election in respect of Taxes, adopt or change any material accounting method in respect of Taxes, prepare or file any federal, state, or foreign
income Tax Return or any other material Tax Return in a manner inconsistent with past practice, file any amendment to a Tax Return, enter into any Tax sharing or similar agreement or closing
agreement, settle any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, or enter into
intercompany transactions giving rise to deferred gain or loss of any kind.

(v) Accounting. Change accounting methods, practices or policies (including any change in depreciation or amortization policies) or revalue any of its assets (including writing
down the value of inventory or writing off notes or accounts receivable otherwise than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), except in each case as required by changes
in GAAP as concurred with its independent accountants.

(w) Real Property. Enter into any agreement for the acquisition (or agreement to acquire), purchase, sale, disposal, transfer, lease (as lessor or lessee), sublease or assignment, of
any real property or Facilities.

(x) Leases. Accelerate, terminate (except to avoid the automatic renewal of the term thereof), renew (including, without limitation, any automatic renewals of the term thereof
with or without notice, and for the avoidance of doubt, the Company shall not permit the automatic renewals of any leases, except as set forth on Schedule 4.2(x) of the Company Disclosure
Letter), waive, release or assign any material rights under, or make a material modification to or cancel any Lease to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is
bound.

(y) Encumbrances. Place or allow the creation of any Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) on any of its properties, except for any Encumbrance securing the
obligations required by and in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement.
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(z) Warranties; Discounts. Materially change the manner in which it provides warranties, discounts or credits to customers.

(aa) Interested Party Transactions. Enter into, amend or otherwise modify any Contract that, if entered into prior to the Agreement Date, would be required to be listed on
Schedule 2.13 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

(ab) Subsidiaries. Take any action that would result in the Company having one or more Subsidiaries (other than Subsidiaries existing on the Agreement Date).

(ac) Other. Take or agree in writing or otherwise to take, any of the actions described in clauses (a) through (bb) in this Section 4.2.

4.3 Notices of Certain Events.  Without limiting the generality of Section 4.2, except as (i) permitted by the terms of this Agreement, (ii) required by Applicable Law or (iii) specified in
Schedule 4.3, during the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, the Company shall promptly notify Parent, and
Parent shall promptly notify the Company, following gaining knowledge, of:

(a) any written notice from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required for the consummation of the Merger, this Agreement (if such consent is not
already stated as required in the Company Disclosure Letter) or the Transaction Documents;

(b) any written notice from any Governmental Entity (i) delivered in connection with the Merger, this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or (ii) indicating that an
Authorization is revoked or about to be revoked or that an Authorization is required in any jurisdiction in which such Authorization has not been obtained, which revocation or failure to obtain
has had or would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or to Merger Sub, as the case may be;

(c) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced or, to their respective knowledge, threatened in writing against, relating to or involving or otherwise
affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or Parent, as the case may be, including ongoing material developments related thereto; and

(d) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of their respective representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement that would reasonably be expected to make the
timely satisfaction of Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.3(a) impossible or unlikely.

Article 5
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS

5.1 Filings and Consents.

(a) Filings. Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall use commercially reasonable efforts to file, as soon as practicable after the Agreement Date, all notices, reports
and other documents required to be filed by such party with any Governmental Entity with respect to the Transactions, and to submit promptly any additional information requested by any such
Governmental Entity. The Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall respond as promptly as practicable to any inquiries or requests received from any state attorney general, antitrust authority or
other Governmental Entity in connection with antitrust or related
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matters. Subject to the confidentiality provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company each shall promptly supply the other with any information which may
be required in order to effectuate any filings (including applications) pursuant to (and to otherwise comply with its obligations set forth in) this Section 5.1(a). Except where prohibited by
Applicable Law or any Governmental Entity, and subject to the confidentiality provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, the Company shall: (i) cooperate with Parent or Merger Sub with
respect to any filings with any Governmental Entity made by Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the Transactions, (ii) subject to the redaction of competitively sensitive information and
not including any documents submitted to the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice in response to Item 4(c) or Item 4(d) of the notification and report form under the HSR
Act, permit Parent or Merger Sub to review (and consider in good faith the views of Parent or Merger Sub in connection with such review) any documents before submitting such documents to
any Governmental Entity in connection with the Transactions, (iii) inform Parent or Merger Sub of any payments, fees or penalties by any Governmental Entity in connection with any such
filings, not make such payment until it has received Parent’s or Merger Sub’s consent thereto (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and (iv) promptly
provide solely to the outside antitrust counsel of Parent and Merger Sub copies of all filings, notices and other documents (and a summary of any oral presentations) (subject to the redaction of
competitively sensitive information at the discretion of Parent or Merger Sub and not including any documents submitted to the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice in
response to Item 4(c) or Item 4(d) of the notification and report form under the HSR Act) made or submitted by the Company with or to any Governmental Entity in connection with the
Transactions, such filings, notices and other documents which shall not be disclosed by such outside counsel to Employees, officers or directors of Parent or Merger Sub unless express
permission is obtained in advance from the Company or its counsel. Except where prohibited by Applicable Law or any Governmental Entity, and subject to the confidentiality provisions of the
Confidentiality Agreement, Parent and Merger Sub shall: (i) cooperate with the Company, the Seller Agent and the Stockholders with respect to any filings with any Governmental Entity made
by the Company, the Seller Agent and/or the Stockholders in connection with the Transactions, (ii) provide the Company and, if after the Closing, the Seller Agent a reasonable opportunity to
review (and consider in good faith any comments of the Company and the Seller Agent in connection with) any documents before submitting such documents to any Governmental Entity in
connection with the Transactions and (iii) promptly provide solely to the outside antitrust counsel of the Company copies of all filings, notices and other documents (and a summary of any oral
presentations) (subject to the redaction of competitively sensitive information at the discretion of the Company and not including any documents submitted to the Federal Trade Commission and
the Department of Justice in response to Item 4(c) or Item 4(d) of the notification and report form under the HSR Act) made or submitted by Parent or Merger Sub with or to any Governmental
Entity in connection with the Transactions, such filings, notices and other documents which shall not be disclosed by such outside counsel to Employees, officers or directors of the Company
unless express permission is obtained in advance from Parent or Merger Sub or their counsel.

(b) Limitations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.4 or elsewhere in this Agreement, none of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries shall have any obligation under this Agreement: (i) to restructure or divest, or agree to restructure or divest (or cause any of its Subsidiaries to restructure or divest, or agree to
restructure or divest), any of its respective businesses, product lines or assets, or to take or agree to take (or cause any of its Subsidiaries to take or agree to take) any other action or to agree (or
cause any of its Subsidiaries to agree) to any limitation or restriction on any of its respective businesses, product lines or assets, (ii) to contest any Legal Proceeding relating to

    -58-



the Transactions or (iii) to take any other actions (including such actions described in clause (i)) that would require material expenditures or reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on
the benefits expected to be derived by Parent from the Transactions.

5.2 No Solicitation.

(a) During the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, the Company shall not, and shall not
authorize or permit any of its Subsidiaries, Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives to, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate, entertain, consider, accept or agree to any inquiries,
proposals, offers or indications of interest relating to any Restricted Activity or (ii) participate with any Person in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any Person any
information with respect to, or otherwise directly or indirectly cooperate with, facilitate or encourage, any effort or attempt by any person to seek or agree to, any Restricted Activity. The
Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease all discussions with any Person (other than Parent) concerning any Restricted Activity.

(b) The Company shall promptly notify Parent in writing if at any time during this period, the Company receives an offer (whether written or oral), indication of interest,
proposal or inquiry from another Person concerning any Restricted Activity. The Company shall keep Parent fully informed of the status and details of, and any modification to, any such inquiry,
expression of interest, proposal or offer and any correspondence or communications related thereto (to the extent not prohibited by a nondisclosure agreement in effect as of the Agreement
Date).

5.3 Confidentiality; Public Disclosure.

(a) The Company and Parent acknowledge that Parent and the Company have previously executed a Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2021
(the “Confidentiality Agreement”), which shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. The Company shall and shall cause its Affiliates and its Representatives to treat the
terms of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents, and the fact of this Agreement and the Transaction Document’s existence, as “Confidential Information” thereunder . The Company (and its
Affiliates and its Representatives) shall not disclose any of the terms of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents (including the economic terms) or any non-public information about any
other party hereto to any other Person without the prior written consent of the other party hereto about which such non-public information relates. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
foregoing, the Company shall be permitted to disclose any and all terms to (i) the Company’s Representatives and Affiliates (each of whom is subject to a similar obligation of confidentiality),
(ii) the Indemnifying Parties and their Representatives and Affiliates to the extent required by Applicable Law or in order for the Company to satisfy its obligations under this Agreement (each
of whom is subject to a similar obligation of confidentiality), (iii) any Governmental Entity or administrative agency to the extent necessary or advisable in compliance with Applicable Law
(including in connection with the filing of any notifications regarding the transaction described herein under the Antitrust Laws or in responding to any request for documents or information
made by a Governmental Entity investigating the transactions described herein under the Antitrust Laws) and (iv) if such party is an investment fund, to such party’s limited partners or other
pecuniary interest holders who are bound in writing to confidentiality obligations at least as restrictive as those in this Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement and solely to the extent
required pursuant to the terms of its limited partnership agreement or similar agreement. With respect
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to the Seller Agent, the term “Confidential Information” shall include information relating to the Merger, this Agreement or the Transaction Documents received by the Seller Agent after the
Closing or relating to the period after the Closing. The Seller Agent shall hold in confidence all Confidential Information furnished to it. The above confidentiality undertaking of a party shall
not apply to information that becomes public through public disclosure by Parent or Merger Sub. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement to the contrary,
following Closing, the Seller Agent shall be permitted to disclose information as required by Applicable Law or to employees, advisors or consultants of the Seller Agent and to the Indemnifying
Parties, in each case who have a need to know such information, provided, that such persons either (i) agree to observe the terms of this Section 5.3(a) or (ii) are bound by obligations of
confidentiality to the Seller Agent of at least as high a standard as those imposed on the Seller Agent under this Section 5.3(a).

(b) As soon as commercially practicable after the Agreement Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall issue an initial press release and communications to Employees,
customers, suppliers and channel partners in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and/or the Transactions, with each of the foregoing communications in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent. In connection with the foregoing, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall cooperate with Parent with respect to any follow-on communications to
such entities.

(c) Except for the communications pursuant to Section 5.3(b), the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not issue any press release or other public communications relating to the
terms of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the Transactions or use Parent’s or Merger Sub’s name or refer to Parent or Merger Sub directly or indirectly in connection with Parent’s
or Merger Sub’s relationship with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the Transactions in any media interview,
advertisement, news release, press release or professional or trade publication, or in any print media, whether or not in response to an inquiry, without the prior written approval of Parent or
Merger Sub, unless required by Applicable Law (in which event a satisfactory opinion of counsel to that effect shall be first delivered to Parent prior to any such disclosure) or by the terms of
this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in the Confidentiality Agreement, Parent or Merger Sub may make such public communications regarding this
Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the Transactions as they may determine is reasonably appropriate.

5.4 Commercially Reasonable Efforts.  Each of the parties hereto agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts, and to cooperate with each other party hereto, to take, or cause to be
taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary as they relate to such party’s obligations in this Agreement, to consummate and make effective, in the most
expeditious manner practicable, the Merger and the other Transactions applicable to such party, including the satisfaction of the respective conditions set forth in Article 6, applicable to such party,
and including to execute and deliver such other instruments and do and perform such other acts and things as may be reasonably necessary for effecting completely the consummation of the
Merger and the other Transactions applicable to such party.

5.5 Third Party Consents; Notices.

(a) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain prior to the Closing, and deliver to Parent at or prior to the Closing in a form reasonably acceptable to
Parent, all consents, waivers and approvals and to make any required notice under each Contract listed or described on Schedule 2.3(b)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter (and any
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Contract entered into after the Agreement Date that would have been required to be listed or described on Schedule 2.3(b)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter if entered into prior to the
Agreement Date).

(b) The Company shall give all notices (in a form acceptable to Parent) and other information required to be given to the Employees, any collective bargaining unit representing
any group of Employees, and any applicable government authority under the WARN Act, the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Code, COBRA and other Applicable Law in
connection with the Transactions.

5.6 Access to Information.

(a) During the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, to the extent not prohibited by Applicable
Law, (i) the Company shall afford Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Representatives reasonable access to (A) the Company’s properties, personnel, books, Contracts and records and,
(B) all other information in the Company’s possession concerning the business, properties and personnel of the Company as Parent or Merger Sub may reasonably request , and (ii) the Company
shall provide to Parent, Merger Sub and their Representatives (to the extent readily available) true, correct and complete copies of the Company’s (A) internal financial statements, (B) Tax
Returns, Tax elections and, at the request of Parent or Merger Sub, all other records and workpapers relating to Taxes (including any opinions and written advice given to the Company), (C) a
schedule of any deferred intercompany gain or loss with respect to transactions to which the Company has been a party and (D) receipts for any Taxes paid to foreign Tax Authorities.

(b) Subject to compliance with Applicable Law, from the Agreement Date until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, the Company shall confer from
time to time as reasonably requested by Parent or Merger Sub with one or more Representatives of Parent or Merger Sub to discuss any material changes or developments in the operational
matters of the Company and the general status of the ongoing operations of the Company.

(c) No information obtained by Parent or Merger Sub during the pendency of the Transactions in any investigation pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall affect or be deemed to
modify, supplement or amend any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement, obligation or condition set forth herein.

5.7 Closing Cooperation; Preparation and Delivery of Financial Statements. The Company shall, as promptly as practicable, provide Parent with all information concerning the
Company and its management, operations and financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case, reasonably requested or required by Parent in connection with the Financing,
the Registration Rights Agreement or the Form 8-K filed following the date of this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall, when necessary, obtain the necessary consents
of all auditors who have provided audit reports in connection with any of the Financial Statements which may be required by Parent for the preparation and filing of documents and reports with the
SEC.

5.8 Spreadsheet.

(a) The Company shall prepare and deliver to Parent, in accordance with Section 5.13, a spreadsheet (the “Spreadsheet”) in the form provided by Parent prior to the
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Closing and reasonably acceptable to Parent, which Spreadsheet shall be dated as of the Closing Date and shall set forth all of the following information (in addition to the other required data
and information specified therein), as of immediately prior to the Effective Time:

(i) the names of all the Securityholders and (to the extent known prior to receipt of such Securityholder’s completed Letter of Transmittal) their respective street and
email addresses, telephone numbers, Bank Information and status as either an Accredited Holder or Non-Accredited Holder;

(ii) the number, class and series of shares of Capital Stock held by such Persons and the respective certificate numbers (broken out on a certificate-by-certificate basis);

(iii)the grant date or purchase date of any shares of Capital Stock;

(iv)the number of shares of Common Stock subject to other Company Equity Awards held by each Securityholder (broken out on a Company Equity Award-by-Company
Equity Award basis), the type of award and the vesting status and schedule, including any acceleration, severance or expiration terms, and the name of the Company Equity Plan under which the
grant was made;

(v) for each share of Common Stock acquired through the exercise of an Option granted under a Company Equity Plan, (A) the grant date of such Option and (B)
whether such Option qualified as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code as of the exercise date;

(vi)the number of shares of Capital Stock subject to and the exercise price per share in effect for each Warrant (broken out on a Warrant-by-Warrant basis);

(vii) the calculation of the Aggregate Consideration, Aggregate Series A Prime Preferred Consideration, Aggregate In-the-Money Warrant Exercise Price,
Aggregate Preferred Exchanged Securities Consideration, Closing Stock Consideration, Closing Company RSU Consideration, Fully Diluted Common Shares, Per Common Share Consideration,
Per Series A Prime Preferred Share Consideration, Per Series A Prime Preferred Warrant Consideration, Common Stock Exchange Ratio, Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio and unpaid
Estimated Transaction Expenses;

(viii) for each Securityholder, such Securityholder’s Loan Repayment Amount, if any;

(ix)for each Stockholder, the portion of the Closing Stock Consideration payable to such Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.7(a) (both on an aggregate and certificate-by-
certificate basis);

(x) for each holder of Company RSUs, as applicable, the portion of the Closing Company RSU Consideration payable to such Company RSU holder pursuant to Section
0 (both on an aggregate and Company RSU-by-Company RSU basis);

(xi)for each holder of Series A Preferred Prime Warrants, the portion of the Closing Stock Consideration payable to such holder pursuant to Section 1.8(b) (both on an
aggregate and Warrant-by-Warrant basis);
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(xii) the Pro Rata Share, the Pro Rata Share of the Indemnity Holdback and the Pro Rata Share of the Adjustment Holdback Amount of each Indemnifying Party, in
each case expressed as dollar amounts and as percentages;

(xiii) the Pro Rata Share of the Seller Agent Expense Amount of each Indemnifying Party, in each case expressed as dollar amounts and as percentages; and

(xiv) a separate column which indicates whether each holder will be paid by the Paying Agent, the Exchange Agent or through Company payroll.

(b) The Company shall prepare and deliver to Parent and each of the Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent a spreadsheet (or “flat file” or similar document) containing the
information reasonably required by the Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent in order for the Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent to perform its respective duties as the Paying Agent and the
Exchange Agent for the Transactions.

5.9 Expenses.  Whether or not the Merger is consummated, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions (including Transaction Expenses)
shall be paid by the party incurring such expense, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. The costs and expenses incurred by the Exchange Agent and the Paying Agent shall be
shared equally by Parent and the Seller Agent (on behalf of the Securityholders).

5.10 Employees and Contractors.

(a) Parent shall, and shall cause any of its applicable Affiliates to use commercially reasonable efforts to, (i) waive all limitations as to any preexisting condition or waiting
periods in its applicable welfare plans with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to each Continuing Party under any welfare plans that such Continuing Employee may
be eligible to participate in after the Closing and (ii) credit each Continuing Party for any copayments, deductibles, offsets or similar payments made under an Employee Plan during the plan
year that includes the Closing for purposes of satisfying any applicable copayment, deductible, offset or similar requirements under the comparable plans of Parent or any of its Affiliates. As of
the Closing, Parent shall, and shall cause its applicable Affiliates to give each Continuing Party full credit for purposes of eligibility, vesting and determination of level of benefits under any
employee benefit and compensation plans or arrangements (excluding for any purpose benefits under defined benefit plans, retiree medical plans or frozen or grandfathered benefit plans)
maintained by Parent or its applicable Affiliates that such Continuing Party may be eligible to participate in after the Closing for such Continuing Party’s service with the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries to the same extent that such service was credited for purposes of any comparable Employee Plan immediately prior to the Closing, except, in each case, to the extent such treatment
would result in duplicative benefits.

(b) This Section 5.10(b) shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the parties to this Agreement, and nothing in this Section 5.10(b), express or implied,
shall confer upon any other Person, including any Continuing Party, any third-party beneficiary rights or other rights or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Section
5.10(b). Nothing contained herein, express or implied, shall be construed to establish, amend or modify any Employee Plan or any other plan, program, policy, practice or arrangement. The
parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the terms set forth in this Section 5.10(b) shall not create any right in any Continuing Party or any other Person to continued
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employment with the Company, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates.

(c) Neither the Company prior to the Closing nor the Indemnifying Parties at or after the Closing shall be liable for the payment of any severance obligations (or any Taxes
thereon) with respect to any Employee who is terminated (i) on or after the Agreement Date but prior to the Closing at Parent’s written request or (ii) after the Closing by Parent including,
without limitation, pursuant to the agreements set forth on Schedule 2.12(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter (any such obligations which become due, collectively, the “Post-Signing
Severance Obligations”).

5.11 Termination of Employee Plans

. Effective as of the day immediately preceding the Closing Date and contingent on the Closing, the Company shall adopt resolutions by the Board of Directors to terminate, or partially
terminate if requested by Parent within three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, each Employee Plan scheduled on Section 5.11 of the Company Disclosure Letter (each, a “Designated
Employee Plan”) unless Parent provides written notice to the Company no later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date that such Employee Plans shall not be terminated) and any
other Employee Plans requested by Parent to be terminated. The Company shall provide Parent with evidence that such Designated Employee Plans have been terminated (or partially terminated)
(effective no later than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date) pursuant to resolutions of the Board of Directors. The form and substance of such resolutions shall be subject to review
and approval of Parent. In the event that termination (or partial termination) of any of the Designated Employee Plans would reasonably be anticipated to trigger liquidation charges, surrender
charges or other fees, then the Company shall take such actions as are necessary to reasonably estimate the amount of such charges and/or fees and provide such estimate in writing to Parent.

5.12 Labor Notices and Consultations; WARN.

(a) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall satisfy, and cooperate in good faith with Parent regarding, any pre-Closing legal or contractual
requirements or obligations to provide notice to, or to enter into any consultation procedure with, any Employee or any Labor Organization that is representing any Employee.

(b) The Company and its Subsidiaries shall refrain from causing any Employees to suffer an “employment loss” (as defined in the WARN Act or any similar state or local
Applicable Law) in the ninety (90) days prior to the Closing Date. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall cooperate with and assist Parent and Parent’s agents in preparing and delivering any
notices required or potentially required pursuant to the WARN Act or any similar state, local or foreign Applicable Law to effectuate any terminations of employment of any Employees as of or
following the Closing Date; provided, however, that any such notices provided before the Closing Date shall indicate that the terminations shall be contingent upon the consummation of the
Merger.

5.13 Certain Closing Certificates and Documents.  The Company shall prepare and deliver to Parent, a draft of each of the Closing Financial Certificate and the Spreadsheet not later than
seven (7) Business Days prior to the Closing Date and a final version of the foregoing not later than two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date. In the event that Parent notifies the Company
that there are reasonably apparent errors in the drafts of the Closing Financial Certificate or Spreadsheet delivered not later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing
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Date, Parent and the Company shall discuss such errors in good faith and the Company shall correct any such matters that it agrees, in good faith, are errors prior to delivering final versions of the
same in accordance with this Section 5.13. Without limiting the generality or effect of the foregoing or Section 5.6, the Company shall provide to Parent, together with the Closing Financial
Certificate and Spreadsheet, such supporting documentation, information and calculations as are reasonably necessary for Parent to verify and determine the calculations, amounts and other
matters set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate and Spreadsheet.

5.14 Tax Matters. 

(a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries shall timely file or cause to be timely filed when due (taking into account all extensions properly obtained) all Tax Returns
required to be filed by or with respect to the Company on or prior to the Closing Date and shall remit any Taxes required to be paid in connection with the filing of such Tax Returns, and, to the
extent applicable, all such Tax Returns shall be prepared and filed in a manner consistent with past practice and this Agreement (unless otherwise required by Applicable Law).

(b) Parent shall prepare or cause to be prepared and timely file or cause to be timely filed in a manner reasonably consistent with past practice and this Agreement (unless
otherwise required by Applicable Law) all Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries for Pre-Closing Tax Periods that are due after the Closing Date. Parent shall submit each such Tax
Return to the Seller Agent for the Seller Agent’s review and comment at least 15 days prior to the due date thereof, and Parent shall, and shall cause the Company to, prior to filing any such Tax
Return, make any revisions to such Tax Returns as are reasonably requested by the Seller Agent, to the extent consistent with Applicable Law.

(c) The parties intend that the Merger will be treated as a taxable transaction for U.S. federal and applicable state and local Tax purposes (the “Intended Tax Treatment”). The
parties shall prepare and file all Tax Returns in a manner consistent with the Intended Tax Treatment, unless otherwise required by Applicable Law.

(d) The Company shall cause the provisions of any Tax Sharing Agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party to be terminated on or before the Closing
Date.

(e) The parties shall cooperate with each other and provide each other all relevant information as reasonably necessary for the parties to satisfy the reporting obligations under
Section 6043A of the Code or similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Applicable Law.

(f) Parent shall promptly notify the Seller Agent in writing upon receipt by Parent or any affiliate of Parent (including the Surviving Corporation) of notice or commencement of
any claims, assessments, audits or similar proceeding with respect to Taxes to the extent relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period for which any of the Securityholders would be liable under this
Agreement (any such claim, assessment, audit or similar event, a “Tax Matter”); provided, that Parent’s failure to promptly notify the Seller Agent shall not relieve the Securityholders from their
responsibility to indemnify Parent and the Company hereunder unless the Seller Agent or the Securityholders are prejudiced thereby. Following the Closing, Parent shall have the right in its sole
discretion to control the conduct of, and to settle, any Tax Matter relating to income or material non-income Taxes and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep the Seller Agent
informed of material developments relating to such Tax Matter. Parent shall not settle any material Tax Matter without the prior written consent of the Seller
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Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. In the event of any conflict between this Section 5.14(f) and Section 8.7, this Section 5.14(f) shall control.
Parent shall have the right in its sole discretion to control the conduct of, and to settle, any other Tax Matter and any claims, assessments, audits or similar proceedings with respect to Taxes
relating in whole or in part to any Post-Closing Tax Period or relating to Taxes other than income Taxes or material non-income Taxes.

(g) Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Seller Agent, the Securityholders and the Company shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any of the others, in
connection with the filing of Tax Returns and any Legal Proceeding with respect to Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any Tax Matter). Such cooperation shall include
the retention and (upon request therefor) the provision of records and information reasonably relevant to any such Legal Proceeding and making employees available on a mutually convenient
basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, the Seller Agent and the Securityholders agree to retain all books
and records in their possession or control with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to any Taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until
expiration of the statute of limitations of the respective Taxable periods, to abide by all applicable record retention laws, regulations and agreements entered into with any Tax Authority.

(h) In the case of any Tax with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is assessed with respect to a Straddle Tax Period, the amount of such Taxes based on or
measured by income, sales, use, receipts or similar items (other than property and ad valorem Taxes) for the portion of the Straddle Tax Period ending on the Closing Date shall be determined
based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date (including, for the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of determining Taxable income arising under
Sections 951 and/or 951A of the Code, an interim closing of the books of any relevant controlled foreign corporation), and the amount of any other Taxes and any exemptions, allowances or
deductions determined for the entire Straddle Tax Period, that in each case relates to the portion of the Straddle Tax Period ending on and including the Closing Date shall equal the amount of
such Tax, exemption, allowance, or deduction for the entire Straddle Tax Period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the portion of the Straddle Tax Period
ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the total number of days in such Straddle Tax Period.

(i) On or after the Closing Date, except as required by Applicable Law, none of the Parent, the Company or their respective Affiliates shall, without the prior written consent of
the Seller Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed: (i) amend or otherwise modify any Tax Return for a Pre-Closing Tax Period or (ii) make, revoke, or
change any Tax election for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries applicable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period. None of the Parent, the Company or their respective Affiliates shall make or cause to
be made with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries an election described in Sections 338 or 336 of the Code or any comparable elections under state, local or foreign Tax law.

(j) After the Closing Date, if the aggregate value of all refunds or other amounts received or receivable by the Parent, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of Taxes
of the Company or its Subsidiaries paid prior to the Closing or in respect of any Pre-Closing Tax Period (including any credits attributable to the activities of the Company and its Subsidiaries in
a Pre-Closing Tax Period and any interest thereon paid by a Tax Authority) exceeds $100,000, such amount shall be for the account of the Securityholders, and shall be
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paid by the Parent to the Securityholders promptly upon receipt. No such amounts shall be used or applied to pay Taxes which may be due in respect of any subsequent period. The allocation of
a refund for a Straddle Tax Period shall be determined consistently with the principles of Section 5.14(h).

(k) All Transfer Taxes shall be borne fifty percent (50%) by the Parent and fifty percent (50%) by the Securityholders.

(l) Parent acknowledges and agrees that (a) all Transaction Deductions shall be allocated to the Pre-Closing Tax Period, (b) no portion of the amounts payable pursuant to
Section 1.7 hereof shall be separate consideration for, or allocable to, any covenants not to compete or other restrictive covenants entered into by a Securityholder hereunder, and (c) seventy
percent (70%) of any success-based fees paid by the Company shall be deducted under Rev. Proc. 2011-29 and shall be a Transaction Deduction that falls in the taxable period ending on the
Closing Date and the remaining thirty percent (30%) of such fees shall be treated as capitalized expenses arising in the taxable period ending on the Closing Date.

5.15 Repayment of Closing Indebtedness.  At least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Parent a payoff letter with regard to each item of
Closing Indebtedness set forth on Schedule 5.15, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent: (a) setting forth the amounts required to pay off in full on the Closing Date, the Closing
Indebtedness owing to such creditor (including the outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and prepayment and other penalties) and wire transfer information for such payment; and (b)
providing that, upon payment of such amounts, (A) all obligations of the Company and its Subsidiaries in respect of such Closing Indebtedness, including all guaranties or other credit support
provided by any of them, shall be forever and irrevocably satisfied and discharged in full, (ii) the documentation governing such Closing Indebtedness shall be immediately terminated in full
(other than any provisions which, by their express terms, survive such termination), (iii) all Encumbrances on any assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries securing any obligations thereunder
shall be forever and irrevocably released and discharged in full, without any further action on the part of any holders of such Encumbrances, (iv) the holders of such Encumbrances shall agree to
take all actions reasonably requested by the Company and its Subsidiaries to evidence, record or otherwise give effect to such releases and (v) the holders of any possessory collateral subject to
such Encumbrances shall agree to return to the Company and its Subsidiaries such possessory collateral (each, a “Payoff Letter”).

5.16 Financing. 

(a) During the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, Parent may, at its sole option, consummate
and obtain financing (the “Financing”).

(b) At Parent’s sole cost and expense, the Company shall provide, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to provide, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each of its
and their respective Representatives to provide, all cooperation reasonably requested by Parent in connection with the Financing (provided that such requested cooperation does not unreasonably
interfere with the ongoing operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall require any cooperation
to the extent that it would require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to (i) waive, breach or amend any terms of this Agreement, (ii) pay or agree to pay any commitment or other fees or pay,
incur or reimburse any expenses prior to the Effective Time (except, in each case, to the extent subject to concurrent reimbursement by Parent) or (iii)
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approve the execution or delivery of any document or certificate in connection with the Financing (or any alternative financing) prior to the Effective Time.

(c) Each of Parent and Merger Sub acknowledges and agrees that prior to the Effective Time, the Company and, at all times, its Affiliates and its and their respective
Representatives shall not have any responsibility for, or incur any liability to any Person under, the Financing or any other financing that Parent and Merger Sub may raise in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Parent shall, promptly upon request by the Company, reimburse the Company for all documented and reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses
incurred by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Representatives in connection with the cooperation contemplated by this Section 5.16.  Parent shall indemnify and hold harmless each of
the Company, the Company’s Subsidiaries, and their respective Representatives, from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, claims, costs, expenses, interest, awards, judgments and
penalties suffered or incurred by them in connection with their cooperation and assistance obligations set forth in this paragraph and any information utilized in connection therewith, in each
case, except to the extent any of the foregoing was suffered or incurred as a result of gross negligence or willful misconduct, or material breach of this Agreement, by the Company, any of the
Company’s Subsidiaries or the Company’s Representatives.

(d) Parent acknowledges and agrees that it is not a condition to the Closing or to the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement that Parent obtain financing of
any kind, whether or not for, or related to, the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and reaffirms its obligation to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
irrespective and independently of the availability of the Financing or any alternative financing, subject only to the satisfaction of the applicable conditions set forth in Article 6.

5.17 Director and Officer Indemnification.

(a) If the Merger is consummated, then until the sixth (6 ) anniversary of the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to fulfill and honor in all respects the
obligations of the Company to its present and former directors and officers determined as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “D&O Indemnitees”) pursuant to indemnification
agreements with the Company in effect on the Agreement Date and set forth on Schedule 2.16(a)(xviii) of the Company Disclosure Letter and pursuant to the Organizational Documents, in
effect on the Agreement Date (the “D&O Indemnification Provisions”), with respect to claims arising out of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Closing that are asserted after the
Agreement Date; provided, that the Surviving Corporation’s obligations under this Section 5.17 shall not apply to (i) any claim or matter that relates to a willful or intentional breach of a
representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation made by or on behalf of the Company in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the Transactions or (ii) any
claim based on a claim for indemnification made by an Indemnified Party pursuant to Article 8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the D&O Indemnification Provisions, no
D&O Indemnitee shall be entitled to coverage under any Parent director and officer insurance policy or errors and omission policy unless such D&O Indemnitee is separately eligible for
coverage under such policy pursuant to Parent’s policies and procedures and the terms of such insurance policy.

(b) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall purchase tail insurance coverage (the “Tail Insurance Coverage”) for the D&O Indemnitees, which shall provide the D&O
Indemnitees with coverage for six (6) years following the Closing Date. The cost of any Tail Insurance Coverage unpaid as of the Closing Date shall be included as a Transaction Expense.

th
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Parent and Merger Sub shall cause the Company to maintain the Tail Insurance Coverage in full force and effect and continue to honor the obligations thereunder until the sixth (6 ) anniversary
of the Closing Date.

5.18 280G Stockholder Approval. No later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall submit to the Stockholders for approval (in a manner reasonably
satisfactory to Parent), in accordance with the terms of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, any payments and/or benefits that may separately
or in the aggregate, constitute “parachute payments” pursuant to Section 280G of the Code (“Section 280G Payments”) (which determination shall be made by the Company and shall be subject to
review and approval by Parent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), such that such payments and benefits shall not be deemed to be Section 280G Payments,
and prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent notification and documentation reasonably satisfactory to Parent that (a) a vote of the holders of shares of Capital Stock was solicited
in conformance with Section 280G and the regulations promulgated thereunder and the requisite stockholder approval was obtained with respect to any payments and/or benefits that were subject
to the stockholder vote (the “280G Stockholder Approval”) or (b) that the 280G Stockholder Approval was not obtained and as a consequence, that such payments and/or benefits shall not be
made or provided to the extent they would cause any amounts to constitute Section 280G Payments that are “excess parachute payments” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code),
pursuant to the Parachute Payment Waivers that were executed by the affected individuals prior to the vote of the Stockholders pursuant to this Section 5.18. All solicitation documents for the
280G Stockholder Approval shall be subject to advance review and approval by Parent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

5.19 Stockholder Matters.

(a) Immediately following the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to Parent the Required Stockholder Approval pursuant to an irrevocable written consent,
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K (the “Stockholder Written Consent”).

(b) No later than ten (10) Business Days following the receipt by the Company of the Required Stockholder Approval, the Company shall deliver notice to all holders of shares
of Capital Stock pursuant to and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the DGCL and the Organizational Documents, which notice shall include (i) a copy of the notice required
pursuant to applicable provisions of the DGCL, informing such holder that appraisal rights and, if applicable, dissenters’ rights are available with respect to his, her or its shares of Capital Stock
pursuant to applicable provisions of the DGCL, (ii) an information statement regarding the Company, Parent, the terms of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the Transactions and
the unanimous determination of the Board of Directors that this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions contemplated hereby are fair to and in the best interests of the holders of
shares of Capital Stock and (iii) such other information as required by the DGCL (clauses (i) through (iii) collectively, the “Information Statement”). Each party shall provide to the other any
information for inclusion in the preparation of the Information Statement that may be required by Applicable Law and that is reasonably requested by any other party. The Information Statement
shall not contain any statement which, at such time and to the Company’s knowledge, is false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or omit to state any material fact necessary in order
to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not false or misleading. Without limiting the rights and remedies of Parent or any of the other
Indemnified Parties, the Information Statement, including any amendments or supplements thereto, shall be
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subject to review and approval by Parent, which approval shall not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld.

(c) As promptly as practicable after the Agreement Date, the Company shall deliver duly executed and completed accredited investor questionnaires evidencing eligibility to
satisfy the suitability requirements of Regulation D of the Securities Act, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (collectively, the “Accredited Investor Questionnaires”), to each holder of
Capital Stock and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to collect completed and signed questionnaires (including all back up evidence) from such stockholders and provide them to Parent
within ten (10) Business Days of making such request and Parent shall offer each holder of Capital Stock that executes and delivers an Accredited Investor Questionnaire the opportunity to enter
into the Registration Rights Agreement with Parent.

5.20 Management Carveout Plan. No later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Board of Directors shall, in its capacity as Administrator (as defined in the
Management Carveout Plan), adopt resolutions under Section 2(c) of the Management Carveout Plan to effectuate the provisions of this Section 5.20, which such resolutions shall be provided to
Parent for its prior review and comment. Within sixty (60) days after the Closing, Parent shall cause the Carveout Bonuses (as defined in the Management Carveout Plan) to be (a) paid in cash to
the Management Carveout Recipients who are Non-Accredited Holders and (b) delivered in Parent Common Stock to the Management Carveout Recipients who are Accredited Holders, (x)
subject to withholding obligations as set forth in Section 7 of the Management Carveout Plan and (y) with respect to Management Carveout Recipients who are Indemnifying Parties, less such
Indemnifying Parties’ Pro Rata Shares of the Indemnity Holdback Amount, the Adjustment Holdback Amount and the Seller Agent Expense Amount.

5.21 Remaining Contractual Obligations. As of the date hereof, and during the period from the Agreement Date and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and
the Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall have timely paid all amounts that are due and payable on or prior to December 31, 2021, and returned any products for which the Company and
its Subsidiaries would otherwise be charged, pursuant to certain Contracts, as set forth in Schedule 5.21 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

5.22 Employee Releases. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver the release agreements, in a form reasonably satisfactory to Parent, duly executed and
delivered by each of the five (5) current Employees set forth in Schedule 5.22 of the Company Disclosure Letter, at or prior to the Closing. Any Losses of any amount attributable to the failure to
obtain such releases shall be deducted from the Transaction Indemnity Holdback. For the avoidance of doubt, any such Losses shall not be subject to the Deductible set forth in Section 8.3(e), and
any such Third-Party Claims in connection with such Losses may be settled by Parent, without being subject to the Seller Agent’s consent, as an exception to Section 8.7(a).

Article 6
CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

6.1 Conditions to Obligations of Each Party to Effect the Merger.  The respective obligations of each party hereto to consummate the Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction or
waiver in writing at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions:

(a) No Orders. No Order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal or regulatory restraint or prohibition limiting or restricting the Merger, the other
Transactions or Parent’s ownership, conduct or operation of the Business following the Closing
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shall be in effect, and no action shall have been taken by any Governmental Entity seeking any of the foregoing, and no Applicable Law or Order shall have been enacted, entered, enforced or
deemed applicable to the Merger that makes the consummation of the Merger illegal.

(b) Governmental Approvals. Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall have timely obtained from each Governmental Entity set forth on Schedule 6.1(b) all approvals,
waivers and consents, if any, necessary for consummation of, or in connection with, the Merger and the other Transactions.

(i) To the extent that the United Kingdom Competition and Markets Authority (the “CMA”) has exercised jurisdiction over the Merger, the respective obligations of
each party hereto to consummate the Transactions shall be conditional upon the CMA confirming that either: (a) it has no further questions at this stage and it does not intend, or no longer intends,
to commence a Phase 1 merger investigation in respect of the Merger; or (b) it will not make a reference of the Merger (or any matter arising therefrom) in accordance with sections 22 or 33 of the
Enterprise Act 2002 to the chair of the CMA for the constitution of a group under Schedule 4 to the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013; or (c) if such a reference takes place, the CMA
has either (i) issued a report concluding that the Merger (or any matter therefrom) may not be expected to result in a substantial lessening of competition within any market or markets in the UK or
(ii) accepted undertakings to remedy, mitigate or prevent any substantial lessening of competition within a market or markets in the UK that may be expected to arise from the Merger (or any
matter therefrom).

(c) Required Stockholder Approval. The Required Stockholder Approval shall have been duly and validly obtained.

(d) No Legal Proceedings. There shall be no Legal Proceeding of any kind or nature pending against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Affiliates, or against the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries or any of its Affiliates brought by a Governmental Entity set forth on Schedule 6.1(b) or a non-antitrust Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction, arising out of, or in
any way connected with, this Agreement, the Transaction Documents, the Merger or any other Transactions (i) challenging or seeking the recovery of a material amount of damages in
connection with the Merger or the other Transactions, (ii) seeking to prohibit or limit the exercise by Parent of any right pertaining to ownership of Equity Interests of the Company or
(iii) seeking to prohibit or limit in any respect the operation by Parent of the Business.

6.2 Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Company.  The obligations of the Company to consummate the Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver in writing at or
prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions (it being understood that each such condition is solely for the benefit of the Company and may be waived by the Company in writing in its
sole discretion without notice or Liability to any Person):

(a) Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

(i) The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in Article 3 shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or
Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) on and as of the Agreement Date and on and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made on and as of such date
(except for representations and warranties that address matters only as to a specified date or dates, which representations and warranties shall be so true and correct on and as of such specified date
or dates), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true
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and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Parent and Merger Sub.

(ii) Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in Article 4 and Article 5
required to be performed and complied with by them at or prior to the Closing.

(b) Receipt of Closing Deliveries. The Company shall have received each of the agreements, instruments, certificates and other documents set forth in Section 1.3(a).

6.3 Additional Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction or
waiver at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions (it being understood that each such condition is solely for the benefit of Parent and Merger Sub and may be waived by Parent
or Merger Sub in writing in their sole discretion without notice or Liability to any Person):

(a) Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

(i)  The representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Article 2 (other than the Non-Tax Fundamental Representations), taken together, shall be true and
correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) on and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made
on and as of such date (except for representations and warranties that address matters only as to a specified date or dates, which representations and warranties shall be so true and correct on and as
of such specified date or dates), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct would not individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ii) The Non-Tax Fundamental Representations (other than Section 2.2), taken together, shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the Closing Date as though
such representations and warranties were made on and as of such date (except for representations and warranties that address matters only as to a specified date or dates, which representations and
warranties shall be so true and correct on and as of such specified date or dates).

(iii)The representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.2, taken together, shall be true and correct in all but de minimis respects on and as of the Closing Date as
though such representations and warranties were made on and as of such date (except for representations and warranties that address matters only as to a specified date or dates, which
representations and warranties shall be so true and correct on and as of such specified date or dates).

(iv) The Company shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in Article 4 and Article 5
required to be performed and complied with by the Company at or prior to the Closing.

(b) Receipt of Closing Deliveries. Parent shall have received each of the agreements, instruments, certificates and other documents set forth in Section 1.3(b).

(c) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the Agreement Date, there shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company that is continuing.
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(d) Key Employees.

(i) No fewer than three (3) of the four (4) Key Employees shall have signed the Key Employee Agreements and, if applicable, a Waiver, each of which shall continue to
be in full force and effect (effective as of the Closing Date) and no action shall have been taken by any such individual to rescind any of such agreements and none of such individuals shall have
indicated an intention to leave the employment of the Company or Parent.

(ii) No fewer than three (3) of the four (4) Key Employees shall remain employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date and none of such individuals
shall have indicated an intention to leave the employment of the Company or, if applicable, Parent.

(e) Section 280G Approval. The Company shall have delivered to Parent the notification and evidence required by Section 5.18.

(f) Dissenting Stockholders. Stockholders representing no more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding Capital Stock (on an as-converted to Common Stock basis) shall have
exercised appraisal, dissenters’ or similar rights under the DGCL with respect to their Capital Stock (on an as-converted to Common Stock basis) by virtue of the Merger.

(g) Threshold Amount. The sum of the Aggregate Non-Accredited Holder Consideration (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any portion thereof comprising the Indemnity
Holdback, the Adjustment Holdback Fund and the Seller Agent Expense Fund) and the Closing Indebtedness shall not exceed $130,200,000, inclusive of all cash payments pursuant to the
Management Carveout Plan.

Article 7
TERMINATION

7.1 Termination.  At any time prior to the Closing, this Agreement may be terminated and the Merger abandoned by authorized action taken by the terminating party, whether before or
after the Required Stockholder Approval is obtained:

(a) by mutual written consent duly authorized by Parent and the Company;

(b) by Parent or the Company, by written notice to the other, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to February 8, 2022 or such other date that Parent, Merger Sub and
the Company may agree upon in writing (the “Agreement Termination Date”); provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b) shall not be available to any party
whose breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation hereunder will have been the principal cause of, or will have directly resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before the
Agreement Termination Date;

(c) by Parent or the Company, by written notice to the other, if any Order of a Governmental Entity of competent authority preventing the consummation of the Merger shall
have become final and non-appealable; provided, however, that a party shall not be permitted to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(c) if such party did not use commercially
reasonable efforts to have such order vacated prior to its becoming final and non-appealable;
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(d) by Parent, by written notice to the Company, if the Company shall have breached any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation contained herein and such
breach shall not have been cured within ten (10) Business Days after receipt by the Company of written notice of such breach and, if not cured within the timeframe above and at or prior to the
Closing, such breach would result in the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.3 to be satisfied (provided, that no such cure period shall be available or applicable to
any such breach that by its nature cannot be cured);

(e) by the Company, by written notice to Parent, if Parent or Merger Sub shall have breached any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation contained herein
and such breach shall not have been cured within ten (10) Business Days after receipt by Parent of written notice of such breach and, if not cured within the timeframe above and at or prior to the
Closing, such breach would result in the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.2 to be satisfied (provided, that no such cure period shall be available or applicable to
any such breach that by its nature cannot be cured); or

(f) by the Parent, by written notice to the Company, if the Required Stockholder Approval has not been obtained within three (3) days after the Agreement Date; provided, that
the right of Parent to exercise the termination right set forth in this Section 7.1(f) shall expire and no longer be exercisable if not exercised prior to the time at which the Required Stockholder
Approval is obtained.

7.2 Effect of Termination.  In the event of termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 7.1, this Agreement shall forthwith be of no further force or effect; provided, that
(a) Section 5.3 (Confidentiality; Public Disclosure), Section 5.9 (Expenses), Section 7.2 (Effect of Termination), Article 9 (General Provisions) and any related definition provisions in or
referenced in Exhibit A and the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and survive any termination of this Agreement and (b) nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto
from Liability in connection with any prior intentional or fraudulent breach of such party’s representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or obligations contained herein and (c) the foregoing
provisions shall not limit or restrict the availability of specific performance or other injunctive relief to the extent that specific performance or such other relief would otherwise be available to a
party hereunder.

Article 8
HOLDBACK FUNDS; INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 Adjustment Holdback Fund; Indemnity Holdback.

(a) Promptly at or after the Effective Time, Parent shall withhold from each Indemnifying Party, on a Pro Rata Share basis, a portion of the Aggregate Consideration equal to:

(i) the Adjustment Holdback Amount;

(ii) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock, with an aggregate value equal to $25,000,000, based on the Parent Stock Price (the “Transaction Indemnity
Holdback”); and

(iii)(A) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock (the “Tax Indemnity Holdback Shares”) and (B) a portion of the Aggregate Non-Accredited Holder
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Consideration, with the foregoing clauses (A) and (B) with an aggregate value equal to $7,500,000, based on the Parent Stock Price (the “Tax Indemnity Holdback”).

    Collectively, the Transaction Indemnity Holdback and the Tax Indemnity Holdback shall be referred to as the “Indemnity Holdback”. Collectively, the portion of the Transaction Indemnity
Holdback payable in shares of Parent Common Stock and the Tax Indemnity Holdback Shares shall be referred to as the “Indemnity Holdback Shares”.

    Subject to the other provisions of this Article 8, the Indemnity Holdback shall be available to compensate Parent (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party) for Losses pursuant to the
indemnification obligations of the Indemnifying Parties under this Article 8; provided, that, except for the deduction of any Parent Advisory Expenses (which shall be deducted on an as incurred
basis), the Tax Indemnity Holdback shall be available solely to compensate Parent (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party) for Losses pursuant to the indemnification obligations of the
Indemnifying Parties to ensure that all Pre-Closing Taxes set forth on Schedule 8.1(a)(iii) (the “Special Indemnity Taxes”) have been paid, with (i) up to $2,000,000 in such aggregate Losses (for
the avoidance of doubt, to include Parent Advisory Expenses) to be first deducted from the Tax Indemnity Holdback and (ii) thereafter, fifty percent (50%) of any such Losses (for the avoidance of
doubt, to include Parent Advisory Expenses) exceeding the $2,000,000 aggregate threshold to be deducted from the Tax Indemnity Holdback; provided, that, with respect to (i) and (ii),
collectively, no more than $7,500,000 of such Losses (for the avoidance of doubt, to include Parent Advisory Expenses) in the aggregate shall be deducted from the Tax Indemnity Holdback and
the Tax Indemnity Holdback shall be the sole and exclusive remedy for any Losses pursuant to the Special Indemnity Taxes. For the avoidance of doubt, the Tax Indemnity Holdback shall not be
used to compensate Parent (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party) for any Losses pursuant to the indemnification obligations of the Indemnifying Parties under this Article 8, other
than the Special Indemnity Taxes. Except as provided in Section 8.3(e), Parent shall retain the Transaction Indemnity Holdback until 11:59 p.m. Pacific time on the date that is fifteen (15) months
after the Closing (the “Transaction Indemnity Holdback Release Date”), and Parent shall retain the Tax Indemnity Holdback until the earlier of (i) the third (3 ) anniversary of the Closing Date or
(ii) the date upon which all Pre-Closing Taxes set forth on Schedule 8.1(a)(iii) have been paid (the “Tax Indemnity Holdback Release Date”).

(b) Parent shall be entitled to permanently retain and not issue, as applicable, from the Indemnity Holdback in respect of finally determined Losses for which the Indemnified
Parties are entitled to recover pursuant to this Article 8, a number of Indemnity Holdback Shares equal to the aggregate amount of such Losses, divided by the Parent Stock Price. The Parties
hereto acknowledge that the Parent Stock Price only reflects an agreed-upon amount as to the value of Parent Common Stock solely for the limited purpose of satisfying any damages under this
Article 8 and is not intended to be, nor is it, deemed to constitute the fair market value of Parent Common Stock at any given time.

(c) As soon as practicable and in any event no later than five (5) Business Days following the Transaction Indemnity Holdback Release Date for the Transaction Indemnity
Holdback (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback Release Date for the Tax Indemnity Holdback, as applicable), Parent shall distribute or cause to be distributed to each Indemnifying Party such
Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the excess of (i) the then remaining portion of the Transaction Indemnity Holdback less ($2,500,000 minus the sum of (x) any amounts of sales and use
Tax assessments paid out of the Transaction Indemnity Holdback plus (y) any amounts of sales and use Tax assessments paid on or prior to the Closing Date but after the Agreement Date (such
amount, the “Sales Tax Reserve”) (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback,
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together with any remaining Sales Tax Reserve, as applicable)), minus (ii) that portion of the Transaction Indemnity Holdback (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback or the Sales Tax Reserve, as
applicable), that is determined, in the good faith judgment of Parent, to be necessary to satisfy any unsatisfied or disputed claims for indemnification specified in any Claim Notice (pursuant to
the requirements of Section 8.5) delivered to the Seller Agent prior to the Transaction Indemnity Holdback Release Date (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback Release Date, as applicable) in
accordance with this Article 8, if any (the “Reserve Amount”). The Reserve Amount shall remain in the Transaction Indemnity Holdback (or the Tax Indemnity Holdback, as applicable) until
such claims for indemnification have been resolved or satisfied. As soon as practicable and in any event within five (5) Business Days following resolution of such claims, Parent shall distribute
or cause to be distributed to each Indemnifying Party such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of any portion of the Reserve Amount that is not awarded to Parent upon the resolution of such
claims.

8.2 Indemnification.

(a) Subject to the limitations set forth in this Article 8, from and after the Closing, the Indemnifying Parties shall severally and not jointly, in proportion to each such
Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share, indemnify and hold harmless Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and their respective officers, directors, and employees, and the permitted successors and
assigns of any of the foregoing (each of the foregoing being referred to individually as an “Indemnified Party” and collectively as “Indemnified Parties”) from and against, and shall compensate
and reimburse each Indemnified Party for, any and all Losses paid, incurred, suffered or sustained by any Indemnified Party, directly or indirectly, whether or not due to a Third-Party Claim, in
each case, arising out of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with any of the following:

(i) any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by the Company in this Agreement or the covenant made by the Company in Section 4.3(d) or
any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to this Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Letter (including any exhibit or schedule to the
Company Disclosure Letter), as of the Closing Date as though such representation or warranty were made as of the Closing Date (except in the case of any such representation or warranty that by
their terms speak only as of a specific date or dates, which representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such date or dates);

(ii) any breach of any of the covenants, agreements or obligations made by the Company in this Agreement (other than the covenant made by the Company in Section
4.3(d)) that are required to be performed or complied with by the Company at or prior to the Closing;

(iii)regardless of the disclosure of any matter set forth in the Company Disclosure Letter, any inaccuracies in the Spreadsheet, Spreadsheet Certificate or the Closing
Financial Certificate, including the allocation of the Aggregate Consideration.

(iv)any Pre-Closing Taxes and any Transaction Payroll Taxes, except to the extent such Taxes were reflected as a “current liability” in the calculation of the Working
Capital Adjustment, included in Indebtedness, or otherwise taken into account in the determination of the Aggregate Consideration;

(v) any claims by (A) any then current or former holder of any Equity Interests of the Company (including any predecessors), arising out of, resulting from or in
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connection with claims of breach of fiduciary duty by any directors or officers of the Company in connection with the Transactions, this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or (B) any
Person in connection with the exercise of appraisal rights or, if applicable, dissenters’ rights and any payments to holders of Dissenting Shares, that are together in excess of the consideration to
which they would have been entitled for their shares of Capital Stock had they received a portion of the Aggregate Consideration payable pursuant to Section 1.7(a) and/or Section 1.8 rather than
exercising appraisal rights or, if applicable, dissenters’ rights; and

(vi)in the case of Fraud by or on behalf of the Company.

(b) Materiality qualifications and qualifications by reference to the defined term “Material Adverse Effect” (the “Materiality Qualifiers”) in any representation, warranty,
covenant, agreement or obligation shall neither be taken into account in determining whether a breach of or default in connection with such representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or
obligation (or failure of any representation or warranty to be true and correct) exists, nor be taken into account in determining the amount of any Losses with respect to such breach, default or
failure to be true and correct; provided that any Losses relating to indemnification claims made by an Indemnified Party pursuant to those sections as to which the Materiality Qualifiers shall be
disregarded will be paid only to the extent that individual Losses or a series of related Losses exceed $50,000, and provided further, that the Materiality Qualifiers shall not be disregarded for any
purpose from (i) the title or definition of any defined term and (ii) Section 2.4(a), Section 2.4(f)(ii) or Article 6.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 5.17, each Indemnifying Party waives, acknowledges and agrees that such Indemnifying Party shall not have and shall not exercise or assert (or
attempt to exercise or assert), any right of contribution, right of indemnity, right to advancement of expenses or other right or remedy against the Surviving Corporation or the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries in connection with any Losses claimed by any Indemnified Party under Section 8.2(a). Effective as of the Closing, the Seller Agent, on behalf of itself and each Indemnifying
Party, expressly waives and releases any right of subrogation, contribution, advancement or indemnification and any other claim that the Seller Agent or, except as set forth in Section 5.17, such
Indemnifying Party may have, against Parent, any Affiliate of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries.

(d) The rights of the Indemnified Parties to indemnification pursuant to this Article 8, shall not be affected by any investigation conducted with respect to, or any knowledge
acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time, whether before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Closing Date, with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of or
compliance with, any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation made by the Company or any other matter. The waiver of any condition based on the accuracy of any such
representation or warranty, or on the performance of or compliance with any such covenant, agreement or obligation, will not affect the right to indemnification based on any such representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement. Except with respect to an indemnification claim pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(vi), no Indemnified Party shall be required to show reliance on any representation,
warranty, certificate or other agreement in order for such Indemnified Party to be entitled to indemnification hereunder.

(e) The parties acknowledge and agree that, if the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries suffers, incurs or otherwise becomes subject to any Losses as a result of or in
connection with any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or obligation set forth in this Agreement or in connection with any of the matters referred to in Section
8.2(a), then (without limiting any of the rights of the Surviving Corporation as an
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Indemnified Party) Parent shall also be deemed, by virtue of its ownership of the stock of the Surviving Corporation, to have incurred Losses as a result of and in connection with such inaccuracy
or breach or in connection with such matters; provided, however, that in no event shall Parent or the Company be entitled to double recovery of the same amount and type of Losses with respect to
any particular incident, fact or event which resulted in Losses that are recoverable under Section 8.2(a).

(f) If an Indemnified Party’s claim under Section 8.2(a) may be brought under different sections of Section 8.2(a), then such Indemnified Party shall have the right to bring such
claim under any applicable section it chooses in accordance with Section 8.2(a); provided, however, that in no event shall any Indemnified Party be entitled to double recovery of the same
amount and type of Losses with respect to any particular incident, fact or event which resulted in Losses that are recoverable under Section 8.2(a) regardless of whether there were breaches of
more than one representation, warranty, covenant, agreement, obligation or otherwise.

(g) From and after the Closing, the remedies contained in this Article 8 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of any Indemnified Party for monetary damages in connection
with the matters described in Section 8.2(a); provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall limit the right of Parent or any other Indemnified Party to pursue (i) specific performance,
injunctive relief or other non-monetary equitable remedies or (ii) remedies under any Transaction Document against the parties thereto pursuant to their terms.

8.3 Indemnification Limitations.

(a) The Indemnifying Parties shall not be obligated to indemnify any Indemnified Party with respect to any Losses pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) (other than any
Fundamental Representation Claim), except to the extent that the aggregate Losses from all such claims exceed $1,000,000 (the “Deductible”), at which point the Indemnifying Parties will be
obligated to indemnify the Indemnified Parties from and against all such Losses in excess of the Deductible.

(b) The maximum amount that the Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover pursuant to Section 8.2(a) is an amount equal to the Aggregate Consideration paid to the
Indemnifying Parties pursuant to Article 1, except that (i) except as set forth in clause (iii) below, in no event will any Indemnifying Party’s aggregate liability pursuant to this Agreement exceed
the portion of the Aggregate Consideration actually received by such Indemnifying Party, (ii) the maximum amount that the Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover pursuant to clause
(i) of Section 8.2(a) (other than any Fundamental Representation Claim) is the Transaction Indemnity Holdback and the Transaction Indemnity Holdback shall be the Indemnifying Parties’ sole
recourse with respect to recovery pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) (other than any Fundamental Representation Claim) and (iii) there shall be no limitation on the amount that the
Indemnified Parties are entitled to recover in respect of claims of Fraud personally committed by an Indemnifying Party.

(c) Except for claims made against the Tax Indemnity Holdback under Section 8.1(a), the Indemnified Parties’ first source of recovery for all other claims under Section 8.1(a)
and Section 8.2(a) shall be recourse against the Transaction Indemnity Holdback, but if the Transaction Indemnity Holdback is exhausted or insufficient to satisfy any portion of a Loss for which
a claim has been made under Section 8.1(a) or Section 8.2(a), subject in all cases to the limitations set forth in Section 8.3(a) and Section 8.3(b), the Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to
recover such portion of such Losses in respect of such
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claims directly from the Indemnifying Parties. The Tax Indemnity Holdback shall be the Indemnifying Parties’ sole and exclusive remedy for a Loss arising out of the Special Indemnity Taxes.

(d) For purposes of calculating or determining the amount of Losses paid, incurred or sustained by a Indemnified Party, there shall be deducted from any Losses an amount equal
to the amount of any proceeds from any third-party insurer or any indemnification or contribution payments actually received by such Indemnified Party in connection with such Losses (net of
applicable costs of recovery or collection, retention, deductible, retroactive premium adjustment, reimbursement or other cost related to the insurance claim in respect of Losses thereof).The
Indemnified Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any Losses which form the basis for a claim for indemnification hereunder, including by seeking recovery under any
available insurance policies.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, (i) no Indemnifying Party shall have any liability under this Agreement, including under this Article 8 for any
item, to the extent such item is taken into account as a liability (or a dollar-for-dollar reduction) in the calculation of the Aggregate Consideration (it being understood and agreed that the purpose
of this provision is to avoid double counting), and (ii) to the extent that there is a Loss attributable to the sales and use Tax matters identified on Schedule 5.14(i), and the Loss is in excess of the
amount (if any) of such Taxes taken into account in determining the Working Capital Adjustment, (A) the Indemnifying Parties shall only be liable for fifty percent (50%) of such Loss, subject to
the other limitations on indemnification herein, (B) the maximum amount of any such Loss for which the Indemnifying Parties shall be liable shall be $2,500,000 in the aggregate (less any
amounts of sales and use Tax assessments paid on or prior to the Closing Date), and (C) all claims for any such Loss may be made up until the Tax Indemnity Holdback Release Date (for the
avoidance of doubt, the Sales Tax Reserve shall be retained until the earlier of (i) the third (3 ) anniversary of the Closing Date or (ii) the date upon which all Pre-Closing Taxes set forth on
Schedule 8.1(a)(iii) have been paid).

(f) For the avoidance of doubt, assuming that there is no breach of the covenants set forth in Section 5.21, in no event shall Parent or the Company be entitled to recovery for
any Losses as a result of Parent’s or the Company’s failure to timely pay any scheduled payments, pursuant to the contract set forth on Schedule 5.21 of the Company Disclosure Letter, which
become due and payable after December 31, 2021.

8.4 Period for Claims.  The representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement or any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of the Company
pursuant to this Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Letter (including any exhibit or schedule to the Company Disclosure Letter)) shall survive the Closing and remain in full force and
effect until the expiration of the applicable Claims Period, and the representations and warranties made by Parent or Merger Sub in this Agreement or any certificate or other instrument delivered
by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to this Agreement shall expire and be of no further force or effect as of Closing. Except as provided in Section 8.3(e) and for Losses arising out
of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with the Special Indemnity Taxes, the period during which claims for Losses may be made (the “Claims Period”) for Losses arising out of, resulting
from, relating to or in connection with the matters listed in Section 8.2(a) (other than any Fundamental Representation Claim) shall commence at the Closing and terminate at 11:59 p.m. Pacific
time on the date that is fifteen (15) months after the Closing and no Claim Notice in respect of any such claim for Losses may be submitted following a date that is fifteen (15) months after the
Closing, except that:

rd
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(a) the Claims Period for Losses arising out of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with (i) any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by the
Company in Section 2.1 (Organization), Section 2.2 (Capital Structure), Section 2.3(a) (Authority), Section 2.11 (Taxes) or Section 2.17 (Transaction Fees) (collectively, the “Fundamental
Representations”) or in any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to this Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Letter (including any exhibit
or schedule to the Company Disclosure Letter)) to the extent within the scope of any of the Fundamental Representations or (ii) any Third-Party Claims alleging facts or circumstances that, if
accurate, would constitute a breach of or inaccuracy in any such representation or warranty (collectively, the “Fundamental Representation Claims”) shall commence at the Closing and terminate
upon the expiration of the Applicable Statute of Limitations and no Claim Notice in respect of any such claim for Losses may be submitted following a date that is after the Applicable Statute of
Limitations;

(b) the Claims Period for Losses arising out of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with any matters listed in clause (ii) of Section 8.2(a) shall commence at the Closing
and terminate upon the date that is fifteen (15) months after the Closing; and

(c) the Claims Period for Losses arising out of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with any matters listed in clauses (iii) through (vi) of Section 8.2(a) shall commence
at the Closing and terminate upon the expiration of the Applicable Statute of Limitations, except for the Claims Period for Losses arising out of, resulting from, relating to or in connection with
any Pre-Closing Taxes, which shall terminate sixty (60) days after the expiration of the Applicable Statute of Limitations, and no Claim Notice in respect of any such claim for Losses, except for
Losses relating to Pre-Closing Taxes, may be submitted following a date that is after the Applicable Statute of Limitations.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, (x) no right of recovery pursuant to this Article 8 in respect of any claim that is set forth in a Claim Notice delivered to the Seller Agent
prior to the expiration of the applicable Claims Period shall be affected by the expiration of such representations and warranties and (y) all Applicable Statutes of Limitations or other claims
periods with respect to any indemnifiable matter shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be shortened or extended to the applicable Claims Periods set forth in this Agreement.

8.5 Claims.

(a) Promptly upon discovery of facts or circumstances that may implicate a claim for indemnification under this Article 8 (but in any event on or before the last day of the
applicable Claims Period), Parent may deliver to the Seller Agent a written notice (a “Claim Notice”):

(i) stating that an Indemnified Party has paid, incurred, suffered, sustained, reserved or accrued, or in good faith believes that it may pay, incur, suffer, sustain, reserve or
accrue, Losses (or that with respect to any Tax matters governed by Section 5.14, that an Indemnified Party in good faith believes could reasonably be likely to be raised by any Tax Authority in
audit of Parent or its Affiliates, that could give rise to Losses);

(ii) stating the amount of such Losses (which, in the case of Losses not yet paid, incurred, suffered, sustained, reserved or accrued, may be the maximum amount
believed by Parent in good faith to be incurred, paid, reserved, accrued or demanded by a third party); and
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(iii)specifying in reasonable detail (based upon the information then possessed by Parent) (A) the individual items of such Losses included in the amount so stated, (B)
the nature of the claim to which such Losses are related, and (C) the provisions of this Agreement which are implicated by such Losses.

(b) No delay in providing such Claim Notice within the applicable Claims Period shall affect an Indemnified Party’s rights hereunder, unless (and then only to the extent that)
the Seller Agent or the Indemnifying Parties are materially prejudiced thereby. Any Claim Notice may be updated and amended from time to time by Parent delivering an updated or amended
Claim Notice, so long as the delivery of the original Claim Notice is made within the applicable Claims Period and only in the event that such Claim Notice, as so updated or amended, continues
to satisfy the requirements of clauses (i) through (iii) of Section 8.5(a).

8.6 Resolution of Objections to Claims.

(a) If the Seller Agent shall not object in writing within the thirty (30)-day period after receipt of a Claim Notice by delivery of a written notice of objection containing a
reasonably detailed description of the facts and circumstances supporting an objection to the Claim Notice (a “Claim Objection Notice”), such failure to so object shall be an irrevocable
acknowledgment by the Seller Agent that the Indemnified Party is entitled to the full amount of the claim for Losses set forth in such Claim Notice, subject to the limitations set forth in Section
8.3. In such event, Parent shall be entitled to deduct from the Indemnity Holdback an amount of cash equal to the Losses set forth in such Claim Notice, subject to the limitations set forth in
Section 8.3.

(b) If the Seller Agent shall deliver a Claim Objection Notice in accordance with Section 8.6(a) within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Claim Notice, the Seller Agent and
Parent shall attempt in good faith for a period of sixty (60) days after Parent’s receipt of such Claim Objection Notice to agree upon the rights of the respective parties with respect to each of
such claims. If the Seller Agent and Parent should so agree, a memorandum setting forth such agreement shall be prepared and signed by both parties.

(c) If no such agreement can be reached during the sixty (60)-day period for good faith negotiation, but in any event upon the expiration of such sixty (60)-day period, either
Parent or the Seller Agent may bring an action in accordance with the terms of Section 9.10.

(d) Parent shall be entitled to permanently retain and not issue, as applicable, from the Indemnity Holdback in respect of the Losses set forth in such instruction, memorandum or
decision referenced in this Section 8.6, a number of Indemnity Holdback Shares equal to such Losses, divided by the Parent Stock Price. Should the amount held in the Indemnity Holdback, if
any, be insufficient to satisfy in whole the amount to be paid to an Indemnified Party by the Indemnifying Parties in accordance with such instruction, memorandum or decision, then, subject to
the limitations set forth in Section 8.3, each Indemnifying Party shall, within ten (10) Business Days following the date of such instruction, memorandum or decision referenced in this Section
8.6, pay to the Indemnified Party, such Indemnifying Parties’ Pro Rata Share of such shortfall in cash.

8.7 Third-Party Claims
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(a) In the event Parent becomes aware of a claim by a third party (a “Third-Party Claim”) that Parent in good faith believes may result in a claim under Section 8.2(a), Parent
shall promptly notify the Seller Agent of such claim in writing (a “Third-Party Claim Notice”) within twenty (20) calendar days of becoming aware of such Third Party Claim; provided, that no
delay in providing such prompt notice shall affect an Indemnified Party’s rights hereunder, unless (and then only to the extent that) the Seller Agent or the Indemnifying Parties are materially
prejudiced thereby. The Seller Agent shall have the right to receive copies of all pleadings, notices and communications with respect to such Third-Party Claim to the extent that receipt of such
documents does not affect any privilege relating to any Indemnified Party, subject to execution by the Seller Agent of a standard non-disclosure agreement to the extent that such materials
contain confidential or propriety information. Parent shall reasonably inform and consult with the Seller Agent regarding any defense or settlement of a Third-Party Claim, provided, that no
settlement of any Third Party Claim shall be made without the Seller Agent’s consent. The Seller Agent shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to any settlement proposal with respect to a
Third-Party Claim.

(b) In the event that Parent becomes aware of a Third-Party Claim by an alleged current or former holder of any Equity Interests of the Company (including any predecessors),
arising out of, resulting from or in connection with the allocation of the Aggregate Consideration, including any adjustments to the Aggregate Consideration not taken into account at the Closing
or pursuant to Section 1.18, the procedures set forth in Section 8.7(a) shall apply to the defense and settlement of such claim, provided, that the Company shall reimburse Parent for all costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the defense and settlement of such claim.

8.8 Seller Agent.

(a) By virtue of the approval of the Merger and this Agreement, and by receiving the benefits thereof, including any consideration payable hereunder, by the Indemnifying
Parties and without any further action of any of the Indemnifying Parties or the Company, at the Closing, Shareholder Representative Services LLC shall be constituted and appointed by the
Indemnifying Parties as the Seller Agent for all purposes in connection with this Agreement and any related agreements. The Seller Agent shall be the exclusive representative agent and
attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties to: (i) execute, as Seller Agent, this Agreement and any agreement or instrument entered into or delivered in connection with the
Transactions, (ii) give and receive notices, instructions, and communications permitted or required under this Agreement, or any other agreement, document or instrument entered into or
executed in connection herewith, for and on behalf of any Indemnifying Party, to or from Parent (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party) relating to this Agreement or any of the
Transactions and other matters contemplated by this Agreement or by such other agreement, document or instrument (except to the extent that this Agreement expressly contemplates that any
such notice or communication shall be given or received by each Indemnifying Party individually), (iii) review, negotiate and agree to and authorize Parent to reclaim funds or shares, as
applicable, from the Indemnity Holdback in satisfaction of claims asserted by Parent (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party, including by not objecting to such claims) pursuant to this
Article 8, (iv) object to such claims pursuant to Section 8.6, (v) consent or agree to, negotiate, enter into, or, if applicable, contest, prosecute or defend, settlements and compromises of, and
demand arbitration and comply with Orders of courts and awards of arbitrators with respect to, such claims, resolve any such claims, take any actions in connection with the resolution of any
dispute relating hereto or to the Transactions by arbitration, settlement or otherwise, and take or forego any or all actions permitted or required of any Indemnifying Party or necessary in the
judgment of the Seller
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Agent for the accomplishment of the foregoing and all of the other terms, conditions and limitations of this Agreement, (vi) consult with legal counsel, independent public accountants and other
experts selected by it, solely at the cost and expense of the Indemnifying Parties, (vii) consent or agree to any amendment to this Agreement or to waive any terms and conditions of this
Agreement providing rights or benefits to the Indemnifying Parties in accordance with the terms hereof and in the manner provided herein and (viii) take all actions necessary or appropriate in
the judgment of the Seller Agent for the accomplishment of the foregoing in connection with this Agreement or any related agreements, in each case without having to seek or obtain the consent
of any Person under any circumstance. Parent and its Affiliates (including after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation) shall be entitled to rely on the appointment of Shareholder Representative
Services LLC as the Seller Agent and treat such Seller Agent as the duly appointed exclusive representative, agent and attorney-in-fact of each Indemnifying Party and as having the duties,
power and authority provided for in this Section 8.8. The Indemnifying Parties shall be bound by all actions taken and documents executed by the Seller Agent in connection with this Article 8,
and Parent and other Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to rely exclusively on any action or decision of the Seller Agent. The Person serving as the Seller Agent may be removed or replaced
from time to time (or if such Person resigns from its position as the Seller Agent then a successor may be appointed) by consent of Indemnifying Parties who received, in the aggregate, more
than fifty percent (50%) of the amount of cash payable to all Indemnifying Parties pursuant to this Agreement in respect of the shares of Capital Stock owned by all Indemnifying Parties as of
immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Majority Indemnifying Parties”) upon not less than seven (7) days’ prior written notice to Parent. The Person serving as the Seller Agent may resign
upon not less than seven (7) days’ prior written notice to Parent and the Indemnifying Parties. No bond shall be required of the Seller Agent.

(b) The Seller Agent will incur no liability in connection with its services pursuant to this Agreement and any related agreements as the Seller Agent while acting in good faith
(and any act done or omitted pursuant to the advice of counsel shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith) and without gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Seller Agent shall serve
as the Seller Agent without compensation, other than pursuant to the terms of that certain Engagement Letter to be entered into by and among Shareholder Representative Services LLC and
certain of the Indemnifying Parties. The Indemnifying Parties shall severally but not jointly (based on their Pro Rata Share) indemnify the Seller Agent and hold it harmless against any loss,
Liability or expense incurred without gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith on the part of the Seller Agent and arising out of, resulting from or in connection with the acceptance or
administration of him/her/its duties pursuant to this Agreement and any related agreements, including all reasonable, documented, and out-of-pocket costs and expenses and legal fees and other
legal costs reasonably incurred by the Seller Agent (collectively, the “Seller Agent Expenses”), in each case as such Seller Agent Expense is suffered or incurred; provided, that in the event that
any such Seller Agent Expense is finally adjudicated to have been caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Seller Agent, the Seller Agent will reimburse the Indemnifying
Parties the amount of such indemnified Seller Agent Expense to the extent attributable to such gross negligence or willful misconduct. If not paid directly to the Seller Agent by the Indemnifying
Parties, such Seller Agent Expenses may be recovered, first, from the Seller Agent Expense Fund, second, by the Seller Agent from the portion of the Indemnity Holdback otherwise distributable
to the Indemnifying Parties (and not distributed or distributable to an Indemnified Party or subject to a pending indemnification claim of an Indemnified Party) after the expiration of the Claims
Period pursuant to the terms hereof, at the time of distribution, and such recovery will be made from the Indemnifying Parties according to their respective Pro Rata Shares of such losses,
Liabilities or expenses and third, by the Seller Agent from any other funds that become payable
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to the Indemnifying Parties under this Agreement at such time as such amounts would otherwise be distributable to the Indemnifying Parties; provided, that while the Seller Agent may be paid
from the aforementioned sources of funds, this does not relieve the Indemnifying Parties from their obligation to promptly pay such Seller Agent Expenses as they are suffered or incurred. In no
event will the Seller Agent be required to advance its own funds on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties or otherwise. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any restrictions
or limitations on liability or indemnification obligations of, or provisions limiting the recourse against non-parties otherwise applicable to, the Indemnifying Parties set forth elsewhere in this
Agreement are not intended to be applicable to the indemnities provided to the Seller Agent hereunder. The foregoing indemnities will survive the Closing, the resignation or removal of the
Seller Agent or the termination of this Agreement.

(c) After the Closing, any notice or communication given or received by, and any decision, action, failure to act within a designated period of time, agreement, consent,
settlement, resolution or instruction of, the Seller Agent that is within the scope of the Seller Agent’s authority under Section 8.8(a) shall constitute a notice or communication to or by, or a
decision, action, failure to act within a designated period of time, agreement, consent, settlement, resolution or instruction of all the Indemnifying Parties and shall be final, binding and
conclusive upon each Indemnifying Party; and each Indemnified Party shall be entitled to rely exclusively upon any such notice, communication, decision, action, failure to act within a
designated period of time, agreement, consent, settlement, resolution or instruction as being a notice or communication to or by, or a decision, action, failure to act within a designated period of
time, agreement, consent, settlement, resolution or instruction of, each and every such Indemnifying Party. Parent, the Company and the Indemnified Parties are hereby relieved from any
Liability to any Person for any acts done by them in accordance with such notice, communication, decision, action, failure to act within a designated period of time, agreement, consent,
settlement, resolution or instruction of the Seller Agent.

(d) Upon the Closing, the Parent will wire the Seller Agent Expense Amount to the Seller Agent, which will be used for any expenses incurred by the Seller Agent. The
Indemnifying Parties will not receive any interest or earnings on the Seller Agent Expense Fund and irrevocably transfer and assign to the Seller Agent any ownership right that they may
otherwise have had in any such interest or earnings. The Seller Agent will hold these funds separate from its corporate funds and will not voluntarily make these funds available to its creditors in
the event of bankruptcy. As soon as practicable following the completion of the Seller Agent’s responsibilities, the Seller Agent will deliver any remaining balance of the Seller Agent Expense
Fund to the Exchange Agent for further distribution to the Indemnifying Parties. As soon as practicable following the completion of the Seller Agent’s duties, the Seller Agent will deliver the
balance of the Seller Agent Expense Fund to the Exchange Agent for further distribution to the Indemnifying Parties in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Share. For Tax purposes, the
Seller Agent Expense Fund will be treated as having been received and voluntarily set aside by the Indemnifying Parties at the Effective Time.

8.9 Treatment of Indemnification Payments.  The Indemnifying Parties, the Seller Agent and Parent agree to treat (and cause their Affiliates to treat) any payment received by the
Indemnified Parties pursuant to this Article 8 as adjustments to the Aggregate Consideration for all Tax purposes, to the maximum extent permitted by Applicable Law.
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Article 9
GENERAL PROVISIONS

9.1 Notices.  Except as expressly set forth herein with respect to Sections 4.1 and 4.2, all notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder
shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or by commercial delivery service, or mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) or sent via facsimile or
email (with automated confirmation of receipt) to the parties hereto at the following address (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

(a) if to Parent or Merger Sub, to:

8x8, Inc.
675 Creekside Way
Campbell, CA 95008
Attention: General Counsel
Telephone No.: (408) 727-1885
E-mail: legal-notices@8x8.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
525 University Avenue
Palo Alto, California 94301-1908
Attention: Thomas J. Ivey and Michael Mies
Telephone No.: (650) 470-4522
E-mail: Thomas.Ivey@skadden.com; Michael.Mies@skadden.com

(b) if to the Company prior to the Closing, to:

Fuze, Inc.
2 Copley Place, Floor 7
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Telephone No.: (978) 621-6401
E-mail: brday@fuze.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cooley LLP
500 Boylston Street, 14  Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Miguel J. Vega
Telephone No.: (617) 937-2300
E-mail: mvega@cooley.com

th
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(c) If to the Seller Agent, to:

Shareholder Representative Services LLC
950 17  Street, Suite 1400
Denver, CO 80202
Attention: Managing Director
Telephone No.: (303) 648-4085
E-mail: deals@srsacquiom.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cooley LLP
500 Boylston Street, 14  Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Miguel J. Vega
Telephone No.: (617) 937-2300
E-mail: mvega@cooley.com

Any notice given as specified in this Section 9.1, (i) if delivered personally or sent by facsimile transmission or email shall conclusively deemed to have been given or served at the time of
dispatch if sent or delivered on a Business Day or, if not sent or delivered on a Business Day, on the next following Business Day and (ii) if sent by commercial delivery service or mailed by
registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) shall conclusively be deemed to have been received on the third Business Day after the post of the same; provided, however, that notices sent
by mail will not be deemed given until received and, provided, further, that no facsimile or email notice shall be deemed given when received unless such notice is followed up by one of the other
means of notice described herein. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, any Claim Notice must be sent also by recognized overnight courier (such as Federal Express or DHL) in order to be effective.

9.2 Interpretation.  When a reference is made herein to Articles, Sections, Subsections or Exhibits, such reference shall be to an Article, Section or Subsection of, or an Exhibit to this
Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The words
“include,” “includes” and “including” when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The phrases “provided to,” “delivered to,” “made available
to” and phrases of similar import when used herein, unless the context otherwise requires, shall mean that a complete paper or electronic copy of the information or material referred to has been
provided to the party to whom such information or material is to be provided or delivered. Any such information or material uploaded to the respective virtual data rooms maintained by
Smartsheet Inc. and Datasite LLC, at least one (1) Business Day prior to the Agreement Date shall be deemed to have been provided to, delivered to and made available to Parent. Unless the
context of this Agreement otherwise requires: (a) words of any gender include each other gender, (b) words using the singular or plural form also include the plural or singular form, respectively,
and (c) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement. The symbol “$” refers to U.S. Dollars. The word “extent” in the phrase “to the
extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends and such phrase shall not mean simply “if.” References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. All
references to “days” shall be to calendar days in California unless otherwise indicated as a “Business Day.” The terms “U.S.” and “United States” shall refer to the United States of America.

th

th
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9.3 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended with the approval of the respective boards of directors of the Company (or the Seller Agent following the Closing) and Parent at any
time (whether before or after the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Stockholder Approval); provided, however, that after any such adoption of this Agreement by the Required
Stockholder Approval, no amendment shall be made which by Applicable Law requires further approval of the Stockholders without the further approval of such Stockholders. This Agreement
may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of the Company and Parent (prior to the Closing) or Parent and the Seller Agent (after the Closing).

9.4 Extension; Waiver.  At any time at or prior to the Closing, any party hereto may, to the extent legally allowed, (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or
other acts of the other parties hereto owed to such party, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties made to such party contained herein or in any document delivered
pursuant hereto and (c) waive compliance with any of the covenants, agreements, obligations or conditions for the benefit of such party contained herein. At any time after the Closing, Parent or
Merger Sub and the Seller Agent may, to the extent legally allowed, (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations of the other owed to such party, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in
the representations and warranties made to such party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto or (iii) waive compliance with any of the covenants, agreements, obligations
or conditions for the benefit of such party contained herein. Any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing that is (a) prior to the Closing with respect to
the Company, signed by the Company, (b) after the Closing with respect to the Indemnifying Parties and/or the Seller Agent, signed by the Seller Agent and (c) with respect to Parent or Merger
Sub, signed by Parent or Merger Sub. Without limiting the generality or effect of the preceding sentence, no failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall
constitute a waiver of such right, and no waiver of any breach or default shall be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default of the same or any other provision herein.

9.5 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same instrument and shall become effective when one or
more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to the other parties hereto; it being understood that all parties hereto need not sign the same counterpart. The
delivery by facsimile or by electronic delivery in PDF format of this Agreement with all executed signature pages (in counterparts or otherwise) shall be sufficient to bind the parties hereto to the
terms and conditions set forth herein. All of the counterparts will together constitute one and the same instrument and each counterpart will constitute an original of this Agreement.

9.6 Entire Agreement; Nonassignability; Parties in Interest.  This Agreement and the documents and instruments and other agreements specifically referred to herein or specifically
delivered pursuant hereto, including all the Exhibits attached hereto and the Schedules, including the Disclosure Letters, (a) constitute the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to
the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, except for the
Confidentiality Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect, and shall survive any termination of this Agreement, in accordance with its terms, (b) are not intended to confer, and shall
not be construed as conferring, upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder (except that Article 8 is intended to benefit Indemnified Parties and Section  5.17 is
intended to benefit the D&O Indemnitees), and (c) shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise except as otherwise specifically provided herein.
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9.7 Assignment.  Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or delegated, in whole or in part, by operation of law or
otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, and any such assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void, except that
Parent and Merger Sub may assign their rights and delegate their obligations under this Agreement to any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent without the prior consent of any
other party hereto; provided, that notwithstanding any such assignment, Parent and Merger Sub shall remain liable for all of its obligations under this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence,
this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

9.8 Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void or
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect and shall be interpreted so as reasonably necessary to effect the intent of the parties hereto. The parties hereto
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to replace such void or unenforceable provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable provision that shall achieve, to the greatest extent
possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such void or unenforceable provision.

9.9 Remedies Cumulative; Specific Performance. 

(a)     The parties hereby agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if available, would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that any
provision of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of it hereunder to consummate the Merger or the Transactions) is not performed in accordance with its specific
terms or is otherwise breached. Accordingly, the parties agree that, prior to the valid termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.1, each party shall be entitled to an injunction or
injunctions, or any other appropriate form of specific performance or equitable relief, to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court
of competent jurisdiction in accordance with Section 9.10, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled under the terms of this Agreement, at law or in equity (and each
Party hereby waives any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond in connection with such remedy).

(b)     Each of the parties agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief when expressly available pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement on the basis that the other Parties have an adequate remedy at law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or equity. Any Party
seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of, or to enforce compliance with this Agreement when expressly available pursuant to the terms of this Agreement
shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction.

9.10 Venue; Submission to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. The parties hereto hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of first, the Court of Chancery within
New Castle County in the State of Delaware (and any appellate court thereof located within such county) and to the extent such Court of Chancery (or appellate court thereof located within such
county) lacks jurisdiction over the matter, the Federal courts of the United States of America located within New Castle County in the State of Delaware (or appellate court thereof located within
such county) solely in respect of the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement and of the documents referred to in this Agreement, and in respect of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby (including resolution of disputes under
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Section 8.6), and hereby waive, and agree not to assert, as a defense in any action, suit or proceeding for the interpretation or enforcement hereof or thereof, that it is not subject thereto or that such
action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in said courts or that the venue thereof may not be appropriate or that this Agreement or any such document may not be
enforced in or by such courts, and the parties hereto irrevocably agree that all claims with respect to such action or proceeding shall be heard and determined in such a Delaware State or Federal
court. The parties hereby consent to and grant any such court jurisdiction over the person of such parties and over the subject matter of such dispute and agree that mailing of process or other
papers in connection with any such action or proceeding in the manner provided in Section 9.1 or in such other manner as may be permitted by Applicable Law, shall be valid and sufficient service
thereof. With respect to any particular action, suit or proceeding, venue shall lie solely in New Castle County, Delaware.

9.11 Rules of Construction.  The parties hereto have been represented by counsel during the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and, therefore, hereby waive, with
respect to this Agreement, each Schedule and each Exhibit attached hereto, the application of any Applicable Law or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other
document shall be construed against the party drafting such agreement or document.

9.12 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under
applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

9.13 Waiver of Jury Trial.  TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO IN NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.

9.14    Conflict of Interest. If the Seller Agent so desires, acting on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties and without the need for any consent or waiver by the Company or Parent, Cooley
LLP (“Cooley”) shall be permitted to represent the Seller Agent or the Indemnifying Parties after the Closing in connection with any matter, including without limitation, anything related to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any other agreements referenced herein or any disagreement or dispute relating thereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, after the
Closing, Cooley shall be permitted to represent the Seller Agent or the Indemnifying Parties, any of their agents and Affiliates, or any one or more of them, in connection with any negotiation,
transaction or dispute (including any litigation, arbitration or other adversary proceeding) with Parent, the Company or any of their agents or Affiliates under or relating to this Agreement, any
transaction contemplated by this Agreement, and any related matter, such as claims or disputes arising under other agreements entered into in connection with this Agreement. Upon and after the
Closing, the Company shall cease to have any attorney-client relationship with Cooley, unless and to the extent Cooley is specifically engaged in writing by the Company to represent the Company
after the Closing and either such engagement involves no conflict of interest with respect to the Indemnifying Parties or the Seller Agent consents in writing at the time to such engagement. Any
such representation of the Company by Cooley after the Closing shall not affect the foregoing provisions hereof.

9.15    Attorney-Client Privilege. All communications involving attorney-client confidences between an Indemnifying Party, its Affiliates or the Company and Cooley in the
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course of the negotiation, documentation and consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be attorney-client confidences and communications that
belong solely to the Indemnifying Parties and their Affiliates, and not that of the Surviving Corporation, following the Closing, and may be waived only by the Seller Agent. Absent the consent of
the Seller Agent, neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation shall have a right to access attorney-client privileged material of the Company related to the Merger and the transactions
contemplated hereby following the Closing and neither the Parent nor the Surviving Corporation shall assert that the attorney-client privilege of the Company related to the Merger was waived due
to the inadvertent transfer of attorney-client privileged material after the Closing (either because they were included in the computer server(s) of the Surviving Corporation or were otherwise
within the records of the Surviving Corporation after the Closing).

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and the Seller Agent have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger to be executed and delivered by their respective officers
thereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

8X8, INC.

By: /s/ Samuel Wilson _________________

Name: Samuel Wilson__________________

Title: Chief Financial Officer_____________

EAGLE MERGER SUB, LLC

By: 8X8, INC., as Sole Member

By: /s/ Samuel Wilson _________________

Name: Samuel Wilson__________________

Title: Chief Financial Officer_____________

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and the Seller Agent have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger to be executed and delivered by their respective officers
thereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

FUZE, INC.

By: /s/ Brian Day______________________

Name: Brian Day______________________

Title: Chief Executive Officer____________

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and the Seller Agent have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger to be executed and delivered by their respective officers
thereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC, solely in its capacity as the Seller Agent

By: /s/ Sam Riffe______________________

Name: Sam Riffe______________________

Title: Managing Director________________

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]



EXHIBIT A

DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below. Unless indicated otherwise, all mathematical calculations contemplated hereby shall be rounded to
the tenth decimal place.

“Accredited Holders” means (a) with respect to any time before the Closing, collectively, the holders of record of shares of Capital Stock and Company RSUs outstanding as of such time and the
Management Carveout Recipients and (b) with respect to any time at or after the Closing, collectively, the holders of record of shares of Capital Stock and Company RSUs outstanding as of
immediately prior to the Effective Time and the Management Carveout Recipients, in each case, who have (i) satisfied the requirements to be an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501 of
Regulation D of the Securities Act and (ii) delivered to Parent and the Company the duly executed and completed Accredited Investor Questionnaires.

“Adjustment Holdback Amount” means an amount of cash equal to $1,250,000.

“Adjustment Holdback Fund” means the Adjustment Holdback Amount held back by Parent, as such amount may be increased or decreased from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such
Person, including any general partner, managing member, officer or director of such Person or any venture capital fund now or hereafter existing that is controlled by one or more general partners
or managing members of, or shares the same management company with, such Person, in each case as of the date on which, or at any time during the period for which, the determination of
affiliation is being made. For purposes of this definition, the term “control” (including the correlative meanings of the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with
respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of more
than 50% of the voting securities or by Contract or otherwise. It is agreed that with respect to any venture capital fund, the term “Affiliate” shall not include any portfolio company that may
otherwise fall under the definition of “Affiliate”.

“Aggregate Consideration” means (a) $250,000,000, plus (b) the amount of the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment (which may be a negative number), plus (c) the aggregate amount of
Estimated Closing Cash, minus (d) the amount of Estimated Closing Indebtedness, minus (e) the amount of unpaid Estimated Transaction Expenses, plus (f) the Aggregate In-the-Money Warrant
Exercise Price, minus (g) the amount, if any, by which the long-term deferred revenue (calculated in accordance with GAAP) is greater than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue (for the
avoidance of doubt, if the long-term deferred revenue is less than the Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue, then the Aggregate Consideration shall not be increased by such amount).

“Aggregate Preferred Exchanged Securities Consideration” means the aggregate consideration payable with respect to Company Series A Prime Preferred RSU and Series A Prime Preferred
Warrants (collectively, “Exchanged Securities”) pursuant to Section 1.8, which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.

“Aggregate Non-Accredited Holder Consideration” means the amount of cash equal to the aggregate consideration payable to Non-Accredited Holders pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8,
which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.



“Aggregate Series A Prime Preferred Consideration” means the aggregate consideration payable with respect to the Series A Prime Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to
Closing pursuant to Section 1.7, which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.

“Aggregate In-the-Money Warrant Exercise Price” means $910,170.30, which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.

“AI Technology” means deep learning, machine learning, and other artificial intelligence technologies, including any and all (a) proprietary algorithms, Software or systems that make use of or
employ neural networks, statistical learning algorithms (such as linear and logistic regression, support vector machines, random forests, and k-means clustering), or reinforcement learning, and (b)
proprietary embodied artificial intelligence and related hardware or equipment.

“Anti-Corruption Law” means any Applicable Law relating to anti-bribery or anti-corruption (governmental or commercial), including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended,
U.K. Bribery Act, U.S. Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. section 201, and any other Applicable Law that prohibits the corrupt payment, offer, promise or authorization of the payment or transfer of anything
of value (including gifts, travel, or entertainment), directly or indirectly, to any Person, including any Government Official.

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, any applicable federal, state, national, provincial, regional, foreign, local, municipal or other law, statute, constitution, legislation, principle of
common law, case law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, directive, license, permit, regulation, ruling or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise
put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Entity and applicable to such Person and any Orders applicable to such Person or such Person’s Affiliates or to any of their respective
assets, properties or businesses.

“Applicable Statute of Limitations” means, with respect to any particular representation or warranty, the longest limitation period that may apply (under any Applicable Law) to any claim or action
(asserted or brought by any Indemnified Party against any Indemnifying Parties, by any party against the Company or by or against any other Person) that relates in any way to such representation
or warranty or that constitutes, gives rise to or relates in any way to any actual or alleged inaccuracy in or breach of such representation or warranty.

“Bank Information” means bank name and number, branch name and address, swift number, account number and other wire transfer information.

“Behavioral Data” means data collected from a web beacon, pixel tag, ad tag, cookie, local storage object, or other similar means, where such data (a) is collected from a particular computer or
device regarding website viewing or other activities on or in connection with applications or (b) is or may be used to identify or locate a user or device, to predict or infer the preferences, interests,
or other characteristics of a user of such device or application, or to target advertisements to a user of such device or application.

“Business” means the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted and as currently proposed to be conducted.

“Business Day” means a day other than (a) Saturday or Sunday and (b) on which commercial banks are open for business in San Francisco, California.

“Capital Stock” means the Common Stock and the Preferred Stock.

“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020.



“Certificate of Incorporation” means the Seventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated as of August 16, 2021.

“Change in Control Payments” means all bonus, severance or other payment obligations payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with and/or as a result of the Transactions
(including both “single trigger” and “double trigger” agreements or arrangements where the Merger is the first trigger). For the avoidance of doubt, “Change in Control Payments” shall not include
any Post-Signing Severance Obligations.

“Closing Cash” means all unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of the Company and its Subsidiaries (as defined by and determined in accordance with GAAP) as of
immediately prior to the Closing and, to the extent in accordance with GAAP, less (a) the aggregate amount of outstanding checks or drafts of the Company and its Subsidiaries that have not
posted, plus (b) checks received by the Company and its Subsidiaries that have not been posted, plus (c) deposits held by any landlord of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Cash and marketable
securities held in the Company’s non-U.S. Subsidiaries shall be treated as unrestricted cash and marketable securities.

“Closing Company RSU Consideration” means the consideration payable to holders of Company RSUs pursuant to Section 1.8(a)(ii).

“Closing Financial Certificate” means a certificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company (on behalf of the Company and not in either
individual’s personal capacity), dated as of the Closing Date, certifying the estimated amount as of the Closing Date of (a) the Working Capital Adjustment (including in support of the calculation
of the Working Capital Adjustment: (i) the estimated balance sheet of the Company as of immediately prior to the Closing prepared in accordance with GAAP in accordance with the Company’s
historical practices and methodologies and in a manner consistent with the Working Capital Adjustment Illustration, (ii) an itemized list of each element of the current assets of the Company and
(iii) an itemized list of each element of the total liabilities of the Company) (the “Estimated Working Capital Adjustment”), (b) the amount of Closing Cash (the “Estimated Closing Cash”), (c) an
itemized list of each item of Closing Indebtedness with a description of the nature of such Closing Indebtedness and the Person to whom such Closing Indebtedness is owed (the “Estimated
Closing Indebtedness”), (d) an itemized list of each unpaid Transaction Expense with a description of the nature of such Transaction Expense and the Person to whom such Transaction Expense is
owed (the “Estimated Transaction Expenses”) and (e) the amount of long-term deferred revenue (calculated in accordance with GAAP (the “Estimated Long-Term Deferred Revenue”). Any
payments to be made in any non-U.S. currency will be converted to U.S. Dollars for purposes of the Closing Financial Certificate using the exchange rate published by The Wall Street Journal,
Eastern Edition, seven (7) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

“Closing Indebtedness” means the aggregate amount of all outstanding Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of immediately prior to the Closing, which aggregate amount shall be
set forth in the Spreadsheet.

“Closing Stock Consideration” means the aggregate Parent Common Stock payable to Stockholders, RSU Holders and Warrantholders pursuant to Section 1.7 and Section 1.8.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share.

“Common Stock Exchange Ratio” means the quotient of (i) the Per Common Share Consideration divided by (ii) the Parent Stock Price, which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.



“Common Warrants” means warrants to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of Common Stock.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in Preamble.

“Company Common RSU” means a restricted stock unit with respect to Common Stock granted pursuant to one of the Company Equity Plans.

“Company Data” means all data (including Private Data, Training Data and Scraped Datasets) collected, generated, received, or otherwise Processed by or for the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, including: (a) in connection with the development, marketing, delivery, provision, operation, or use of any Company Product, or (b) in connection with Employees.

“Company Data Agreement” means any Contract involving Company Data, to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or is bound, excluding the Standard Terms; but including
any terms applicable to any Licensed Data, including (a) the end user license agreement or other terms that govern the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ use of any application programming interface
used to collect Training Data, and (b) the website terms or other terms that govern the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ collection and use of each Scraped Dataset.

“Company Equity Awards” means the Options and Company RSUs.

“Company Equity Plans” means, collectively, the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2012 Stock Option and Equity Incentive Plan.

“Company Owned Intellectual Property” means any and all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by the Company and any of its Subsidiaries.

“Company Intellectual Property Agreements” means the Outbound Licenses and the Inbound Licenses.

“Company Owned Data” means any Company Data owned or purported to be owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries considers to be
proprietary or Trade Secrets of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

“Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all Intellectual Property Rights that are owned by or purported to be owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Company Products” means all products or services produced, marketed, licensed, supported, sold, distributed or performed by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and all
products or services currently under development by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and scheduled for commercial release within ninety (90) days of the Agreement Date.

“Company Registered Intellectual Property” means the United States, international and foreign: (a) Patents, (b) designs and design applications, (c) registered Trademarks, applications to register
Trademarks, intent-to-use applications, or other registrations or applications related to Trademarks, (d) registered Internet domain names, (e) registered copyrights and applications for copyright
registration and (f) any other Intellectual Property Rights that are the subject of a filing or registration anywhere in the world, in each case registered or filed in the name of, or owned by, the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Company RSUs” means the Company Common RSUs and Company Series A Prime Preferred RSUs.



“Company Series A Prime Preferred RSU” means a restricted stock unit with respect to Series A Prime Preferred Stock granted pursuant to one of the Company Equity Plans.

“Company Source Code” means any Software source code that embodies any Company Owned Intellectual Property Rights.

“Continuing Party” means the Employees (including Key Employees) and Contractors who remain employees or contractors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately following the
Closing.

“Contract” means any written or oral legally binding contract, agreement, instrument, arrangement, commitment or undertaking of any nature (including leases, subleases, licenses, mortgages,
notes, guarantees, sublicenses, subcontracts, letters of intent and purchase orders), including all amendments, supplements, exhibits and schedules thereto.

“Contractor” means any current or former consultant and independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries

“Convertible Securities” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any securities that are convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for any shares (or other units) of any class or series of equity
securities of such Person, whether upon conversion, exercise, or exchange, pursuant to antidilution provisions of such securities or otherwise (other than, for purposes of this Agreement, the
Company Equity Awards, the Parent Equity Awards and the Warrants) and (b) any subscriptions, rights or calls (or any similar securities) or agreements or arrangements of any character, in each
case to acquire equity securities of such Person.

“COVID-19 Law” means any law or any scheme, program, arrangement or measures introduced or enacted by any Governmental Entity in response to or in connection with the COVID-19
pandemic, including any quarantine, “shelter in place,” “stay at home,” workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester, safety or similar measures, and any Tax Laws
introduced, or recommendations promulgated by any Governmental Entity, including the World Health Organization, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the CARES Act.

“Credit Agreement” means the Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2019, by and among the Company and certain of its Subsidiaries from time to time party thereto, various
Lenders and AB Private Credit Investors LLC, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, as amended.

“Employee” means any current or former employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Employee Plans” means (i) each “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) (whether or not
subject to ERISA); (ii) each outstanding loan to an Employee; (iii) all stock option, stock purchase, phantom stock, stock appreciation right, restricted stock unit, equity-based, supplemental
retirement or pension, vacation or paid-time off, sabbatical, medical, health, welfare, dental, vision care, insured or self-insured benefits for or relating to income continuation or other benefits
during absence from work (including short term disability, long term disability or other disability benefits), hospitalization, death or survivor’s benefits, supplementary employment insurance, day
care, tuition or professional commitments, employee relocation, cafeteria benefit (Section 125 of the Code), dependent care (Section 129 of the Code), life insurance, accident insurance, fringe
benefit or employee assistance plans, programs, or arrangements; (iv) all bonus, profit sharing, savings, termination, severance, change in control, retention, retirement, deferred compensation,
commission or incentive plans (including cash incentive plans), programs or arrangements; (v) all management, employment, executive compensation, relocation, repatriation, expatriation,
termination or severance



agreements, written or otherwise, (other than offer letters or employment agreements that are terminable “at-will”, without notice, severance or change in control pay or benefits, but including
forms of such offer letters and employment agreements); and (vi) each other compensation or benefit plan, policy, agreement, program, arrangement or commitment, in each case, which is
sponsored, maintained, administered or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and covers any current or former officer, director, employee, worker or other individual service
provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or the spouse, beneficiary or dependent thereof), or with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has or could have any liability
(whether actual or contingent), including on account of an ERISA Affiliate.

“Encumbrance” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, easement, encroachment, equitable interest, right of way, deed of trust, lien (statutory or other), pledge, charge, security interest,
title retention device, conditional sale or other security arrangement, collateral assignment, claim, adverse claim of title, right to acquire, right of first offer, right of first refusal, option or other
encumbrance or restriction of any kind or nature in respect of such asset ); provided, however, that restrictions on transfer of Equity Interests under Applicable Laws shall not constitute an
“Encumbrance.”

“Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements” means all Applicable Laws concerning or relating to worker/occupational health and safety, or pollution or protection of the environment, or the
presence, use, manufacturing, refining, production, generation, handling, transportation, treatment, recycling, transfer, storage, disposal, distribution, importing, labeling, testing, processing,
discharge, release, threatened release, or remediation of any Hazardous Material or any product containing a Hazardous Material, including product content and product take-back laws, each as
amended and as now in effect.

“Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any share of capital stock of, or other ownership, membership, partnership, joint venture or equity interest in, such Person, (b) any
indebtedness, securities, options, warrants, call, subscription or other rights of, or granted by, such Person or any of its Affiliates that are convertible into, or are exercisable or exchangeable for, or
giving any Person any right to acquire any such share of capital stock or other ownership, partnership, joint venture or equity interest, in all cases, whether vested or unvested, (c) any stock
appreciation right, phantom stock, interest in the ownership or earnings of such Person or other equity equivalent or equity-based award or right, or (d) any Indebtedness having the right to vote (or
convertible into or exchangeable for securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which any Securityholder may vote.

“ERISA Affiliate” of any entity means any other entity that, together with such entity, would be treated as a single employer within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001(b)(1)
of ERISA.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Excluded Long-Term Deferred Revenue” means an amount equal to $13,000,000.

“Existing Voting Agreement” means the Fifth Amended and Restated Voting Agreement of the Company, dated as of January 8, 2021, as amended, by and among the Company and the
stockholders party thereto.

“Fraud” means intentional common law fraud under Delaware law committed by a Person in the making of the representations and warranties in this Agreement (as modified by the Disclosure
Letters).

“Fully Diluted Common Shares” means the sum, without duplication, of (a) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time,



plus (b) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon settlement of all Company Common RSUs that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

“GDPR” means the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679.

“Government Official” means (a) any official, employee, agent or representative of, or any Person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of, any Governmental Entity, or any official,
employee, agent or representative of, or any Person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of, a company, business, enterprise or other entity owned, in whole or in part, or controlled by any
Governmental Entity.

“Governmental Entity” means any supranational, national, state, provincial, municipal, local, tribal or foreign governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division,
department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, ministry, fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or Person, and any court or other tribunal), or Person to whom a
Governmental Entity has assigned or delegated any authority or oversight responsibilities, or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, any court, tribunal, arbitrator, mediator,
administrative agency, commission or other Government Official, authority or instrumentality, in each case whether domestic or foreign, any stock exchange or similar self-regulatory organization
or any quasi-governmental or private body exercising any executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory, Taxing or other functions of, or pertaining to, government authority (including any
governmental or political division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, organization, unit, body or entity and any court or other tribunal).

“Governmental Grant” means any grant, funding, loan, incentive, subsidy or other economic benefit provided, applied for or made available by or on behalf of or under the authority of any
Governmental Entity.

“Hazardous Material” means any material, chemical, substance, emission or waste that has been designated under Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements as toxic, hazardous, radioactive,
a pollutant or contaminant or otherwise a danger to human, health or safety.

“Incidental License” means any non-exclusive license entered into in the ordinary course of business that is not material to the applicable business and merely incidental to the transaction
contemplated in such license, the commercial purpose of which is primarily for something other than such license, such as: (a) sales or marketing or similar Contract that includes a license to use
Trademarks for the purposes of promoting the goods or services of the Company; (b) vendor Contract that includes permission for the vendor to identify the Company as a customer of the vendor;
(c) Contract to purchase or lease equipment or materials, such as a photocopier, computer, or mobile phone that also contains a license of Intellectual Property Rights; or (d) license for the use of
Software that is preconfigured, preinstalled, or embedded on hardware or other equipment.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication: (a) all liabilities of such Person for borrowed money, whether current or funded, secured or unsecured, all obligations evidenced by
bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, and all liabilities in respect of mandatorily redeemable or purchasable shares of capital stock or securities convertible into shares of capital stock,
(b) all liabilities of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services, which are required to be classified and accounted for under GAAP as liabilities, (c) all liabilities of such
Person in respect of any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use)  personal property which are, and to the extent, required to be classified and accounted for under GAAP as
capital leases, (d) all liabilities of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any drawn letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction securing obligations of a type
described in



clauses (a), (b), (c) or above to the extent of the obligation secured, (e) all guarantees by such Person of any liabilities of a third party of a nature similar to the types of liabilities described in
clauses (a), (b), (c) or above, to the extent of the obligation guaranteed, (f) all unpaid employment and payroll Taxes deferred by the Company in connection with the CARES Act, (g) all interest,
fees, change of control payments, prepayment premiums and other expenses owed with respect to the indebtedness referred to in clauses (a) through (d) above, (h) fifty percent (50%) of the
accrued bonuses for (1) the 2H 2021 Management Incentive Plan bonus and (2) the annual bonuses for employees in Portugal at Closing, (i) all retention (including bonuses) and severance
agreements entered into between the Agreement Date and prior to Closing, and (j) all accrued severance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness of the Company shall not include any (x)
unpaid Transaction Expenses, (y) short or long term deferred revenue or (z) except as provided above, Taxes.

“Indemnifiable Transaction Expenses” means any Liabilities for Transaction Expenses not paid prior to the Closing, not set forth on the Closing Financial Certificate and taken into account when
calculating the Aggregate Consideration. All Indemnifiable Transaction Expenses shall constitute “Losses” for purposes of Article 8.

“Indemnifying Party” means the Stockholders, RSU Holders, the Management Carve-out Recipients and holders of In-the-Money Warrants that are, in each case, Accredited Holders.

“Infringement” or “Infringe” means that a given item or activity directly or indirectly (including secondarily, contributorily, by inducement or otherwise) infringes, misappropriates, dilutes,
constitutes unauthorized use of, or otherwise violates the Intellectual Property Rights, or any rights of publicity, privacy or other rights to use the name, likeness, image, photograph, voice, identity
or Personal Data, of any Person.

“Intellectual Property” means (a) Intellectual Property Rights and (b) Technology.

“Intellectual Property Rights” means, all intellectual or industrial property rights, which may exist or be created under the Laws of any jurisdiction in the world, including any (a) registered and
unregistered trademarks, service marks, logos, Internet domain names, trade dress and trade names, registrations and applications for registration of the foregoing, and the goodwill associated
therewith (“Trademarks”), (b) patents and patent applications, including reissues, divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part, renewals, extensions and reexaminations of any of the foregoing
(“Patents”), (c) confidential and proprietary information, including rights relating to know-how or trade secrets, including methods, models, techniques and inventions (whether patentable or
unpatentable) (“Trade Secrets”), (d) registered or unregistered copyrightable works, copyrights, and registrations and applications for registration of the foregoing, (e) rights in data, data
compilations and databases, and (f) rights in or relating to registrations, renewals, extensions, combinations, divisions and reissues of, and applications for, any of the rights referred to in clauses
(a) through (f) above.

“In-the-Money Warrants” means Warrants that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time for which the Per Common Share Consideration or Per Series A Prime Preferred
Share Consideration, as applicable, exceeds the applicable exercise price.

“Key Employees” means each of Aaron Evans, Ronald Calixto, Martin Ianni and David Donatelli, collectively.

“knowledge” means, with respect to any fact, circumstance, event or other matter in question, the knowledge of such fact, circumstance, event or other matter assuming reasonable inquiry of (a) an
individual, if used in reference to an individual, (b) with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, Brian Day, Robert Scudiere, John Milton and Ed Durkin and (c) with respect to Parent, David
Sipes, Samuel Wilson and Matthew Zinn; provided, that any individual set forth in clause (b) or (c) of this definition will be deemed to have knowledge “after reasonable inquiry” regarding a



particular fact, circumstance, event or other matter if and to the extent (i) such fact, circumstance, event or other matter is reflected in one or more documents (whether written or electronic,
including electronic mails) sent to or by such individual, or (ii) such knowledge could be obtained from reasonable inquiry of such individual’s direct reports.

“Legal Proceeding” means any private or governmental action, inquiry, claim, proceeding, suit, complaint, hearing, litigation, audit, investigation or dispute, in each case whether civil, criminal,
administrative, judicial or investigative, or any appeal therefrom, in each case by or before any Governmental Entity or arbitrator.

“Liabilities” (and, with correlative meaning, “Liability”) means all debts, liabilities, commitments and obligations, whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured,
determined or determinable, liquidated or unliquidated, asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, whenever or however arising, regardless of whether such debt, liability, commitment or
obligation would be required to be reflected on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP or disclosed in the notes thereto.

“Losses” means any loss, damage, injury, liability, settlement, judgment, award, fine, assessments, penalty, fee (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), charge and reasonable cost (including costs of
investigation, reasonable third party expert and consultant fees and expenses); provided, however, that under no circumstances will any party to this Agreement by liable to any other party for any
punitive, special, incidental or consequential damages except to the extent such damages are actually awarded to a third-party.

“Management Carveout Plan” shall mean the Company’s Amended and Restated Change in Control Carveout Bonus Agreement.

“Management Carveout Recipients” shall mean those individuals set forth on Exhibit M.

“Material Adverse Effect” with respect to any Person means any change, event, violation, inaccuracy, circumstance or effect (each, an “Effect”) that, individually or taken together with all other
Effects, and regardless of whether or not such Effect constitutes a breach of the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or obligations of such Person herein, (a) is, or would reasonably
be likely to be or become, materially adverse in relation to the financial condition, assets (including intangible assets), Liabilities, business, operations or results of operations of such entity and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (b) materially and adversely affects, or is reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect, such Person’s ability to consummate the Transactions in accordance
with this Agreement and Applicable Law, except in the case of clause (a) above for any such Effect to the extent it results from (i) any natural disaster or act of God, any act of terrorism, war or
other hostilities, any regional, national or international calamity, the COVID-19 pandemic or any other similar event; (ii) changes in any Applicable Law or GAAP; (iii) general economic
conditions (or changes in such conditions) in the United States or any other country or region in the world, or conditions in the global economy generally; (iv) conditions (or changes in such
conditions) in the industries in which the Company conducts its business; (v) the announcement, execution or delivery of the Agreement or the pendency or consummation of the Merger, including
any disruption in (or loss of) customer, supplier, service provider, partner or similar relationships or any loss of employees; (vi) any action taken by the Company or its Subsidiaries at Parent’s
direction, (vii) any action referred to in Section 4.2 taken by the Company with Parent’s prior written consent, (viii) the failure to take any action referred to in Section 4.2 that was not taken by the
Company because Parent withheld its consent; (ix) the failure of the Company to meet internal expectations or projections; or (x) any adverse effect resulting directly or indirectly from any breach
by Parent or Merger Sub of any provision of this Agreement or the taking of any other action by Parent or Merger Sub provided, that in the case of subsections (i)-(iv), that such Effects do not,
individually or in the aggregate, have a materially disproportionate adverse impact on the applicable Person and its



Subsidiaries (if any), taken as whole, relative to other Persons in the industries or markets in which such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (if any) operate.

“Non-Accredited Holders” means (a) with respect to any time before the Closing, collectively, the holders of record of shares of Capital Stock outstanding as of such time and (b) with respect to
any time at or after the Closing, collectively, the holders of record of shares of Capital Stock outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, in each case, who are not Accredited
Holders.

“Non-Tax Fundamental Representations” means the Fundamental Representations, other than Section 2.11 (Taxes).

“Non-U.S. Plan” means an Employee Plan that is subject to the laws of a jurisdiction other than the U.S. (whether or not U.S. law also applies).

“Open Source Materials” means Software or other material that is distributed as “free software,” “open source software” or under similar licensing or distribution terms (including but not limited
to the GNU General Public License (GPL), GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPL), GNU Affero General Public License (AGPL), Server Side Public License (SSPL), Redis Source
Available License Agreement, any license that includes the Commons Clause, any “sharealike” Creative Commons licenses (such as CC-BY-SA 4.0), European Union Public License (EUPL),
Mozilla Public License (MPL), BSD licenses, the Artistic License, the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community Source License (SCSL) the Sun Industry Standards License (SISL) and the
Apache License).

“Optionholders” means the holders of record of Options.

“Options” means options to purchase shares of Capital Stock granted pursuant to one of the Company Equity Plans.

“Order” means any order, judgment, writ, decree, stipulation, determination, decision, award, rule, preliminary or permanent injunction, temporary restraining order or other order of any
Governmental Entity or arbitrator.

“Parent Advisory Expenses” means any fees, costs expenses, payments and expenditures incurred or required to be paid by Parent in connection with indemnifiable matters pursuant to the Tax
Indemnity Holdback.

“Parent Capital Stock” means the Parent Capital Stock and Parent Preferred Stock.

“Parent Common Stock” means the Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Parent.

“Parent Convertible Senior Notes” means the 0.50% convertible senior notes due 2024 issued under that certain Indenture, dated as of February 19, 2019, by and among Parent and certain other
parties.

“Parent Equity Awards” means the Parent Options, Parent RSUs and Parent PSUs.

“Parent Equity Plans” means, collectively, the 2006 Stock Plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2013 New Employee Inducement Incentive Plan and the 2017 New Employee Inducement
Incentive Plan.

“Parent Options” means options to purchase shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to one of the Parent Equity Plans.

“Parent Preferred Stock” means the Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Parent.



“Parent Stock Price” means $21.67.

“Per Common Share Consideration” means the quotient of (a) the sum of (i) the Aggregate Consideration, minus (ii) the Aggregate Series A Prime Preferred Consideration, minus (iii) the
Aggregate Preferred Exchanged Securities Consideration, divided by (b) the Fully Diluted Common Shares, which amount shall be set forth in the Spreadsheet.

“Per Series A Prime Preferred Share Consideration” means, with respect to each Series A Prime Preferred Share, an amount equal to $0.577008, which amount shall be set forth in the
Spreadsheet.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means: (a) statutory liens for Taxes that are not yet due and payable or liens for Taxes being contested in good faith by any appropriate proceedings for which adequate
reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (b) encumbrances that do not materially impair the ownership or use of or do not materially detract from the value of the assets to which
they relate, (c)  statutory liens to secure obligations to landlords, lessors or renters under leases or rental agreements arising in the ordinary course of business for sums not yet due and payable or
which are being contested in good faith, (d) deposits or pledges made in connection with, or to secure payment of, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or similar programs mandated
by Applicable Law, (e) statutory liens in favor of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen, to secure claims for labor, materials or supplies and other like liens, in each case for
amounts not yet due and payable, (f) liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of Applicable Law to secure payments of customs duties in connection with the
importation of goods, (g) easements, reservations, rights-of-way, restrictions, minor defects or irregularities in title and other similar liens of public record affecting real property not materially
detracting from the value of or interfering in any material respect with the current use, or ordinary conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (h) liens arising solely by virtue of
any statutory or common law provision relating to banker’s liens, rights of setoff or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained with a creditor depository
institution; (i) liens in favor of other financial institutions arising in connection with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ deposit accounts or securities accounts held at such institutions to secure
customary fees, charges, and the like and (j) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary course of business. “Person” means any individual, company, corporation
(including non-profit corporation), limited liability company, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, trust, estate, proprietorship, joint venture, enterprise, association,
business organization or Governmental Entity.

“Personal Data” means (a) an individual’s name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address, photograph, Social Security number or tax identification number, driver’s license number,
passport number, credit card number, bank information, or customer or account number, biometric identifiers (including video or photographic images, fingerprints and voice biometric data
relating to individuals), health-related information or data, or any other piece of information that allows the location of, identification of, or contact with an individual, (b) any other information
defined as “personal data”, “personally identifiable information”, “individually identifiable health information,” “protected health information,” “personal information” or a similar term under any
Applicable Law (for clarity, including any pseudonymized, purportedly deidentified, anonymized and aggregate data, any information capable of identifying a household or specific device, and
any information reconstitutable or re-identifiable), and (c) any information that is associated, directly or indirectly (by, for example, records linked via unique keys), with any of the foregoing.

“Personal Data Breach” means a breach of security leading to the accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorized disclosure of, or access to, Personal Data.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any Taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Tax Period beginning after the Closing Date.



“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Tax Period ending on the Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means, without duplication, any and all Liabilities for (a) Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is liable to pay,
with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (including any Taxes imposed with respect to a Straddle Tax Period that are allocated to a Pre-Closing Tax Period in accordance with Section 5.14(h)); (b)
Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries deferred under any COVID-19 Law; (c) Taxes of any Person imposed on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (i) as a result of being a member
of an affiliated, consolidated, controlled, fiscal, combined or unitary group prior to the Closing Date, (ii) as a transferee or successor of another entity prior to the Closing Date, or (iii) by Contract
(other than a Contract entered into in the ordinary course of business the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes); and (d) the Securityholders’ portion of any Transfer Taxes set forth in
Section 5.14; provided, however, that Pre-Closing Taxes shall not include (i) any Taxes resulting from an election under Sections 336 or 338 of the Code (or comparable provisions of state, local
or foreign Tax law) with respect to the transactions set forth in this Agreement; (ii) any Taxes resulting from any transactions occurring on the Closing Date after the Closing outside the ordinary
course of business of the Company and its Subsidiaries and (iii) any Transfer Taxes for which Buyer is liable pursuant to Section 6.8(d).

“Preferred Stock” means the Series A Prime Preferred Stock.

“Privacy Laws” means all Applicable Laws, and self-regulatory principles (to the extent legally binding) applicable to the security, protection or Processing of Private Data, which may include
(without limitation), to the extent applicable to the Company or its Subsidiaries, the GDPR, the GDPR as transposed into the national laws of the UK, the UK Data Protection Act 2018, the
Privacy and Electronic Communications (EC Directive) Regulations 2003, those relating to international data transfers, Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, Payment Card Industry
Data Security Standard, direct marketing, emails, text messages or telemarketing, and including any predecessor, successor or implementing legislation in respect of the foregoing, and any
amendments or re-enactments of the foregoing.

“Privacy Policies” means, collectively, any and all privacy policies (internal or publicly available) and public representations relating to the Processing and protection of Private Data or other
Company Data Processed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Private Data” means Behavioral Data and Personal Data.

“Process” or “Processing” means, with respect to data, the use, collection, processing, storage, recording, organization, adaption, alteration, transfer, retrieval, consultation, disclosure,
dissemination, combination, restriction, erasure or destruction of such data, or any other operation or set of operations that is performed on Private Data as defined under applicable Privacy Laws.

“Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to each Indemnifying Party, the portion of the Aggregate Consideration and Management Carveout Plan proceeds allocated to such Indemnifying Party
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, relative to the Aggregate Consideration and Management Carveout Plan proceeds allocated to all Indemnifying Parties, expressed as a percentage rounded
to four decimal places. For purposes of this definition, each share of Parent Common Stock shall be valued at the Parent Stock Price.

“Release” means a legally enforceable separation agreement containing a general waiver and release of claims, in a form reasonably satisfactory to Parent.



“Representatives” means, with respect to a Person, such Person’s officers, directors, members, stockholders or employees, or any investment banker, attorney, accountant, auditor or other advisor
or representative retained by any of them.

“Required Stockholders” means the affirmative vote of the holders who constitute at least a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock, voting or
consenting together as a single class on an as-converted basis, including three (3) of (a) Bessemer Venture Partners VIII LP and its affiliated funds, (b) Summit Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-
A, L.P. and its affiliated funds, (c) TCV VIII, L.P. and its affiliated funds and (d) Crestline Opportunity IV Master Fund I, L.P. and its affiliated funds.

“Required Stockholder Approval” means the affirmative vote of the holders who constitute at least (i) a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock, including three (3) of
(a) Bessemer Venture Partners VIII LP and its affiliated funds, (b) Summit Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-A, L.P. and its affiliated funds, (c) TCV VIII, L.P. and its affiliated funds and (d)
Crestline Opportunity IV Master Fund I, L.P. and its affiliated funds (voting together as a single class), and (ii) a majority of the outstanding shares of Capital Stock (voting together as a single
class on an as-converted to Common Stock basis).

“Restricted Activity” means any (i) investment in the Company (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any borrowing in the normal course of the Company’s business operations under the
Company’s corporate credit facilities), (ii) other issuance by the Company (whether by way of sale or otherwise) of equity interests of the Company (other than the granting, exercise or payout of
employee incentive awards in the ordinary course of business unrelated to the Transactions), (iii) disposition (whether by way of sale, offer, transfer or otherwise) or encumbrance of all, or part of,
the business or assets of the Company other than dispositions or encumbrances in the normal course of the Company’s business operations, or (iv) any material changes to the Company’s lines of
business or product offerings.

“RSU Holders” means the holders of Company RSUs.

“Scraped Dataset” means Training Data that was collected or generated using web scraping, web crawling, or web harvesting Software or any Software, service, tool or other Technology that turns
the unstructured data found on the web into machine readable, structured data.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Securityholders” means the Stockholders, Warrantholders, Optionholders and RSU Holders, collectively.

“Seller Agent Expense Amount” means an amount of cash equal to $250,000, unless otherwise determined by the Seller Agent prior to Closing.

“Seller Agent Expense Fund” means the Seller Agent Expense Amount deposited with the Seller Agent.

“Series A Prime Preferred Exchange Ratio” means the quotient of (i) the Per Series A Prime Preferred Share Consideration divided by (ii) the Parent Stock Price, which amount shall be set forth in
the Spreadsheet.

“Series A Prime Preferred Stock” means the Series A Prime Preferred Stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share.



“Series A Prime Preferred Warrants” means warrants to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of Series A Prime Preferred Stock.

“Software” means any and all computer programs and other software in any form or format, including firmware, middleware, software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies,
whether in source code, object code or other form, including libraries, frameworks, software development kits, application programming interfaces (APIs), subroutines, toolsets, procedures and
other components thereof.

“SOX” means Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

“Standard Terms” means the standard terms of service entered into by users or customers of the Company Products (copies of which have been provided to Parent).

“Stockholders” means the Accredited Holders and Non-Accredited Holders.

“Straddle Tax Period” means any Taxable period beginning on or prior to and ending after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” as to a Person, means any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other Person of which such Person, either alone or together with one or more Subsidiaries or by one
or more other Subsidiaries (a) directly or indirectly owns or purports to own, beneficially or of record securities or other interests representing more than 50% of the outstanding equity, voting
power, or financial interests of such Person or (b) is entitled, by Contract or otherwise, to elect, appoint or designate directors constituting a majority of the members of such Person’s board of
directors or other governing body.

“Target Working Capital” means $(8,422,000) (which, for the avoidance of doubt, is a negative number).

“Tax” (and, with correlative meaning, “Taxes” and “Taxable”) means (a) any federal, state, local or foreign income, capital gains, alternative or add-on minimum, base erosion minimum, diverted
profits, estimated, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, value added, ad valorem, franchise, capital stock or other equity securities, net worth, profits, license, registration, withholding,
employment, unemployment, disability, severance, occupation, social security (or similar, including FICA), payroll, workers’ compensation, transfer, financial transaction, conveyance,
documentary, stamp, property (real, tangible or intangible), commercial rent, premium, environmental, windfall profits, unclaimed property and other taxes of any kind, repayments of any grants,
subsidies, state aid or similar amounts received or deemed received from any Governmental Entity, any customs duties, escheat obligation, or any other fees, charges, levies, excises, duties or
assessments of any kind in the nature of (or similar to) taxes, together with any interest, penalties or addition thereto, imposed under applicable Tax Law, and (b) any penalty or additions
attributable thereto or attributable to any failure to comply with any requirement regarding any Tax Return.

“Tax Authority” means any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over the assessment, determination, reporting, collection, or administration of any Taxes.

“Tax Return” means any return, information return, report, statement, report, form, voucher or schedule filed or required to be filed with respect to Taxes, together with any amendment thereof and
any attachment thereto.

“Tax Sharing Agreement” means any Tax sharing, allocation or indemnification or similar agreement, provision or arrangement, other than pursuant to any ordinary-course commercial



contract the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes and that is germane to the subject matter of such contract.

“Transfer Taxes” means any and all transfer, documentary, stamp, stamp duty, registration, recording and other similar Taxes (including any penalties, interest and additions thereto) incurred or
imposed in respect of the Transactions.

“Technology” means any and all of the following: works of authorship, Software, assemblers, applets, compilers, user interfaces, protocols, architectures, documentation, annotations, comments,
designs, files, records, schematics, test methodologies, test vectors, emulation and simulation tools and reports, hardware development tools, models, tooling, prototypes, breadboards and other
devices, data, data structures, databases, data compilations and collections, inventions (whether or not patentable), invention disclosures, discoveries, improvements, technology, proprietary and
confidential ideas and information, know-how and information maintained as Trade Secrets, tools, concepts, techniques, methods, processes, formulae, patterns, algorithms and specifications,
customer lists and supplier lists and any and all instantiations or embodiments of the foregoing in any form and embodied in any media.

“Training Data” means training data, validation data, and test data or databases used to train or improve an algorithm or AI Technology.

“Transaction Deductions” means, without duplication and regardless of by whom paid, the aggregate amount of Tax deductions, to the extent deductible by the Company at a “more likely than
not” (or higher) confidence level (though no formal tax opinion shall be required) in the Pre-Closing Tax Period for income Tax purposes under applicable Tax law, attributable to the following
items: (a) any and all compensation which becomes payable by the Company as a result of, based upon or in connection with the consummation of the Transactions (either alone or in connection
with any other event, whether contingent or otherwise, and including payments in respect of Company Equity Awards); (b) payment of Transaction Expenses; (c) payment of Indebtedness in
connection with the Closing; and (d) other expenses, liabilities or payments of the Company economically borne by the Securityholders (including being taken into account in determining Target
Working Capital.

“Transaction Documents” means the Confidentiality Agreement, the Exchange Agreement, the Certificate of Merger, the Registration Rights Agreement, the Accredited Investor Questionnaires,
the Stockholder Written Consent, the Offer Letters, the Key Employee Agreements, the Waivers, the Releases, the Parachute Payment Waivers and all other agreements and certificates entered
into in connection with the Transactions.

“Transaction Expenses” means all unpaid third-party fees, costs, expenses, payments and expenditures incurred or required to be paid by the Company at or prior to the Closing in connection with
the Transactions whether or not, billed or accrued prior to the Closing, including (a) the amount of fees, costs, expenses, payments and expenditures payable to brokers, finders, financial advisors,
investment bankers or similar Persons, (b) Transaction Payroll Taxes, (c) all premiums and other amounts payable to obtain the Tail Insurance Coverage, (d) fifty percent (50%) the fees, costs and
expenses payable to the Exchange Agent and the Paying Agent in connection with the Transactions, (e) all Change in Control Payments, (f) fifty percent (50%) of the fees owed pursuant to the
HSR Act or any other Antitrust Law, (g) all amounts owed to the Board of Directors of the Company, and (h) any such fees, costs, expenses, payments, and expenditures incurred by
Securityholders and/or Key Employees the Company agrees prior to Closing, in writing to pay for.

“Transaction Payroll Taxes” means any employment, payroll or similar Taxes with respect to any Change in Control Payments, bonuses, option cashouts or other compensatory payments in
connection with the Transactions, whether payable by Parent, the Company or any of their Affiliates.



For the avoidance of doubt, “Transaction Payroll Taxes” do not include Taxes, which are the responsibility of the employee and which are typically withheld from employee wages.

“Waiver” means a legally enforceable waiver by the Employee or Contractor of his or her right to claim that the Transactions triggers any existing “good reason” or similar triggers in any
Employee Plan applicable to the Employee or Contractor and all Change in Control Payments applicable to the Employee or Contractor, in a form satisfactory to Parent.

“Warrants” means the Common Warrants and the Series A Prime Preferred Warrants.

“Working Capital Adjustment” means (a) the total current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of immediately prior to the Closing (as defined by
and determined in accordance with GAAP as applied in the Balance Sheet) minus (b) the total current liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of immediately prior to the Closing (as
defined by and determined in accordance with GAAP as applied in the Balance Sheet) minus (c) the Target Working Capital; provided, that if such number is within the Working Capital Range, the
Working Capital Adjustment shall be deemed to be zero (0). For purposes of calculating the Working Capital Adjustment, the Company’s total current liabilities shall (i) include, without double
counting, all liabilities for Taxes (excluding income taxes) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for periods, or partial periods, on or after January 1, 2021, other than Transaction Payroll
Taxes, first due after the Closing, calculated in accordance with the Company’s past practices, and accrued through the Closing Date, and (ii) exclude all Liabilities for (A) the amount of Change in
Control Payments as set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate, (B) the amount of Closing Indebtedness as set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate, (C) the amount of unpaid Transaction
Expenses as set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate, (D) long term deferred revenue, and (E) amounts accrued for obligations in connection with the contract set forth on Schedule 5.21 of the
Company Disclosure Letter (excluding any products that the Company and its Subsidiaries may have in possession as of the Agreement Date), and (ii) exclude any amounts in connection with the
Special Indemnity Taxes and sales and use Tax matters pursuant to Section 8.3(e). For the avoidance of doubt, the Working Capital Adjustment may be a negative number. The Working Capital
Adjustment shall be prepared in a manner consistent with the illustrative calculation (the “Working Capital Adjustment Illustration” attached hereto as Exhibit L. In connection with the
calculations of net working capital, for any outstanding customer credit balance included in accounts receivable relate to erroneous customer overpayments, no amounts may be written off
between the Agreement Date and Closing, unless a corresponding cash payment is made to the respective customer. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjusting entry or clean-up entry recorded
related to customer credit balances (related to erroneous customer overpayments requiring refunds or subject to escheat payments) in accounts receivable may not have an impact to net working
capital balances unless such entries are fully offset by a cash payment to a customer.

“Working Capital Range” shall mean $(7,159,000) to $(9,264,000) (which, for the avoidance of doubt, are negative numbers).
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8x8 to Acquire Fuze

Deal Accelerates 8x8 XCaaS Innovation and Global Enterprise Momentum for Integrated Cloud Communications and Contact Center Solution
CAMPBELL, Calif.— December 1, 2021 — 8x8, Inc. (NYSE: EGHT), a leading integrated cloud communications platform provider, today announced that it has entered into a definitive
agreement to acquire Fuze, a leader in cloud based communications for the enterprise. Under the terms of the agreement, 8x8 will acquire Fuze for approximately $250 million in stock and cash,
subject to certain adjustments. The acquisition will accelerate 8x8 XCaaS™ (eXperience Communications as a Service™) innovation and expand 8x8’s enterprise customer base and global
presence. The transaction is expected to close during 8x8’s fourth fiscal quarter, subject to the satisfaction of regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

“The migration to cloud-based communications and engagement is accelerating as organizations worldwide shift to hybrid work models, creating a multi-billion dollar opportunity,” said Dave
Sipes, CEO at 8x8. "Our XCaaS strategy is defining and shaping the future of the cloud communications industry as we drive innovation to help our customers meet their changing business
requirements. The acquisition of Fuze expands our operational scale and extends our global presence as we meet enterprise demand for our XCaaS integrated UCaaS and CCaaS solution.”

Fuze has global operations dedicated to a seamless customer experience between unified communications and contact center. Acquiring Fuze will further support innovation and development of
8x8 XCaaS, a single-vendor, integrated Unified Communications as a Service (UCaaS), Contact Center as a Service (CCaaS), and Communications Platform as a Service (CPaaS) solution.

“Enterprise customers recognize the importance of an integrated UCaaS and CCaaS solution. 8x8’s industry-leading XCaaS solution for an integrated employee and customer experience
enables customers to advance their cloud transformation efforts as they move off legacy on-premises systems,” said Brian Day, CEO of Fuze. “Combining resources and expertise with 8x8 is a
natural fit, bringing with it needed scale and accelerating the pace of product innovation with differentiated solutions that capitalize on this massive opportunity, all of which will serve to benefit our
enterprise customer base.”

The acquisition will deliver strong value to customers, employees, partners and stakeholders by:
• Accelerating the XCaaS platform advantage with dramatically increased resources for research and development, engineering and support.
• Expanding the enterprise customer base and global presence, especially in continental Europe.
• Providing significant cross-sell opportunities with 8x8’s omnichannel contact center and CPaaS capabilities to support enterprise customer engagement efforts.

Both 8x8 and Fuze are uniquely recognized in the marketplace. 8x8 was recently named a Leader and Fuze a Visionary in the 2021 Gartner® Magic Quadrant™ for Unified Communications as
a Service, Worldwide. This was the tenth consecutive year 8x8 was recognized as a Leader. 8x8 was also named a Challenger in the 2021 Gartner Magic Quadrant for Contact Center as a
Service for the seventh consecutive year.

Transaction Terms and Financial Impact
• Approximately $250 million in aggregate consideration, subject to certain adjustments, composed of approximately $130 million in cash and $120 million in common stock of 8x8.



• Up to $130.2 million will be used to retire Fuze’s debt and pay for the equity owned by non-accredited stockholders of Fuze.
• 8x8 expects to file a resale registration statement for the shares to be issued in connection with the transaction after the closing.

8x8 expects to remain non-GAAP profitable after the transaction closes.

Conference Call and Webcast
8x8 will host a conference call today, December 1, 2021, at 8:30 a.m. Eastern time (5:30 a.m. Pacific time) to discuss the announcement. Interested parties may access the conference call by
dialing 844-200-6205 (domestic) or 646-904-5544 (international) and providing passcode 041014. 
A live audio webcast of the call can be accessed from the Investor Relations section of the company’s website at https://investors.8x8.com. An archived version of the webcast will be available at
the same website shortly after the conclusion of the live event.

About 8x8 XCaaS
8x8 XCaaS, which includes a fully integrated, cloud native contact center, voice, team chat, video meetings, and CPaaS embeddable communications and APIs capabilities in a single-vendor
solution, to empower a distributed workforce, while providing adaptable solutions that meet evolving organizational needs. 8x8 XCaaS is built on the resilient, secure, and compliant 8x8
eXperience Communications Platform™, which offers the highest levels of reliability and the industry’s only financially backed, platform-wide 99.999 percent SLA across an integrated cloud
UCaaS and CCaaS solution.

About 8x8 Inc.
8x8, Inc. (NYSE: EGHT) is transforming the future of business communications as a leading Software-as-a-Service provider of 8x8 XCaaS™ (eXperience Communications as a Service™), an
integrated contact center, voice communications, video, chat and API solution built on one global cloud communications platform. 8x8 uniquely eliminates the silos between Unified
Communications as a Service (UCaaS) and Contact Center as a Service (CCaaS) to power the communications requirements of all employees globally as they work together to deliver
differentiated customer experiences. For additional information, visit www.8x8.com, or follow 8x8 on LinkedIn, Twitter and Facebook.

8x8®, 8x8 XCaaS™, eXperience Communications as a Service™ are trademarks of 8x8, Inc.

Forward Looking Statements:
This news release contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Any
statements that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as "may," "will," "should," "estimates," "predicts," "potential,"
"continue," "strategy," "believes," "anticipates," "plans," "expects," "intends," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements, rely
on a number of assumptions concerning future events and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including but not limited to: changing industry trends, operational and
economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, new product innovations and integrations, market demand for our products, channel and e-commerce growth, sales and marketing activities,
strategic partnerships, business strategies, customer acquisition and support costs, customer churn, future operating performance and efficiencies, financial outlook, revenue growth, profitability
and risks that the transaction may not close due to the failure to satisfy all required conditions.



###

8x8, Inc. Contacts:

Investor Relations:
Kate Patterson, 1-408-763-8175
katherine.patterson@8x8.com

Media:
John Sun, 1-408-692-7054
john.sun@8x8.com



© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. The eXperience Communications Platform 8x8 to Acquire Fuze December 1, 2021



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Forward-looking statements This presentation includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements relate to the release of new products, the total addressable market demand for products, changing industry trends and competition, business strategies, future operating performance and outlook, and the timing and ability to close our acquisition of Fuze and the impact it will have our financial results. These forward-looking statements are predictions only, and actual events or results may differ materially from such statements depending on a variety of factors. These factors include, but are not limited to: ● Customer adoption and demand for our products may be lower than we anticipate. ● Whether we are able to deliver the expected synergies of the Fuze acquisition, retain key customers and employees and successfully integrate Fuze into our business.. ● Impact of economic downturns on us and our customers, including from the COVID-19 pandemic. ● Competitive dynamics of the UCaaS, CCaaS, CPaaS, video and other markets in which we compete may change in ways we are not anticipating. ● Impact of supply chain disruptions; ● Third parties may assert ownership rights in our IP, which may limit or prevent our continued use of the core technologies behind our solutions. ● We may not achieve our target service revenue growth rate, or the revenue, earnings, bookings or other amounts we forecast in our guidance, for a particular quarter or for the full fiscal year of 2022. ● Our customer churn rate may be higher than we anticipate and we may not be able to successfully cross sell our existing customers or those we obtain through the Fuze acquisition. ● Our Investments we make in marketing, channel and value-added resellers (VARs), e-commerce, new products, may not result in revenue growth. For a discussion of such risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements, see “Risk Factors” in the Forms 10-K and 10-Q filed by 8x8, Inc. with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary state
have presented certain Fuze historical financial information in this presentation. These financial numbers have not been audited and have been prepared on a different basis than the company’s financial statements and should not be viewed as a proxy for what those numbers would have been had they been prepared on the same basis as the company’s financial statements. See Appendix for Non-GAAP reconciliation and disclaimers.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Today’s speakers Dave Sipes 8x8 CEO Sam Wilson 8x8 CFO



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. 8x8 to acquire Fuze Combination to accelerate XCaaS innovation, expand enterprise customer base, and extend presence in continental Europe ■ Approximately $250 million in aggregate consideration, subject to certain adjustments, comprised of approximately $130 million in cash and $120 million in common stock of 8x8. ■ Expected to close in Q4 FY22 (calendar Q1), subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing requirements.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. With the acquisition of Fuze, we immediately increase our capacity to innovate and extend our XCaaS platform advantage. We also broaden our base of enterprise customers, increase the scale of our operations, and expand our global presence. I believe our common cloud communications DNA, complementary go-to-market strategies and enterprise-centric global approach to the market will enable a seamless transition to a unified organization. Dave Sipes, 8x8 CEO Strategic rationale



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Key messages Strategic ■ Accelerates XCaaS innovation ■ Expands enterprise base ■ $50M+ cross-sell opportunity ■ European expansion ■ Good fit / low integration risk Financial ■ Remain non-GAAP profitable ■ Reiterate long term model



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. 8x8 and Fuze Comparative Metrics 8x8 Fuze5 TTM Total Revenue1 $581M ~$130M Annualized International Revenue2 (as a % of total revenue) 31% ~30% Annualized Investment in R&D (non-GAAP)3 ~$75M ~$25M Enterprise Customers4 ~900 ~300 Paid Business Users 2M+ 400K+ 1. Trailing 12 months as of 9/30/21. 2. Based on last quarter (ending 9/30/ 2021). 3. Based on last quarter (ending 9/30/ 2021) multiplied by 4. See Appendix for Non-GAAP Reconciliations. 4. Approximate. Enterprise is defined as customers that generate ARR >$100K. 5. As of December 1, 2021, the financial statements of Fuze as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 have not been finalized, but are expected to be included in a Form 8-K following closing of the planned Merger. The basis of preparation for the interim financial statements is expected to be consistent with the audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 which were furnished on Form 8-K dated December 1, 2021 by 8x8. The preliminary financial data included in these materials has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of, Fuze’s management. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has not audited, reviewed, compiled, or applied agreed-upon procedures with respect to the preliminary financial data. Accordingly, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Total addressable market for cloud communications by 2023 $75B+ UCaaS, CCaaS, and CPaaS $60B UCaaS and CCaaS $15B Differentiator: Integrated UCaaS and CCaaS Source: IDC and 8x8 estimates.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. 87% of IT leaders say an integrated communications platform is the future of business communications.1 UC CC 1. 2021 survey of 400 IT decision makers conducted by Hanover Research 2. Metrigy’s Report Real-World Benefits of Integrated Cloud Unified Communications and Collaboration Q1 | 21 The importance of an integrated platform 56% Lower TCO when calls, meetings, messaging, and contact center are integrated on a single cloud platform, compared to a multi-vendor strategy.2



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. 8x8 strategic priorities Expanding Platform Advantage Integrated UCaaS & CCaaS Winning Together With Partners Channel Partner Engagement Driving Operational Excellence Tailored GTM to Drive Scale and Efficiency Expanding the Base Upsell, Cross-sell, Retention



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Expanding the platform advantage The information provided on this slide is forward-looking and based upon assumptions with respect to future decisions, which are subject to change. Actual results may vary and those variations may be material. For discussion of some of the important factors that could cause these variations, please consult the “Risk Factors” section in our most recently filed Form 10-K or 10-Q. 4x Investment in Contact Center R&D* 650+ R&D Headcount 270+ Patents** 8x Investment in XCaaS Innovation* 900+ R&D Headcount 300+ Patents *By end of fiscal 2023 from end of fiscal 2021, based on number of engineering teams based in these areas ** includes total patents awarded to date. Fuze acquisition



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Path to $1 billion + Differentiated product offerings Massive market opportunity Multiple routes to market Operational rigor



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. The eXperience Communications Platform Financials Sam Wilson Chief Financial Officer



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Financial Summary ● Approximately $250 million in aggregate consideration, subject to certain adjustments. ● Up to $130 million in cash will be used to retire Fuze’s debt and pay for the equity owned by non-accredited stockholders of Fuze. ● 8x8 expects to file a resale registration statement for the shares to be issued in connection with the transaction after the closing. ● We expect to maintain non-GAAP operating profitability. ● We remain committed to the long-term operating model presented in May 2021. ● Expect stub period for fourth quarter FY22 (ending March 31, 2022). First full quarter of combined P&L to be first quarter FY23 (ending June 30, 2022). ● We will provide additional information on the combined model when we release fourth quarter FY22 (ending March 31, 2022) and provide guidance for FY23 (ending March 31, 2023).



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. GAAP and Non-GAAP* Financial Metrics FY22 8x8 “Standalone” Assumptions (updated for 1H Actuals) As of 11/2/2021 Intermediate Objective in ~3 years Long-Term Objective in 5+ years Total Revenue Growth 15-16% 20%+ 20%+ Non-GAAP Gross Margin 61-64% 63-67% 70%+ Non-GAAP Sales and Marketing as % of Revenue 40-42% 35-40% 35-40% Non-GAAP R&D as a % of Revenue 11-13% 13-15% 13-15% Non-GAAP G&A as a % of Revenue ~10% 10% <10% Non-GAAP Operating Margin ~2% 5-10% 10-20% Cash Flow from Operations (CFO) Exit FY Positive 5-10% CFO Margin 10-20% CFO Margin 8x8 Financial Model Framework * See Appendix for further discussion of why a reconciliation of non-GAAP guidance measures to corresponding GAAP measures is not available on a forward-looking basis without unreasonable effort due to the uncertainty of expenses that may be incurred in the future. The above financial framework should not be construed to be guidance and is based upon assumptions with respect to future decisions, which are subject to change. Actual results may vary and those variations may be material. Long-Term Financial Framework



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Investment thesis Large & Underpenetrated TAM $75B+ cloud communications market with strong secular tailwinds in the early innings Compelling Land and Expand Model ~1.8M paid business users and large expansion opportunities Recurring Business Model Predictable subscription business with operating leverage and future positive cash flow Long-term Profitable Growth Improve gross and operating margin profiles to fund revenue growth Large Underpenetrated TAM $75B+ cloud communications industry1 with strong secular tailwinds Compelling Land and Expand Model 2M+ paid business users and large expansion opportunities Recurring Business Model Predictable subscription business with operating leverage and positive cash flow Long-Term Profitable Growth Improving margin profile to fund future growth levers 1. Source: 2023 estimate from IDC and 8x8.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. For more information Press release > Webcast > 8x8 CEO message >



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. The eXperience Communications Platform GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Non-GAAP Measures This presentation contains certain financial information that has not been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures internally in analyzing the Company’s financial results and believes they are useful to investors, as a supplement to GAAP measures, in evaluating the Company’s ongoing operational performance. This information should not be considered a substitute for any measures derived in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP Guidance The Company does not reconcile its non-GAAP guidance measures to corresponding GAAP measures on a forward-looking basis due to the significant variability of, and difficulty in making accurate forecasts and projections with regards to, the various expenses excluded. In general, the Company excludes non-cash expenses such as stock based compensation and related employer payroll taxes, amortization of acquired intangibles, and debt interest amortization; and cash expenditures that are not considered representative of recurring operations such as acquisition and integration costs, severance and contract termination costs, certain legal and regulatory costs, and provision for income taxes. This information should not be considered a substitute for any measures derived in accordance with GAAP and should not be construed to be guidance and is based upon assumptions with respect to future decisions, which are subject to change. Actual results may vary and those variations may be material. For discussion of some of the important factors that could cause these variations, please consult the “Risk Factors” section in our most recently filed Form 10-K or 10-Q.



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Cost of Service Revenue Cost of Service Revenue: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1'22 Q2'22 GAAP cost of service revenue $44,803 $46,010 $47,198 Amortization of acquired intangible assets (1,425) (1,066) (1,044) Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes (2,543) (2,040) (2,526) Legal and regulatory costs (157) -- -- Severance and contract termination costs (583) 5 (57) Non-GAAP cost of service revenue $40,095 $42,909 $43,571 Non-GAAP service revenue margin 66.8% 68.9% 69.4% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Cost of Other Revenue Cost of Other Revenue: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 GAAP cost of other revenue $11,693 $13,746 $12,269 Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes (1,190) (1,135) (1,372) Legal and regulatory costs - 5 - Severance and contract termination costs (45) (21) (188) Non-GAAP cost of other revenue $10,458 $12,595 $10,709 Non-GAAP other revenue margin (27.7)% (19.6)% (16.6)% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Sales and Marketing Sales and Marketing Expense: Fiscal Quarter Q2’21 Q1’22 Q2’22 GAAP sales and marketing $61,399 $75,915 $76,726 Amortization of acquired intangible assets (402) (219) (221) Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes (7,364) (14,700) (13,558) Legal and regulatory costs (1) - - Severance and contract termination costs (244) (622) (531) Non-GAAP sales and marketing $53,388 $60,374 $62,386 Non-GAAP sales and marketing as percentage of revenue 41.3% 40.7% 41.2% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Research and Development Research and Development Expense: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 GAAP research and development $21,567 $25,392 $28,498 Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes (8,547) (9,073) (10,086) Legal and regulatory costs (1) 9 -- Severance and contract termination costs (270) (70) (42) Non-GAAP research and development $12,749 $16,258 $18,370 Non-GAAP research and development as percentage of revenue 9.9% 11.0% 12.1% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 General and Administrative General and Administrative Expenses: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 GAAP general and administrative $22,769 $26,091 $24,023 Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes (6,647) (10,904) (10,423) Acquisition and integration costs (47) - (19) Legal and regulatory costs (62) 532 1,317 Severance and contract termination costs (1,212) (871) (314) Non-GAAP general and administrative $14,801 $14,848 $14,584 Non-GAAP general and administrative as a percentage of revenue 11.5% 10.0% 9.6% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Operating Expenses Operating Expenses: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 Non-GAAP sales and marketing $53,388 $60,374 $62,386 Non-GAAP research and development 12,749 16,258 18,370 Non-GAAP general and administrative 14,801 14,848 14,584 Non-GAAP operating expenses $80,938 $91,480 $95,340 Non-GAAP operating expenses as a percentage of revenue 62.7% 61.7% 62.9% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Total Expenses Total Expenses: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 Non-GAAP cost of revenue $50,553 $55,504 $54,280 Non-GAAP operating expenses 80,938 91,480 95,340 Non-GAAP total expenses $131,491 $146,984 $149,620 Non-GAAP total expenses as a percentage of revenue 101.8% 99.1% 98.7% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

© 8x8, Inc. Copyright and confidential. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP 8x8 Operating Margin Operating Margin: Fiscal Quarter Q2'21 Q1’22 Q2'22 GAAP loss from operations ($33,098) ($38,827) ($37,157) Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1,827 1,285 1,265 Stock-based compensation expense and related employer payroll taxes 26,291 37,852 37,995 Acquisition and integration costs 48 -- 19 Legal and regulatory costs 220 (546) (1,317) Severance and contract termination costs 2,354 1,579 1,132 Non-GAAP operating profit (loss) ($2,358) $1,343 $1,937 Non-GAAP operating margin (1.8)% 0.9% 1.3% ($ in thousands, Unaudited)



 

8x8.com @8x8 facebook.com/8x8Inc linkedin.com/company/8x8 youtube.com/8x8Inc For the latest information on 8x8 © 8x8, Inc. All rights reserved. Unless otherwise specified, all trademarks identified by the ®, ™, or SM are registered trademarks, trademarks, or services marks respectively of 8x8, Inc. instagram.com/8x8inc
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Report of Independent Auditors To the Board of Directors and Management of Fuze, Inc. We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fuze, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit, and of cash flows for the year then ended. Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Auditors’ Responsibility Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fi
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fuze, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Emphasis of Matters The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also discussed in Note 1. The consolidated financial statement do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for revenue from contracts with customers in 2020. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Boston, Massachusetts October 7, 2021, except for additional disclosures made in preparation for an SEC filing discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which the date is November 30, 2021



 

Fuze, Inc. Consolidated Balance Sheet December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 2 December 31, 2020 Assets Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,211 Accounts receivable 13,936 Inventory 514 Deferred commissions, current 4,700 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,031 Total current assets 25,392 Property and equipment, net 2,601 Goodwill 4,802 Acquired intangible assets, net 504 Restricted cash 868 Deferred commissions, non-current 8,030 Other assets 307 Total assets $ 42,504 Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Deficit Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 11,105 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 32,856 Long-term debt, current portion 90,161 Deferred revenue, current portion 6,329 Total current liabilities 140,451 Long-term debt, net of current portion 4,754 Deferred revenue, net of current portion 11,403 Deferred tax liabilities 261 Other long-term liabilities 14,493 Total liabilities 171,362 Commitments and contingencies (Note 14) Redeemable convertible preferred stock (Series B, C, D, E, F, G-1, G-2, G-3); $0.0001 par value; 233,413,623 shares authorized; 192,009,530 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate liquidation preference of $717,578 572,936 Convertible preferred stock (Series A); $0.0001 par value; 1,685,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding; aggregate liquidation preference of $1,060 1,060 Stockholders’ deficit: Common stock; $0.0001 par value; 301,725,000 shares authorized; 28,113,069 shares issued and 25,844,880 shares outstanding 3 Treasury stock, at cost (2,268,189 shares) (2,259) Additional paid-in capital 14,047 Accumulated deficit (714,170) Accumulated other comprehensive loss (475) Total stockholders' deficit (702,854) Total liabilities, redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock and stockholders' deficit $ 42,504



 

Fuze, Inc. Consolidated Statement of Operations Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands) The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 3 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Revenue $ 129,746 Cost and expenses: Cost of revenue 59,207 Research and development 27,749 Sales and marketing 50,133 General and administrative 24,557 Total cost and expenses 161,646 Loss from operations (31,900) Other expense, net: Interest expense, net (8,660) Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants 3,776 Other expense, net (9,533) Total other expense, net (14,417) Loss before income tax expense (46,317) Income tax expense 1,036 Net loss $ (47,353)



 

Fuze, Inc. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands) The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 4 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Net loss $ (47,353) Other comprehensive loss: Foreign currency translation adjustment (289) Comprehensive loss $ (47,642)



 

Fuze, Inc. Consolidated Statement of Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Deficit Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands except share and per share data) The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 5 Series B, C, D, E, F, G-1, G-2, Accumulated and G-3 Redeemable Convertible Series A Convertible Additional Other Total Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Treasury Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders' Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Capital Deficit Income (loss) Deficit Balances at December 31, 2019 191,551,123 $ 547,350 1,685,000 $ 1,060 25,638,137 $ 3 $ (2,259) $ 37,111 $ (686,229) $ (186) $ (651,560) Cumulative adjustment from adoption of revenue recognition standard (Note 2) — — — — — — — — 19,412 — 19,412 Issuance of Series C Preferred Stock upon exercise of warrants 458,407 289 — — — — — — — — — Expiration of Series B and Series C Preferred Stock Warrants — — — — — — — 200 — — 200 Issuance costs related to issuance of Series A-1 Preferred Stock — — — — — — — (157) — — (157) Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options — — — — 206,743 — — 103 — — 103 Stock-based compensation expense — — — — — — — 2,087 — — 2,087 Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption value, net — 25,297 — — — — — (25,297) — — (25,297) Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — — — — (289) (289) Net loss — — — — — — — — (47,353) — (47,353) Balances at December 31, 2020 192,009,530 $ 572,936 1,685,000 $ 1,060 25,844,880 $ 3 $ (2,259) $ 14,047 $ (714,170) $ (475) $ (702,854)



 

Fuze, Inc. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands) The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 6 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Cash flows from operating activities: Net loss $ (47,353) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities Depreciation and amortization expense 2,456 Non-cash interest expense 790 Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability (3,776) Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss 597 Stock-based compensation expense 2,087 Deferred income taxes 102 Change in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable 7,690 Inventory 92 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,195 Deferred commissions 1,164 Other assets (20) Accounts payable 3,792 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 3,838 Deferred revenue (4,761) Other long-term liabilities (2,776) Net cash used in operating activities (31,883) Cash flows from investing activities: Acquisition of property and equipment including capitalized software (353) Net cash used in investing activities (353) Cash flows from financing activities: Proceeds from issuance of debt and warrants, net of discount 12,338 Repayments of debt, end of term payments and prepayment fees (7,000) Payment of issuance costs for convertible preferred stock (157) Proceeds from exercises of preferred stock warrants 5 Proceeds from exercises of common stock options 103 Repayment of capital lease obligations (332) Net cash provided by financing activities 4,957 Effect of exchange rate changes (373) Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (27,652) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 31,731 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 4,079 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: Cash paid for interest $ 8,349 Cash paid for income taxes 482 Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing information: Fair value of preferred stock warrants exercised in excess of proceeds $ 284 Fair value of preferred stock warrants expired 200 Accretion of preferred stock to r



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 7 1. Nature of Business Fuze, Inc. (the “Company” or “Fuze”) is a provider of cloud-based, unified communications and contact center services. The Company provides managed voice, video conferencing, instant messaging, application integration, contact center, and analytics to customers on a cloud-based software platform. The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other companies in the industry, including but not limited to, competition from substitute products and larger companies, protection of proprietary technology and customer base, ongoing development and enhancement of its products, dependence on third parties and key members of its management team, and the need to obtain additional capital to fund the development of its products and network. Adverse effects arising from any of these situations could have a significant impact on the Company’s operations. With respect to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company continues to be able to deliver its services to customers remotely and has not, to date, experienced significant project cancellations with any material negative impact to revenue in 2020. As new variants of COVID-19 emerge, the full extent to which the ongoing and continuing COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, future results of operations, and financial condition, including sales, expenses, reserves and allowances, and employee-related amounts, will depend on future developments that are uncertain. Such developments include the efficacy of new vaccines to treat these evolving variants of COVID-19, new government actions as a result of these changing conditions, as well as the economic impact on local, regional, national, and international customers and markets. The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Although the Company has successfully completed financings in the past (Notes 8, 9, and 16), the Company may not be successful in raising additional capital to fund normal operations in future periods. In the event that the Company is unable to obtain financing on acce
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from this uncertainty. 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Additional Disclosures Made in Preparation for an SEC Filing Subsequent to the original issuance of the consolidated financial statements and in connection with acquisition of the Company, which is discussed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, certain footnote disclosures have been either updated or added in order to conform to the requirements for these consolidated financial statements to be included in an SEC filing. Specifically, the Company has expanded its disaggregation of revenue and contract liability disclosures within the ‘Revenue Recognition’ sub-section in Note 2, separately presented Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets in Note 4, separately presented Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities in Note 7 and added an effective tax rate reconciliation in tabular format in Note 8. Finally, as discussed within the ‘Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements’ sub-section in Note 2, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract on January 1, 2020. Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts and operations of Fuze, Inc. and those of its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Correction of Errors During the year, the Company identified certain prior period errors related to a regulatory tax liability (Note 14), accrued payroll expense, and deferred revenue. Specifically, the regulatory tax was under accrued in each of the years ended December 31, 2011 to 2019. Accrued payroll expense was overstated in the year ended December 31, 2018 and deferred revenue was not properly recognized into revenue in each of the years ended December 31, 2016 to 2019. The Company concluded that these errors were not materi



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 8 any of the prior periods. The Company recorded an adjustment in the year ended December 31, 2020 to reflect the impact of these errors, which resulted in an increase in net loss of $2,010 and an increase in total liabilities of $2,010 as of December 31, 2020. Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation and obsolescence, goodwill and intangible assets, the expensing and capitalization of software development costs, the valuations of common and preferred stock, preferred stock warrant liability and stock-based awards, and income taxes. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, known trends, and other market-specific or other relevant factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, as there are changes in circumstances, facts, and experience. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Cash Equivalents The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with three accredited financial institutions that management believes to be of high-credit quality. The Company performs credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and generally does not require collateral from its customers. As of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, no customer accounted for more than 10%
maintain a separate cash balance of that same amount to secure the letters of credit. Related to this separate cash balance, the Company classified $868 as restricted cash (non-current) on its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. Property and Equipment Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from 3 to 7 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the lease term or the improvement’s estimated economic useful life. Lease terms are based upon the initial lease agreement and do not consider potential renewals or extensions until such time that the renewals or extensions are contracted. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization applicable to assets sold or otherwise disposed of are removed from the asset accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in loss from operations. Software and Website Development Costs Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and primarily include salaries, fees to consultants, and other related costs. Relative to development costs of its products and website, the Company capitalizes certain direct costs to develop functionality as well as certain upgrades and enhancements that are probable to result in additional functionality. The costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an application has reached the development stage, internal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized as part of property and equipment until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalized software is amortized over a three-year period in the expense category to which the software relates.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 9 Business Combinations The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. Application of this method of accounting requires that (i) identifiable assets acquired (including identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities assumed generally be measured and recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and (ii) the excess of the purchase price over the net fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized as goodwill, which is not amortized for accounting purposes but is subject to testing for impairment at least annually. Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed as incurred. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the allocation of the purchase price requires management to use significant judgment and estimates, especially with respect to intangible assets. Critical estimates in valuing certain identifiable assets include, but are not limited to, the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue and cash flows, expected long-term market growth, future expected operating expenses, costs of capital, and appropriate discount rates. Management's estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, the Company may record certain adjustments to the carrying value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, which could last up to one year after the transaction date, all adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. Contingent payments that are dependent upon post-combination services, if any, are considered separate transactions outside of the business combination and are, therefore, included in the post-combination consolidated statements of operations. In addition, uncertain tax positions assumed and valuation allowances related to the net deferred tax assets acquired in connection with a business combination are estimated as of the acquisition date and recorded as part of the purchase. Therea
Company records goodwill when consideration paid in a business acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible assets and the identified intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances warrant a review. If the Company determines that the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be required. The Company operates as a single operating segment with one reporting unit and consequently evaluates goodwill for impairment based on an evaluation of the fair value of the Company as a whole. The Company did not record any goodwill impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2020. Intangible assets are recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The Company amortizes acquired intangible assets over their estimated useful lives based on the pattern of consumption of the economic benefits or, if that pattern cannot be readily determined, on a straight-line basis. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment, deferred commissions, and acquired intangible assets. Long-lived assets to be held and used are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Factors that the Company considers in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant underperformance of the business in relation to expectations, significant negative industry or economic trends, and significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. If an impairment review is performed to evaluate a long-lived asset group for recoverability, the Company compares forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the long-lived asset group to its carrying value. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of an asset group are less than its carrying amount. The impairment loss would be based on the excess of the carrying value of the impaired asset group over its fair value, determined based on discounted cash flows. The Company did not record any impairment losses on long-lived assets d

liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 10 the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable: • Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. • Level 2—Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. • Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, and similar techniques. The carrying values of the Company’s accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and other current liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. Classification of Preferred Stock and Accretion of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock The Company has convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock that contain certain redemption features that are not solely within the control of the Company. Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of each series of preferred stock are recorded as a reduction of gross proceeds from issuance. The carrying values of the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock are accreted to their respective redemption values from the date of issuance through the earliest date of redemption. Revenue Recognition In accordance with ASC 606 (see Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements below), the Company recognizes revenue when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which the
performance obligations in the contract 3) Determine the transaction price 4) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 5) Recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied Nature of Products and Services The Company’s revenue includes fees billed in connection with subscriptions to the Company’s software- as-a-service (“SaaS”) applications. These fees include recurring fixed plan subscription fees, recurring circuit usage fees, recurring administrative cost recovery fees, variable usage-based fees for blocks of additional minutes, and other items systematically purchased in excess of plan limits. The Company’s software is delivered to the client via a hosting arrangement whereby the customer does not have the contractual right to take possession of the software. The Company’s revenue also includes professional services related to the implementation, installation, and configuration of the SaaS solution, sales of preconfigured office phones, cabling, and switches used in connection with the subscription, shipping and handling fees, and one-time upfront fees related to setup activities. The Company provides its subscriptions pursuant to contractual arrangements that range in duration from one month to three years. The Company’s subscription fees are generally billed in advance.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 11 Revenue related to the Company’s SaaS subscription plans is recognized as services are rendered over the service period. Product revenues are billed at the time the order is received and recognized when the product has been shipped to the customer. Professional services revenue is recognized over time as the services are provided using an input measure based on expended level of effort incurred. Fees related to setup activities that do not represent promised services in the contract with the customer are accounted for as a part of the transaction price and allocated to the performance obligations in the contract. The Company has elected to treat shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as fulfillment costs, and not as separate performance obligations, and accrues the related costs when the related revenue is recognized. Total revenue recognized at a point in time and over time was as follows for the year ended December 31, 2020: Revenue recognized at a point in time $ 5,415 Revenue recognized over time 124,331 $ 129,746 Disaggregation of Revenue Year Ended December 31, 2020 United States $ 91,298 International 38,448 Total revenue $ 129,746 Remaining Performance Obligations The Company's subscription terms are typically three years and customers are billed on a monthly basis. Contract revenue from the remaining performance obligations that had not yet been recognized as of December 31, 2020 was approximately $49,500. The Company expects to recognize revenue on approximately $39,600 of the remaining performance obligation over the next 12 months and approximately $9,900 thereafter. Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations When the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated on a relative standalone selling price basis to each performance obligation. The Company generally uses internal price lists that determine sales prices to external customers in determining standalone selling price. The Company’s internal price lists are based on multiple factors, including, but not limited to, market conditions, competitive landscape, internal costs, and gross margin objectiv
services by customer class. In situations in which the stated contract price for a performance obligation is outside of the applicable standalone selling price range and has a different pattern of transfer to the customer than the other performance obligations in the contract, the Company will reallocate the total transaction price to each performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling price of each. Transaction Price The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and services to the customer. Revenue is recorded based on the transaction price, which includes fixed consideration and estimates of variable consideration. The Company determines the transaction price of each contract, which includes estimating the amount of variable consideration to be included in the transaction price, if any. This will involve updating the estimates of variable consideration, including any amounts that are constrained, to reflect revised



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 12 expectations about the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled considering uncertainties that are resolved or new information that is gained about remaining uncertainties. The amount of variable consideration included in the transaction price is limited to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Usage-based fees that meet the criteria to apply the allocation exception for variable consideration are recognized in the period of usage. The Company has service level agreements with customers warranting defined levels of uptime reliability and performance. Customers may get credits or refunds if the Company fails to meet such levels. If the services do not meet certain criteria, fees are subject to adjustment or refund representing a form of variable consideration. The Company historically has not experienced any significant incidents affecting the defined levels of reliability and performance as required by its subscription contracts. Accordingly, the amount of any estimated refunds related to these agreements in the consolidated financial statements is not material during the periods presented. The Company may impose minimum monthly recurring charges (“MRC”) on its customers at the inception of the contract. Thus, in estimating variable consideration the Company assesses both the probability of minimum MRC occurring and the collectability of the minimum MRC, both of which represent a form of variable consideration. Customer Renewal Options The Company’s contracts with customers may include renewal or other like options at fixed prices. Determining whether such options are considered distinct performance obligations that provide the customer with a material right and therefore should be accounted for separately requires significant judgment. Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price for each renewal option to determine whether the renewal pricing is reflective of standalone selling price or is reflective of a discount that would provide the customer with a material right. Based on the 
recognition may not align with the right to invoice the customer. The Company records accounts receivable when it has the unconditional right to issue an invoice and receive payment, regardless of whether revenue has been recognized. Amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized for the period are reported as a contract liability (deferred revenue) on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s deferred revenue consists primarily of unearned revenue on annual and monthly subscription plans and professional services fees, and prepayments from customers that get applied against final month billings. Amounts not expected to be recognized as revenue within the next twelve months of the consolidated balance sheet date are classified as long-term deferred revenue. If revenue is recognized in advance of the right to invoice, a contract asset (unbilled receivable) is recorded. Opening balances as of January 1, 2020 and closing balances as of December 31, 2020 were as follows: Balance at January 1, 2020 Balance at December 31, 2020 Accounts receivable $ 21,390 $ 13,936 Deferred revenue, current portion (9,958) (6,329) Deferred revenue, net of current portion (12,021) (11,403) The net increase in deferred revenue was due to billings in advance of performance obligations being satisfied. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized revenues of approximately $11,290, which was included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the period. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of the right to invoice, the Company has determined that a significant financing component generally does not exist. The primary purpose of the Company’s invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 13 purchasing the products and services and not to receive financing from or provide financing to the customer. Additionally, the Company has elected the practical expedient that permits an entity not to recognize a significant financing component if the time between the transfer of a good or service and payment is one year or less. Payment terms on invoiced amounts are typically due net 30 to net 45 days after invoice date. Other Considerations The Company does not offer rights of return for its products and services in the normal course of business, and contracts generally do not include service-type warranties that provide any incremental service to the customer beyond providing assurance that the goods and services conform to applicable specifications or customer-specific or subjective acceptance provisions. The Company also excludes from revenue government-assessed and imposed taxes on revenue-generating activities that are invoiced to customers. Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract In accordance with ASC 340-40 (see Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements below), sales commissions paid to internal salespeople and other associated costs that are incremental to the acquisition of customer contracts are capitalized as deferred costs on the balance sheet when the period of benefit is determined to be greater than one year. The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient to expense sales commissions and associated costs as incurred when the expected amortization period is one year or less. The Company has determined the period of benefit for sales commissions paid to internal salespeople and external sales agents for the acquisition of the initial contract to be 60 months by taking into consideration the initial estimated customer life and the technological life of the Company’s products and services, as well as expectations about whether the renewal commission will be commensurate with the initial commission. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis commensurate with the pattern of revenue recognition. As of January 1, 2020 and in connection with the adoption of ASC 606, the Company had capitalized $13,894 in sales commissions. Amortizatio
commission expense. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has capitalized $12,730 in sales commissions. The Company periodically reviews these deferred commissions to determine whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could affect the recovery or period of benefit of these deferred contract acquisition costs. There were no impairment losses recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020. In accordance with ASC 340-40, the Company capitalizes incremental costs incurred to fulfill its contracts that (i) relate directly to the contract, (ii) are expected to generate resources that will be used to satisfy the Company’s performance obligation(s) under the contract, and (iii) are expected to be recovered through revenue generated under the contract. These costs have historically been immaterial. Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized any contract fulfillment costs as of January 1, 2020 or December 31, 2020. During periods prior to January 1, 2020, the Company recognized revenue in accordance with FASB ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. Revenue under service subscription plans was recognized as services were rendered. Product revenues were recognized when the product had been shipped to the customer. Professional services revenue related to products sold was recognized on completion of those services due to the short duration of the service period. One-time upfront fees were initially deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average customer life. In arrangements with multiple deliverables, the Company allocated the consideration to each deliverable based upon their relative selling prices. The Company determined the selling price using vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) for its subscription plans and best estimated selling price (“BESP”) for its product offerings. Reductions to revenue for customer credits were recorded at the time the related revenue was recognized.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 14 Cost of Revenue Cost of revenue consists of services purchased from third-party telecommunications and cloud hyperscaler providers, network operations, costs to build-out and maintain data centers, including co- location fees for the right to place the Company’s servers in data centers owned by third parties, and depreciation of servers and equipment, along with related utilities and maintenance costs. In addition, personnel costs associated with non-administrative customer care and support of the Company’s platform and data center operations, including share-based compensation expenses and allocated costs of facilities and information technology, are included in costs of revenue. In addition, costs of revenue are comprised of the costs and expenses associated with purchased phones and equipment, as well as personnel costs for provisioning team and contractors and allocated costs of facilities and information technology related to the procurement, shipment and installation of phones and related services. These costs are expensed when the product is delivered to the customer. Accounts Receivable The Company provides credit to customers in the ordinary course of business and believes its credit policies are prudent and reflect industry practices and business risk. Management reviews accounts receivable on a periodic basis and reserves for receivables in its allowance for doubtful accounts on a specific identification basis when they are determined to be uncollectible. Inventory The Company’s inventory consists of certain hardware finished goods held for resale which complement the Company’s core unified communications software-based service solution. The Company’s policy for the valuation of inventory, including the determination of obsolete or excess inventory, requires management to estimate the future demand for the Company’s products held for resale, and considers actual sales experience for such products, among other factors. This determination is based on the inventory held at the balance sheet date and firm, non-cancellable commitments for the future purchase of inventory items. Inventory purchases and purchase commitments are based upon such forecasts of future dem
of inventory during each reporting period, which includes a review of, among other factors, demand requirements, non-cancellable purchase commitments of the Company to certain key suppliers and other relevant factors. If actual sales experience and projected customer demand subsequently differs from the Company’s forecasts, requirements for additional inventory and other reserves that differ from the Company’s estimates could become necessary. If management believes that demand no longer allows the Company to sell inventories above cost or at all, such inventory is either reduced to its net realizable value or fully reserved if no future demand exists. During 2019, management determined that future demand for a certain third-party product held for resale, which is subject to future non-cancellable purchase commitments, had materially declined, primarily due to changes in the rapidly changing competitive environment in what the Company operates, and low enterprise customer demand for this hardware solution. In addition to considering the future sales projections, management also considered the low demand for such third-party product during 2019, and changes to market conditions which occurred during 2019. Based on consideration of all relevant factors, the Company recorded a one-time pre-tax charge of approximately $16,950 in cost of revenue related to this third-party product for the year ended December 31, 2019 for the future non-cancellable inventory purchase commitments that were determined to have no value. The remaining future minimum payments under this arrangement have been accrued and are included within Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($3,284) and Other long-term liabilities ($13,750) in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 15 Future minimum payments under this purchase commitment as of December 31, 2020 are as follows: 2021 $ 3,284 2022 4,080 2023 3,672 2024 2,938 2025 2,040 Thereafter 1,020 $ 17,034 Advertising Advertising costs are included in sales and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of operations and are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $4,585 for the year ended December 31, 2020. Stock-Based Compensation The Company measures stock-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the fair value on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for options and the fair value of its common stock for restricted stock awards. Compensation expense of those awards is recognized over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. Generally, the Company issues awards with only service-based vesting conditions and records the expense for these awards using the straight-line method. The Company has not recorded any compensation expense related to historically issued restricted stock awards and restricted stock units with both service-based and performance-based vesting conditions as the achievement of the related performance conditions has been deemed to be not probable. The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its statements of operations in the same manner in which the award recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are classified. Foreign Currency Translation In connection with foreign operations with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates, while income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. Foreign currency transaction losses are included in other expense, net, in the consolidated statement of operations and were $838 for the year ended December 31, 2020. Warrants The Company accounts for warrants for the purchase of shares that are redeemable, or contingently redeemable, a
stockholders’ deficit that result from transactions and events other than those with stockholders. The Company’s only element of other comprehensive loss is foreign currency translation. Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements or in the Company’s tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the consolidated financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 16 recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to income tax expense. The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the consolidated financial statements by applying a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position is deemed more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties. Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and has since issued several additional amendments thereto (collectively referred to herein as “ASC 606”). ASC 606 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The new standards require entities to apportion consideration from contracts to performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis, based on a five-step model. Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a promised good or service and is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for the good or service. In addition, ASC 606 provides guidance on accounting for certain revenue related costs including costs associated with obtaining and fulfilling a contract, as codified in ASC 340
that were not completed as of January 1, 2020. Applying this method, the Company’s results for reporting periods beginning January 1, 2020 are presented under ASC 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for the prior period. The Company elected to utilize the modified retrospective transition practical expedient, which allows the Company to not retrospectively restate contracts for contract modifications executed before the beginning of the earliest period presented and instead reflect the aggregate effect of those modifications when identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations, determining the transaction price, and allocating the transaction price to the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations. The Company recorded a net decrease to beginning accumulated deficit of $19,412 as of January 1, 2020 due to the cumulative impact of adopting ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, with the impact primarily related to the acceleration of revenue related to nonrecurring, upfront professional services and the deferral of certain sales commissions paid to internal salespeople. Under ASC 605, one-time upfront fees were deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average customer life. Under ASC 606, these fees have been determined to relate to a distinct performance obligation and are recognized as the services are provided. Sales commissions paid to internal salespeople were previously expensed as incurred, but are now generally capitalized and amortized over the expected period of benefit under the amendments to ASC 340-40.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 17 The cumulative effect of adopting ASC 606 effective January 1, 2020 on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet is as follows: As of January 1, 2020 As Previously Reported ASC 606 Adjustments As Adjusted Assets Deferred commissions, current $ — $ 4,071 $ 4,071 Deferred commissions, non-current $ — $ 9,823 $ 9,823 Liabilities Deferred revenue, current portion $ 12,308 $ (2,350) $ 9,958 Deferred revenue, net of current portion $ 15,189 $ (3,168) $ 12,021 Stockholders’ Deficit Accumulated deficit $ (686,229) $ 19,412 $ (666,817) In accordance with ASC 606, the impact from adoption of the standard to the Company’s financial statements in the current reporting period was as follows: Year Ended December 31, 2020 As Reported Balances Without Adoption of ASC 606 Effect of Change – Higher/(Lower) Revenue $ 129,746 $ 131,156 $ (1,410) Sales and marketing expenses 50,133 48,969 1,164 Net loss $ (47,353) $ (44,779) $ (2,574) As of December 31, 2020 As Reported Balances Without Adoption of ASC 606 Effect of Change – Higher/(Lower) Assets Deferred commissions, current $ 4,700 $ — $ 4,700 Deferred commissions, non-current $ 8,030 $ — $ 8,030 Liabilities Deferred revenue, current portion $ 6,329 $ 7,269 $ (940) Deferred revenue, net of current portion $ 11,403 $ 14,571 $ (3,168) Stockholders’ Deficit Accumulated deficit $ (714,170) $ (731,008) $ 16,838 Adoption of the new standard had no impact to cash provided by or used in operating, investing, or financing activities on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows. In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2018-07”). This ASU is intended to simplify aspects of share-based compensation issued to non-employees by making the guidance consistent with the accounting for employee share-based compensation. For public entities, this



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 18 guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For nonpublic entities, this guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the standard as of January 1, 2020. The adoption of ASU 2018-07 had no impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. ASU 2018-15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by these amendments. For public entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For nonpublic entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. The Company adopted this guidance on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2020. The impact of the adoption was immaterial to the Company's consolidated financial statements. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. In general, lease arrangements exceeding a twelve-month term must be recognized as assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. Under ASU 2016-02, a right-of-use asset and lease obligation is recorded for all leases, whether operating or financing, while the income statement reflects lease expense for operating leases and amortization/interest expense for financing leases. The F
with a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings rather than retroactive restatement of all periods presented. For nonpublic entities, the guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021 based on the FASB’s most recent extension of the effective date. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on its consolidated financial statements. In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) (“ASU 2016-13”), which introduces a new methodology for accounting for credit losses on financial instruments, including available-for-sale debt securities. The guidance establishes a new “expected loss model” that requires entities to estimate current expected credit losses on financial instruments by using all practical and relevant information. Any expected credit losses are to be reflected as allowances rather than reductions in the amortized cost of available-for-sale debt securities. The FASB also issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842), which changed the effective date of the amendment for nonpublic companies to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2016-13 may have on its financial position and results of operations. In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. The standard eliminates the second step in the goodwill impairment test which requires an entity to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests conducted in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the standard on its consolidated financial statements. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. ASU 2018-15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing

that include an internal use software license). The accounting for the service element of a



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 19 hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by these amendments. For public entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For nonpublic entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2018-15 will have on its consolidated financial statements. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740). ASU 2019-12 is intended to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. For public entities, the standard is effective for annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For nonpublic entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. The Company is planning to adopt the standard in 2022 but does not expect it to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), which simplifies accounting for convertible instruments by eliminating two of the three accounting models available for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock. The guidance also addresses how convertible instruments are accounted for in the diluted earnings per share calculation. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this pronouncement to its consolidated financial statements. 3. Fair Value Measurements The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2020. T
ended December 31, 2020. Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020 Using: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Cash equivalents: Money market funds $ 5 $ — $ — $ 5 Money market funds were valued by the Company based on quoted market prices, which represent a Level 1 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. The redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability in the tables above consists of the fair value of warrants to purchase Series B, Series C, Series D, Series F, and Series G-3 redeemable convertible preferred stock (Note 12) and was based on significant inputs not observable in the market, which represent a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. The Company’s valuation of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates assumptions and estimates to value the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants. The Company assesses these assumptions and estimates on an annual basis as additional information impacting the assumptions was obtained. Changes in the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants are recognized as other expense, net, in the consolidated statements of operations. The quantitative elements associated with the Company’s Level 3 inputs impacting the fair value measurement of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability include the fair value per share of the underlying Series B, Series C, Series D, Series F, and Series G-3 redeemable convertible preferred stock, the remaining contractual term of the warrants, risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yield, and expected volatility of the price of the underlying preferred stock. The most significant assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing model impacting the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants is the fair value of the Company’s convertible preferred



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 20 stock as of each remeasurement date. The Company determines the fair value per share of the underlying preferred stock by taking into consideration its most recent sales of its convertible preferred stock as well as additional factors that the Company deems relevant. As of December 31, 2020, the fair value per share of the Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock was $0.28, the fair value per share of the Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock was $0.49, the fair value per share of the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock was $0.49, the fair value per share of the Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock was $0.97, and the fair value per share of the Series G-3 redeemable convertible preferred stock was $1.07. The Company historically has been a private company and lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information of its stock. Therefore, it estimates its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded peer companies for a term equal to the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve for time periods approximately equal to the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The Company has estimated a 0% dividend yield based on the expected dividend yield and the fact that the Company has never paid or declared dividends. The following table provides a roll-forward of the aggregate fair value of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants for which fair value is determined by Level 3 inputs: Preferred Stock Warrant Liability Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 4,260 Exercise of Series C Preferred Stock Warrants (284) Expiration of Series B and C Preferred Stock Warrants (200) Change in fair value of warrants (3,776) Balance at December 31, 2020 $ — 4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following: December 31, 2020 Prepaid taxes $ 1,543 Prepaid expenses 1,251 Short-term deposits 237 $ 3,031 5. Property and Equipment Property and equipment consisted of the following: December 31, 2020 Computer equipment



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 21 The Company did not capitalize any costs associated with the development of internal-use software and recorded related amortization expense of $355 during the year ended December 31, 2020, included in depreciation and amortization expense. The remaining net book value of capitalized software costs was $222 at December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $773 of assets purchased under capital leases and accumulated amortization related to assets under capital leases of $436 at December 31, 2020. Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $2,084. 6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets There was no change to goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of the balance sheet date, intangible assets consisted of the following: December 31, 2020 Weighted Average Life Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Net Carrying Amount (years) Developed technology 5.2 $ 3,000 $ 2,568 $ 432 Customer relationships 2 1,070 1,070 — Trade name 6 520 448 72 $ 4,590 $ 4,086 $ 504 Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $372. Future estimated amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows: Year Ending December 31, 2021 $ 308 2022 196 Total $ 504 7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following: December 31, 2020 Sales and other tax liabilities $ 15,661 Accrued commissions 5,550 Accrued compensation and benefits 4,482 Accrued expenses 3,372 Inventory purchase commitments (See Note 2) 3,240 Other accrued liabilities 551 $ 32,856



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 22 8. Financing Arrangements AB Private Credit Investors In September 2019, the Company entered into a credit agreement as amended with AB Private Credit Investors, LLC (“AB Credit Agreement”). The credit agreement provides for borrowings of up to $85,000 in initial term loans, up to $20,000 in delayed draw term loans, and $10,000 in revolving commitments. In September 2019, the Company borrowed $85,000 of initial term loans. The Company used $55,000 of these proceeds to repay amounts due under its outstanding debt agreements with other lenders. Upon extinguishment of the previously outstanding debt, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1,959 within other income (expense) on its statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2019. In December 2019, the Company borrowed $7,000 under the revolving commitments which was repaid in full in January 2020. In March 2020, the Company borrowed $6,000 in delayed draw term loans under the AB Credit Agreement at an interest rate equal to the greater of LIBOR or 2.0% plus the applicable margin percentage of 6.5%. Interest-only payments are due quarterly for the delayed draw term loans with a lump sum principal payment due in September 2024. Interest-only payments are due quarterly for the initial term loans through August 2022 at which time monthly principal payments are due from September 2022 through August 2024. The Company must pay a fee of 0.5% of the unused portions of both the delayed draw term loans and revolving commitments annually in addition to a one-time fee of 1.5% on borrowings under the delayed draw term loans. Borrowings under the initial term loans bear interest at a rate equal to the greater of LIBOR or 2.0% plus the applicable margin percentage of 6.5%. At December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 8.5% equal to 2.0% plus the margin percentage of 6.5%. Borrowings under the revolving commitments bear interest at a rate of 10.00%. The effective annual interest rate of the outstanding debt under the AB Credit Agreement is approximately 8.86%. Borrowings under the AB Credit Agreement are to mature on September 20, 2024 and are co
annual financial statement reporting and maintaining certain liquidity measures, leverage ratios, and quarterly EBITDA. There are negative covenants restricting the Company’s activities, including limitations on mergers or acquisitions, incurring indebtedness or liens, paying dividends, and certain other business transactions, and there are customary provisions regarding the occurrence of material adverse events and related rights available to AB if such an event were to occur. The obligations under the AB Credit Agreement are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of specified events of default, including failing to make payments due or failing to meet the covenants related to the AB Credit Agreement, and upon the occurrence of material adverse events which remain uncured. As of December 31, 2020, the Company was not in compliance with certain administrative and financial covenants. As a result, the lender has the option to declare the borrowings under the AB Credit Agreement immediately due and payable. Therefore, the Company classified the balances associated with the AB Credit Agreement within current liabilities at December 31, 2020. In connection with the AB Credit Agreement, the lenders received warrants to purchase 1,425,003 shares of the Company’s Series G-3 convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $2.00 per share and a 10-year term. The fair value of the warrants as of the issuance date of $2,176 was recorded as a preferred stock warrant liability and debt discount (Note 12). The debt discount is being amortized to interest expense using the effective-interest method from the date of the issuance through the maturity date. Paycheck Protection Program In June 2020, the Company issued a Promissory Note to Silicon Valley Bank, pursuant to which it received $6,338 provided under the Paycheck Protection Program established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act and guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “Paycheck Protection Program”). The loan is unsecured, is scheduled to mature in June 2022, has a fixed interest rate of 1.0% per annum and is subject to the standard terms and conditions applica



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 23 proceeds of the loan are used for eligible expenditures, such as payroll and other expenses described in the CARES Act. The Company applied for loan forgiveness and was notified that the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) had forgiven the loan in June 2021. Future minimum principal payment obligations under all of the Company’s outstanding debt as of December 31, 2020 are as follows: Year Ending December 31, 2021 $ 1,585 2022 16,559 2023 42,500 2024 36,695 Total outstanding principal balance 97,339 Unamortized deferred financing costs (2,424) 94,915 Current portion of long-term debt 90,161 Non-current portion of long-term debt $ 4,754 9. Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock The Company has issued Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, Series G-1, Series G-2, and Series G-3 redeemable convertible preferred stock (collectively, the “Preferred Stock”). The Series G-1, Series G-2, and Series G-3 are collectively referred to as “Series G.” The holders of Preferred Stock have liquidation rights in the event of a deemed liquidation that, in certain situations, is not solely within the control of the Company. Therefore, the preferred stock is classified outside of stockholders’ deficit. The following provides a summary of these preferred stock issuances, with all such existing preferred stock as of December 31, 2020 converted to common stock in January 2021 (see Note 16). In February 2017, the Company issued 16,176,806 shares of its Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock (the “Series F”) at an issuance price of $6.44 per share for $104,200 in gross proceeds. In April 2017, the Company issued an additional 4,657,430 shares of its Series F for $30,000 in gross proceeds at an issuance price of $6.44 per share in a second closing. The Series F was recorded net of $211 of issuance costs. In May 2018, the Company issued 21,614,992 shares of its Series G-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock (the “Series G-1”) at an issuance price of $2.00 per share for $21,615 in gross proceeds and the exchange of 34,381 shares of Series C preferred stock (“Series C”), 1,549,266 shares of Series E preferr
$1,012 in gross cash proceeds. In July 2018, the Company issued an additional 122,484,976 shares of Series G-1 at an issuance price of $2.00 per share for $122,485 in gross cash proceeds and the exchange of 194,823 shares of Series C, 2,522,023 shares of Series D preferred stock (“Series D”), 9,253,582 shares of Series E, and 8,407,823 shares of Series F. In addition, the Company issued 2,868,750 shares of Series G-2 at an issuance price of $2.00 per share for $5,738 in gross cash proceeds. The exchange of shares was accounted for as an extinguishment of existing shares and accordingly, the Company recorded a deemed contribution of capital related to the issuance of Series G-1 preferred stock of $12,231 and the deemed dividend related to the issuance of Series G-2 preferred stock of $709 to additional paid-in capital, representing the difference between the fair value of Series G and the carrying value of the exchanged shares. The Series G-1 was recorded net of $617 of issuance costs.



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 24 During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a charge to additional paid-in capital to reduce the carrying value of the Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, and Series F by $880 due to the decrease in fair value of the Preferred Stock. In addition, the Company recorded a charge of $26,177 to the carrying values of Series G with a corresponding offset to additional paid-in capital representing the accretion to redemption value during the year. As of December 31, 2020, Preferred Stock consisted of the following: As of December 31, 2020 Preferred Stock Authorized Preferred Stock Issued and Outstanding Carrying Value Liquidation Preference Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion Series A preferred stock 1,685,000 1,685,000 $ 1,060 $ 1,060 5,055,000 Series B preferred stock 2,197,143 2,176,910 3,979 3,978 6,530,730 Series C preferred stock 10,897,956 10,343,283 32,652 33,845 31,029,849 Series D preferred stock 17,722,142 14,923,312 48,521 48,521 14,923,312 Series E preferred stock 17,259,442 6,456,594 41,508 41,509 6,456,594 Series F preferred stock 21,136,968 10,634,463 68,500 68,500 10,634,463 Series G-1 preferred stock 154,099,972 144,099,968 366,927 504,350 144,099,968 Series G-2 preferred stock 8,375,000 3,375,000 10,850 16,875 3,375,000 Series G-3 preferred stock (1) 1,725,000 - - - - 235,098,623 193,694,530 $ 573,996 $ 718,638 222,104,916 (1) Authorized in connection with issuance of unexercised preferred stock warrants (see Note 13). The holders of the Preferred Stock have the following rights and preferences: Dividend Rights The holders of common stock and Preferred Stock are entitled to receive noncumulative dividends if and when declared by the board of directors of the Company, such dividends as may be declared from time to time by the board of directors; provided, however, that (i) no dividends shall be paid on the common stock so long as any share of Preferred Stock remains outstanding and (ii) all such additional dividends shall be payable to all holders of Preferred Stock and common stock on an as-converted to common stock basis. No dividends have been declared by the board of directors of the Company since 
of common stock at the applicable conversion ratio then in effect (i) upon the closing of a firm commitment public offering with at least $100,000 of gross proceeds to the Company, and at a price of at least $4.0642 per share, subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, combination, or other similar recapitalization, or, (ii) upon the written consent of each of (a) a majority of the outstanding shareholders of Series D, Series E, Series G, (b) 60% of outstanding Series C holders, and (c) 67% of outstanding Series F holders. The conversion ratio of each series of Preferred Stock is determined by dividing the Original Issue Price of each series by the Conversion Price of each series. The Original Issue Price is $0.63 per share for Series A Preferred Stock, (“Series A”), $1.83 per share for Series B Preferred Stock (“Series B”), $3.27 per share for Series C, $3.25 per share for Series D, $6.43 per share for Series E, $6.44 per share for Series F, and $2.00 per share for Series G-1, G-2, and G-3. The Conversion Price is $0.21 per share for Series A, $0.61 per share for Series B, $1.09 per share for Series C, $3.25 per share for Series D, $6.43 per share for Series E, $6.44 per share for Series F, and $2.00 per share for Series G, subject, in each case, to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, combination, or other similar recapitalization and other adjustments as set forth in the Company’s certificate of incorporation, as



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 25 amended and restated. In the event of an initial public offering, if the offering price is less than certain per share amounts as defined in the articles of incorporation, as amended and restated, the Conversion Ratios of the Preferred Stock may be adjusted. Liquidation Upon a liquidation event, as defined in the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, any proceeds will be distributed to the holders of the Company’s shares in the following preferential order and amounts: (1) Holders of Series G will receive an amount equal to, in the case of Series G-1, the greater of (a) 1.75X the Series G-1 Original Issue Price, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon or (b) the amount per share as would have been payable had each such share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the liquidation event; in the case of Series G-2, the greater of (a) 2.5X the Series G-2 Original Issue Price, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon or (b) the amount per share as would have been payable had each such share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the liquidation event; and, in the case of Series G-3, the greater of (a) the Series G-3 Original Issue Price, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon or (b) the amount per share as would have been payable had each such share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the liquidation event; (2) Holders of Series C, D, E, and F will receive an amount equal to the greater of (a) the Original Issue Price of each series, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon or (b) the amount per share as would have been payable had each such share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the liquidation event. If, upon any such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the assets of the Company shall be insufficient to make payment in full to all holders of Series C, Series D, Series E, and Series F of the liquidation preference, then such assets shall be distributed to the holders of Series C, Series D, Series E, and Series F ratably on a pari passu basis in proportion to the respective amounts to which they would otherwise be respectively entitled; (3) Holders of Series B will receive an amount e
immediately prior to the liquidation event. If, upon any such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the assets of the Company shall be insufficient to make payment in full to all holders of Series B of the liquidation preference, then such assets shall be distributed to the holders of Series B ratably in proportion to the respective amounts to which they would otherwise be respectively entitled; (4) Holders of Series A will receive an amount equal to the greater of (a) the Series A Original Issue Price, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon or (b) amount per share as would have been payable had each such share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the liquidation event. If, upon any such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the assets of the Company shall be insufficient to make payment in full to all holders of Series A of the liquidation preference, then such assets shall be distributed to the holders of Series A ratably in proportion to the respective amounts to which they would otherwise be respectively entitled; and (5) After the payment of the full liquidation preferences of the Preferred Stock, the assets of the Company legally available for distribution, if any, shall be distributed ratably to the holders of common stock, pro rated based on the number of shares held by each such holder. Redemption The Series A is not redeemable. The shares of Series G shall be redeemed on a pari passu basis in three equal annual installments commencing 90 days after receipt by the Corporation, at any time after March 20, 2025, of a written notice from a majority of the outstanding shares of Series G. The “Series G



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 26 Redemption Price” is the price per share equal to the greater of (i) the liquidation amount per share of Series G-1, G-2, or G-3 preferred stock and (ii) the Series G-1, G-2, or G-3 fair market value per share. At any time after redemption of the Series G, the shares of Series C, Series D, Series E, and Series F shall be redeemed on a pari passu basis in three equal annual installments commencing 90 days after receipt by the Corporation, of a written notice from a majority of the outstanding shares of Series C, Series D, Series E, and Series F together as a single class on an as-converted basis. The “Series C Redemption Price,” “Series D Redemption Price,” “Series E Redemption Price,” and “Series F Redemption Price” is the price per share equal to the greater of (i) the fair market value per share of Series C, Series D, Series E, or Series F, and (ii) the Series C Original Issue Price, Series D Original Issue Price, Series E Original Issue Price or Series F Original Issue Price, respectively, plus any dividends declared but unpaid. The shares of Series B shall be redeemed in three equal annual installments commencing 90 days after receipt by the Corporation, at any time on or after the Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, and Series G redemption date with a written notice from at least a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of Series B. The “Series B Redemption Price” is the price per share equal to the greater of (i) the fair market value per share of the Series B, and (ii) the Series B Original Issue Price plus any dividends declared but unpaid. Voting Rights The holder of each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, and Series G shall have the right to one vote for each share of common stock into which the Preferred Stock could then be converted. 10. Common Stock The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers, and preferences of the holders of Preferred Stock. The common stock has the following characteristics: Voting The holders of shares of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held at all meetings of stockholders and written actions in lie
shares of common stock until all accrued unpaid dividends on Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, Series G-1, Series G-2, and Series G-3 have been paid in accordance with their terms. No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company since its inception. Liquidation After payment to of their respective liquidation preferences to the holders of shares of Preferred Stock, the holders of shares of common stock are entitled to share ratably in the Company's remaining assets available for distribution to its stockholders in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company or upon occurrence of a deemed liquidation event. 11. Stock-based Compensation Equity Compensation Plan The Company has a 2006 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2006 Plan”), a 2012 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2012 Plan”), and a 2017 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2017 Plan”), which are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The 2017 Plan became effective in July 2017, and upon effectiveness, the remaining shares available under the 2006 Plan and 2012 Plan became



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 27 available for issuance under the 2017 Plan, and no future issuance will be made under the 2006 Plan or 2012 Plan. Additionally, if any outstanding awards issued under the 2006 or 2012 Plans expire, terminate, are surrendered, or are cancelled without having been fully exercised or settled, such shares will be available for future awards under the 2017 Plan. The 2017 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, performance stock awards, and other equity awards to employees, directors, and consultants. The Company may grant securities which are exchangeable for up to 43,348,004 shares of common stock under the 2017 Plan. As of December 31, 2020, there were 21,251,370 shares available for future issuance under the 2017 Plan. The stock options granted to employees generally vest over a four-year period and expire ten years from the date of grant. Stock Option Valuation The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the year ended December 31, 2020 used to determine the fair value of stock options are as follows: Year Ended December 31, 2020 Risk-free interest rate 0.38% Expected volatility 51.43% Expected dividend yield — Expected life (in years) 5.99 Stock Options Stock option activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2020 was as follows: Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Weighted Average Contractua l Term Aggregate Intrinsic Value Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 20,752,083 $ 1.15 7.26 years $ 622 Granted 1,846,255 0.63 Exercised (206,743) 0.50 Forfeited (8,629,826) 1.08 Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 13,761,769 $ 1.13 6.84 years $ 2.20 Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2020 13,761,769 $ 1.13 6.84 years $ 2.20 Options exercisable as of December 31, 2020 9,441,389 $ 1.11 5.97 years $ 2.20 The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during 2020 was $0.29. The unrecognized compensation expense associated with outstanding stock options at December 31, 2020 was $2,589 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3 years. Restricted S
restricted stock awards (Note 15). The notes are accounted for as stock options using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, as they are collateralized solely by the shares of common stock issued. The Company has a history of not requiring repayment of the notes upon an employee’s termination from the



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 28 Company. The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model used to determine the fair value of the restricted stock awards are as follows: Risk-free interest rate 2.00% Expected volatility 54.91% Expected dividend yield — Expected life (in years) 7.00 Restricted Stock Awards with Service-Based and Performance-Based Vesting During 2018, the Company had restricted stock awards outstanding for 130,000 shares of common stock at a grant date fair value of $3.07. These restricted stock awards are subject to both service-based vesting conditions of 48 months and performance-based vesting conditions upon a liquidity event, defined as either a sale event or IPO. During 2020, no restricted stock awards subject to both service-based and performance-based vesting conditions were forfeited. The Company has not recorded any compensation expense related to these restricted stock awards during the year ended December 31, 2020, as the achievement of the performance condition has been deemed to be not probable. Restricted Stock Units with Service-Based and Performance-Based Vesting Restricted stock unit activity with service-based and performance-based vesting as of December 31, 2020 was as follows: Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Unvested Restricted Common Stock as of December 31, 2019 8,994,361 $ 1.18 Granted 3,573,025 1.47 Vested — Forfeited (2,821,730) Unvested Restricted Common Stock as of December 31, 2020 9,745,656 These restricted stock units are subject to both service-based vesting conditions of 48 months and performance-based vesting conditions upon a liquidity event, defined as either change of control or IPO. The Company has not recorded any compensation expense related to these restricted stock units during the year ended December 31, 2020, as the achievement of the performance condition has been deemed to be not probable. Stock-Based Compensation Expense Stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards was classified in the statement of operations as follows: Year Ended December 31, 2020 Cost of revenue $ 341 Research a



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 29 internal-use software included in property and equipment during the year ended December 31, 2020. 12. Warrants The Company has outstanding warrants issued in connection with previous debt arrangements and funding received through preferred stock issuances. No warrants to purchase Series G-3 preferred stock were exercised in 2020. The Company is required to remeasure the fair value of outstanding warrants at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of warrants to purchase Series B, Series C, Series D, Series F, and Series G-3 preferred stock are recorded in other income (expense) in the statement of operations. As a result of changes in the fair value of the preferred stock warrants, the Company recorded income associated with the change in fair value of warrants of $3,776 for the year ended December 31, 2020. The following tables summarize the Company’s outstanding warrants to purchase preferred stock as of December 31, 2020: As of December 31, 2020 Issue Date Expiration Date Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Exercise Price Number of Shares Outstanding Under Warrant Fair Value September 29, 2015 September 29, 2025 Series D 3.25 276,807 $ — December 19, 2016 December 19, 2026 Series F 6.44 46,574 — June 30, 2017 June 29, 2027 Series F 6.44 256,158 — September 20, 2019 September 20, 2029 Series G-3 2.00 1,425,003 — 2,004,542 $ — Warrants to purchase common stock During 2016, the Company issued a warrant to its primary bank to purchase 32,573 shares of common stock in connection with amendments made to previously outstanding debt. The warrant was issued with an exercise price of $3.07 per share, was immediately exercisable, and expires in 2026. 13. Income Taxes The domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before income tax expense are as follows: Year Ended December 31, 2020 Domestic $ (47,848) Foreign 1,531 Loss before income tax expense $ (46,317) Income tax expense consisted of the following: Year Ended December 31, 2



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 30 Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: December 31, 2020 Deferred tax assets: Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards $ 152,830 Depreciation and amortization 1,780 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 8,014 Stock compensation expense 913 Loss reserve 4,212 Bad debt reserve 2,033 Regulatory tax liability (Note 15) 2,334 Other 2,003 Total deferred tax assets 174,119 Valuation allowance (169,138) Net deferred tax assets $ 4,981 Deferred tax liabilities: Goodwill (386) Change in accounting method adjustment (1,360) Deferred commissions (3,496) Total deferred tax liabilities (5,242) Net deferred tax liabilities $ (261) A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows: December 31, 2020 Income tax expense at statutory rate 21.0% State income tax, net of federal benefit 7.0 Change in valuation allowance (26.6) Permanent differences (0.6) Rate change 0.6 Provision to return adjustments (0.4) Stock compensation cancellations (2.6) Other (0.4) Foreign rate differential (0.1) Tax reserves (0.1) Effective income tax rate (2.2)% Changes in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets are as follows: Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 161,598 Increase recorded to income tax provision 7,540 Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 169,138



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 31 Changes in unrecognized tax benefits activity are as follows: December 31, 2020 Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the year $ 1,022 Gross increases in tax benefits 38 Unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the year $ 1,060 At December 31, 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $559 of which $366 will expire at various dates beginning in 2032 and $193 that has an indefinite life. At December 31, 2020, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $596 of which $564 will expire at various dates beginning in 2032 and $32 that has an indefinite life. Utilization of the U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards before utilization. Management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets, which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards. The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements by applying a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position is deemed more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties. After con
that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The previously recorded foreign valuation allowance was released in 2020 and the Company has determined that its foreign deferred tax assets are realizable as of December 31, 2020 and therefore has not recorded a valuation allowance against them. The Company establishes reserves for uncertain tax positions based on management’s assessment of exposures associated with tax positions taken on tax return filings. The tax reserves are analyzed periodically and adjustments are made as events occur to warrant adjustments to the reserve. At December 31, 2020, the Company reported an ending tax reserve balance for the U.S. entities of $384 for potential exposure for certain foreign and state tax return filings. For the foreign entities the Company reported an ending tax reserve balance of $677 for potential exposure for past foreign tax return filings. As of December 31, 2020, the unremitted earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are not material. The Company has not provided for U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on these earnings as it is the Company’s intention to permanently reinvest these earnings outside the U.S. The tax liabilities on these earnings are also not material. Events that could trigger a tax liability include, but are not limited to, distributions, reorganizations or restructurings and/or tax law changes. Interest and penalty charges, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits would be classified as income tax expense in the accompanying statement of operations. As of December 31, 2020, the Company recorded for the U.S. entities $12 of income tax expense related to federal and state interest and penalties associated with certain foreign and state tax return filings. For the foreign entities the Company recorded $11 of income tax expense related to foreign jurisdictions interest and penalties associated with past foreign tax return filings. Since the Company is in a loss carry forward position, the Company is generally subject to examination by the U.S. federal, state, and local income tax authorities for all tax



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 32 years in which a loss carry forward is available. The Company is also subject to income taxes in several foreign jurisdictions that have various statutes of limitation but in general range between three to five years. 14. Commitments and Contingencies Operating and Capital Leases The Company leases office space in the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Germany, Sweden, Switzerland, The Netherlands, France, Bulgaria, Denmark, Portugal, Australia, and Spain under operating agreements expiring through 2026. In addition to rental expense, the Company is obligated to pay costs of insurance, taxes, repairs, and maintenance pursuant to the terms of the leases. The rental payments include the minimum rentals plus common area maintenance charges. Rental expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $4,078. The Company also leases property and equipment under capital leases (see Note 5). Future minimum payments under operating and capital leases as of December 31, 2020 are as follows: Operating Leases Capital Lease Obligations 2021 $ 3,112 $ 317 2022 2,871 156 2023 1,353 — 2024 811 — 2025 751 — Thereafter 1,075 — Total minimum lease payments $ 9,973 473 Less: Amount representing interest 65 Present value of capital lease obligations 408 Less: Current portion 277 Capital lease obligation, net of current portion $ 131 Legal and Regulatory Proceedings The Company, from time to time, may be involved in proceedings relating to contractual disputes, employment matters, regulatory tax compliance matters, and other like matters relating to claims that arise in the normal course of business. The Company determines whether an estimated loss from any such matter should be accrued by evaluating the specific nature of the matter and its potential liability, based upon the facts and circumstances of the specific action or regulatory matter, using reasonably available information. The Company develops its views on estimated potential loss accruals in consultation with counsel, which involves a subjective analysis of potential outcomes. The Company recorded a charge in 2020 of $8,500 which is reflected as a component of other expense, net, in the accompan
agreements (“VDA’s”). Actual claims could settle or be adjudicated against the Company in the future for materially different amounts than the Company has accrued, due to the inherently unpredictable nature of such matters, and also due to the generally favorable settlement conditions accorded those who voluntarily enter into the VDA process. Legal fees are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 15. Related Party Transactions In November 2015, the Company loaned $1,472 to two employees of the Company to purchase shares of common stock pursuant to promissory notes and restricted stock agreements (Note 12). The promissory notes provide that the unpaid principal amount of the loans bear interest at 2.57% annually, and interest



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 33 is payable annually or is converted to principal and payable at the maturity date. The maturity date of the promissory notes occurs on the earliest of (i) seven years from the issuance date of the notes, (ii) 30 days following the date of termination of employment of the borrower, and (iii) immediately prior to an initial filing of a registration statement by the Company. The promissory notes are non-recourse and secured by a pledge of the shares of common stock purchased with the promissory notes. The promissory note for one employee was amended in 2018 to change the maturity date to the earlier of (i) 2023 or (ii) immediately prior to an initial filing of a registration statement by the Company. In the ordinary course of business, the Company had sales to Bessemer Venture Partners (“Bessemer”), a shareholder. Total revenue from Bessemer for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $71. 16. Subsequent Events The Company evaluated subsequent events through October 7, 2021, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were originally available to be issued. In January 2021, the Company raised approximately $13,600 of new equity capital by selling a new series of Series A-1 Preferred Stock to existing investors. As part of this January 2021 financing, all existing shares of preferred stock were converted to common stock. In February and August 2021, the Company entered into amendments to the AB Credit Agreement under which the lenders agreed to amend certain provisions of the AB Credit Agreement and waive certain defaults and events of default that have occurred and are continuing under the AB Credit Agreement. The lenders further waived their right to charge and receive interest at the default rate of interest as a result of the specified defaults. As of September 30, 2021, the Company did not meet certain covenants set forth in the AB Credit Agreement. Due to these breaches, AB Private Credit Investors (“AB”) is contractually entitled to request immediate repayment of the total outstanding amount. AB has not requested early payment of the loan as of the date when these financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors. In April 2021, the Compan
2022. In connection with this April 2021 financing transaction, the Company issued warrants to purchase 4,734,189 shares of the Company’s Series A Prime Preferred Stock to the lenders under the AB Credit Agreement in replacement of the warrants to purchase the Company’s Series G-3 convertible preferred stock originally issued to the lenders in connection with the credit agreement in September 2019, cancelled the existing common warrants held by AB and agreed to new credit pricing terms and provisions. The new warrants have an exercise price of $0.19 per share and a 10-year term. The Company also raised an additional $2,500 of capital from the issuance of additional shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock to existing investors coincident with this additional debt financing. In June 2021, the Company was notified that the SBA had forgiven the $6,338 loan issued to the Company under the Paycheck Protection Program in 2020. In August 2021, the Company raised an additional $12,000 of new equity capital from the issuance of additional shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock to an independent new investor and certain existing investors. Events Subsequent to Original Issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) In connection with the reissuance of the consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 30, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be reissued. On October 8, 2021, the Company amended its arrangement with a third-party provider of inventory held for resale subject to non-cancellable inventory



 

Fuze, Inc. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data) 34 purchase commitments which resulted in a loss accrual in 2019, as disclosed in Note 2. Pursuant to this October 2021 amendment, the total obligations due to this vendor over the initial contractual life decreased to $7,650, in exchange for (i) an acceleration of remaining payments due under the contract, (ii) a change in the mix of the products available from the third-party vendor to fulfill the Company’s purchase commitment and (iii) a reduction in the support period and remaining term for these third-party products. The Company expects to record a non-operating gain in October 2021 based on the reduction in the total contractual payments due under this arrangement, as well as other elements of this amendment. On November 30, 2021, the Company entered into a Definitive Merger Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests in the Company, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. This transaction is expected to close in early 2022, following shareholder and standard regulatory approvals, and fulfilment of customary closing conditions.



 


